TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS

SARJA - SER. D OSA - TOM. 983

MEDICA - ODONTOLOGICA

TRANSCRIPTIONAL PROFILING OF ORGAN-SPECIFIC AUTOIMMUNITY IN HUMAN

by

Tuomas Nikula

TURUN YLIOPISTO UNIVERSITY OF TURKU Turku 2011 From Institute of Biomedicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry and Genetics, University of Turku; Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University; and The National Graduate School in Informational and Structural Biology

Supervised by

Professor Riitta Lahesmaa, M.D., Ph.D. Turku Centre for Biotechnology University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Docent Jukka Partanen, Ph.D. Finnish Red Cross Blood Service Helsinki, Finland

and

Docent Petri Auvinen, Ph.D. Institute of Biotechnology University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Janet A. Warrington, Ph.D. Senior Vice President, Development & Operations Second Genome, Inc. San Francisco, CA, USA

ISBN 978-951-29-4758-4 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-4759-1 (PDF) ISSN 0355-9483 Painosalama Oy – Turku, Finland 2011

To my family

Tuomas Nikula

TRANSCRIPTIONAL PROFILING OF ORGAN-SPECIFIC AUTOIMMUNITY IN HUMAN Institute of Biomedicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry and Genetics, University of Turku; Turku Centre for Biotechnology, University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University; and The National Graduate School in Informational and Structural Biology

ABSTRACT

Our understanding of the pathogenesis of organ-specific autoinflammation has been restricted by limited access to the target organs. Peripheral blood, however, as a preferred transportation route for immune cells, provides a window to assess the entire immune system throughout the body. Transcriptional profiling with RNA stabilizing blood collection tubes reflects *in vivo* expression profiles at the time the blood is drawn, allowing detection of the disease activity in different samples or within the same sample over time.

The main objective of this Ph.D. study was to apply gene-expression microarrays in the characterization of peripheral blood transcriptional profiles in patients with autoimmune diseases. To achieve this goal a custom cDNA microarray targeted for gene-expression profiling of human immune system was designed and produced. Sample collection and preparation was then optimized to allow gene-expression profiling from whole-blood samples. To overcome challenges resulting from minute amounts of sample material, RNA amplification was successfully applied to study pregnancy related immunosuppression in patients with multiple sclerosis (MS). Furthermore, similar sample preparation was applied to characterize longitudinal genome-wide expression profiles in children with type 1 diabetes (T1D) associated autoantibodies and eventually clinical T1D.

Blood transcriptome analyses, using both the ImmunoChip cDNA microarray with targeted probe selection and genome-wide Affymetrix U133 Plus 2.0 oligonucleotide array, enabled monitoring of autoimmune activity. Novel disease related genes and general autoimmune signatures were identified. Notably, down-regulation of the HLA class Ib molecules in peripheral blood was associated with disease activity in both MS and T1D. Taken together, these studies demonstrate the potential of peripheral blood transcriptional profiling in biomedical research and diagnostics. Imbalances in peripheral blood transcriptional activity may reveal dynamic changes that are relevant for the disease but might be completely missed in conventional cross-sectional studies.

Keywords: Autoimmunity, gene-expression, DNA microarray, type 1 diabetes (T1D), multiple sclerosis (MS)

Tuomas Nikula GEENIEN ILMENTYMINEN IHMISEN KUDOS-SPESIFISISSÄ AUTOIMMUUNISAIRAUKSISSA

Biolääketieteen laitos, Lääketieteellinen Biokemia ja Molekyylibiologia, Turun Yliopisto; Turun Biotekniikan keskus, Turun Yliopisto ja Åbo Akademi; Kansallinen bioinformatiikan ja rakennebiologian tutkijakoulu

TIIVISTELMÄ

Kohdekudosten hankala saatavuus on rajoittanut kudos-spesifisten autoimmuunisairauksien tutkimusta. Immuunijärjestelmää voidaan kuitenkin tarkastella myös potilaan verestä, joka toimii immuunijärjestelmän solujen tärkeimpänä kuljetusreittinä. Käyttämällä erityisesti RNA-molekyylien säilyttämiseksi tarkoitettuja näytteenottoputkia, voidaan tarkastella geenien ilmentymistä elimistössä näytteenottohetkellä ja siten seurata immuunijärjestelmän aktiivisuutta.

Tämän väitöskirjatyön tavoitteena oli tarkastella DNA-mikrosirujen avulla geenien ilmentymistä potilaiden veressä immuunijärjestelmän aktiivisuuden muuttuessa. Tätä tarkoitusta varten suunniteltiin ja valmistettiin keskeiset immuunijärjestelmän geenit sisältävä cDNA-mikrosiru, jota käytettiin raskauden aikaansaaman immuunivasteen heikkenemisen tarkasteluun MS-potilailla. Tutkimusta varten optimoitiin verinäytteiden keruu- ja RNA-eristysmenetelmät, ja koska verinäytteiden RNA-määrät olivat pieniä, eristetty RNA monistettiin ennen analysointia DNAmikrosiruilla. Samaa näytteenkäsittelymenetelmää käytettiin myös kerättäessä näytesarjoja lapsista, joilla oli jo havaittu tyypin 1 diabetekseen yhdistettyjä autovasta-aineita. Näytesarjat lapsista, jotka myöhemmin sairastuivat tyypin 1 diabetekseen, analysoitiin kaupallisella koko genomin kattavalla sirulla.

Tutkimuksissa löydettiin aikaisemmin autoimmuunijärjestelmään yhdistettyjen geenien lisäksi uusia löydöksiä sekä itse suunniteltua ja valmistettua ImmunoChip cDNA-mikrosirua että koko genomin kattavaa Affymetrix U133 Plus 2.0 oligonukleotidisirua käytettäessä. Erityisen merkillepantavaa oli luokan 1b HLA geenien hiljeneminen sekä MS-taudin että tyypin 1 diabeteksen aktiivisuuden lisääntyessä. Väitöskirjatyön tutkimukset osoittivat, että immuunijärjestelmän aktiivisuutta voidaan seurata potilaiden verinäytteissä ilmenevien geenien kautta, ja veren soluissa ilmenevien geenien tarkastelua voidaan hyödyntää biolääketieteen tutkimuksessa ja diagnostiikassa. Lisäksi, geenien ilmentymisen seuraaminen saman potilaan peräkkäisissä näytteissä voi paljastaa toiminnallisia muutoksia, jotka perinteisessä poikkileikkaustutkimuksessa saattaisivat jäädä kokonaan huomioimatta.

Avainsanat: Autoimmuniteetti, geenien ilmentyminen, DNA mikrosiru, tyypin 1 diabetes (T1D), multippeli skleroosi (MS)

CONTENTS

ABST	RACT		4		
τιινι	STELMÄ	·	5		
ABB	REVIATI	ONS	8		
LIST	OF ORIG	GINAL PUBLICATIONS	9		
1.	INTRO	INTRODUCTION			
2.	REVIE	W OF THE LITERATURE	11		
2.1	TRA	NSCRIPTIONAL PROFILING WITH MICROARRAYS	11		
	2.1.1	Transcriptional profiling	. 11		
	2.1.2	Gene-expression microarrays	. 13		
	2.1.2.	1 Array supports	. 13		
	2.1.2.	2 Sample RNA	. 14		
	2.1.2.	3 Experimental designs	. 15		
	2.1.2.	4 Data analysis	. 16		
-	2.1.3	Validity and reliability of transcriptional profiling	. 19		
-	2.1.4	Ex vivo gene-expression studies on human peripheral blood	. 21		
2.2	ORG	AN-SPECIFIC AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES	22		
	2.2.1	Autoimmunity	. 22		
	2.2.1.	1 T lymphocytes in autoimmunity	. 22		
	2.2.1.	2 T cell repertoire and recognition of an antigen	. 26		
	2.2.1.	3 Autoreactive T cells and peripheral tolerance	. 27		
	2.2.1.	4 Predisposing factors	. 29		
-	2.2.2	Multiple sclerosis	. 30		
	2.2.2.	1 Pregnancy and Multiple Sclerosis	. 31		
	2.2.2.	2 MS disease pathogenesis	. 31		
-	2.2.3	Type 1 Diabetes	. 33		
	2.2.3.	1 T1D susceptibility and environmental modulation	. 34		
	2.2.3.	2 Molecular mechanisms of β-cell damage in human	. 35		
3.	AIMS	OF THE STUDY	37		
4.	MATE	RIALS AND METHODS	38		
4.1	. Sam	PLES AND SPECIMEN	38		
4	4.1.1	In vitro polarization and activation of T helper cells	. 38		
4	4.1.2	Pooled PBMC reference sample	. 38		
4	4.1.3	Human peripheral blood	. 39		
4	4.1.4	Characterization of peripheral blood lymphocyte subpopulations	. 39		
4	4.1.5	Samples collected from MS patients	. 39		
4	4.1.6	Samples collected from children with T1D	. 39		
4	4.1.7	Samples to study whole-blood RNA stabilization and mRNA			
		amplification methods	. 40		
4.2	GEN	E-EXPRESSION MICROARRAYS	40		
4	4.2.1	ImmunoChip cDNA microarray	. 40		
4	4.2.2	Experimental design for cDNA microarrays	. 41		

4.2.3	Microarray quality control – RRPlot software	41				
4.2.4	cDNA microarray analyses	42				
4.2.5	Affymetrix GeneChip expression arrays	42				
4.2.6	Assessment of transcriptional profiles in longitudinal sample series	43				
4.2.7	Computing inter-platform agreement	43				
4.2.8	Network and pathway level analyses of gene-expression	43				
4.2.9	Comparison of peripheral blood collection tubes with Illumina®					
	expression arrays	44				
4.3 VER	IFICATION OF DIFFERENTIAL GENE-EXPRESSION	.44				
4.3.1	Array probe sequencing	44				
4.3.2	Q-RT-PCR	44				
4.3.3	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	44				
4.3.4	Flow cytometry	45				
5. RESU	LTS AND DISCUSSION	.46				
5.1 IMM	IUNOCHIP CDNA MICROARRAY	.46				
5.1.1	Technical quality of the ImmunoChip	46				
5.1.2	Inter-platform agreement of the ImmunoChip	47				
5.2 TRA	NSCRIPTIONAL PROFILING OF WHOLE PERIPHERAL BLOOD	.48				
5.2.1	Ex vivo stabilization and following mRNA amplification allow					
	transcriptional profiling of peripheral blood samples	48				
5.2.2	Relative proportions of lymphocyte sub-populations show little or					
	no variation in longitudinal peripheral blood samples	52				
5.3 GEN	IE-EXPRESSION SIGNATURES CHARACTERIZING ACTIVITY OF ORGAN-SPECIFIC					
AUT	OIMMUNE DISEASES	.53				
5.3.1	Tolerogenic HLA-G was associated to postpartum-activation of					
	multiple sclerosis	53				
5.3.2	Early suppression of immune response pathways characterizes the					
	prediabetic phase in T1D-prone children	54				
5.3.3	Decreased transcriptional activity of MHC Class Ib molecules was					
	associated with autoimmune activation in both MS and 11D	57				
6. CONC	CLUSIONS	.59				
	DGEMENTS	.61				
REFERENCES63						
	ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS					

ABBREVIATIONS

AICD	Activation induced cell death
CAGE	Cap analysis of gene-expression
CNS	Central nervous system
CTLA	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
FACS	Fluorescent activated cell sorter
FDR	False discovery rate
FISH	Fluorescent in situ hybridization
FOXP3	Transcription factor forkhead box P3
FPR	False positive rate
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen system
IFIH1	Interferon induced with helicase C domain 1
iTreg	Induced T regulatory cell
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MS	Multiple Sclerosis
nTreg	Naturally occurring T regulatory cell
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
Probe	Defined nucleotide sequence immobilized onto the
	microarray surface
PTPN22	Protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 22
Q-RT-PCR	Quantitative reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction
SAGE	Serial analysis of gene-expression
T1D	Type 1 diabetes
Target	The sample nucleotide sequence of interest that is hybridized
	on the microarray probes
TCR	T cell receptor
T _{FH}	Follicular T helper cell
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
Th	T helper cell
Treg	T regulatory cell (either induced (i)Treg or naturally occuring
	(n)Treg)

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I Nikula, T., West, A., Katajamaa, M., Lönnberg, T., Sara, R., Aittokallio, T., Nevalainen, O. S. and Lahesmaa, R. (2005) A Human ImmunoChip cDNA microarray provides a comprehensive tool to study immune response. *J.Immunol.Methods* 303, 122-134.
- II Nikula T, Mykkänen J, Simell O, Lahesmaa R. Genome-wide comparison of two RNA stabilizing reagents for transcriptional profiling of peripheral blood. *Manuscript.*
- III Airas L, Nikula T, Huang YH, Lahesmaa R, Wiendl H. (2007) Postpartumactivation of multiple sclerosis is associated with down-regulation of tolerogenic HLA-G. J. Neuroimmunol. 187, 205-211.
- IV Elo LL*, Mykkänen J*, Nikula T, Järvenpää H, Simell S, Aittokallio T, Hyöty H, Ilonen J, Veijola R, Simell T, Knip M, Simell O, Lahesmaa R. (2010) Early suppression of immune response pathways characterizes children with prediabetes in genome-wide gene-expression profiling. J.Autoimmun. 35, 70-76.

*Authors have an equal contribution to this article

The original publications have been reprinted with the permission of the copyright holders.

This thesis includes also unpublished data.

1. INTRODUCTION

Autoimmunity is a state where the adaptive immune system attacks the cells and tissues of its own host due to a failure to recognize them. Traditionally autoimmune diseases are classified into two groups: Systemic autoimmune diseases where autoantibodies are targeted to antigens that are not tissue-specific, and organ-specific autoimmune diseases affecting specific organ or tissue. Type 1 diabetes (T1D) and multiple sclerosis (MS) are classical examples of organ-specific autoimmune diseases where inflammation involves a T cell response. Although genetic factors are pivotal, environmental factors are known to modulate autoimmunity prior to clinical disease state, which is often preceded by relatively long symptom-free period. Thus, studies that reveal the mechanisms related to autoimmune activity may lead to new treatments potentially delaying or even preventing clinical autoimmunity.

Transcriptional profiling with DNA microarrays provides a comprehensive tool to assess expression levels of thousands of genes simultaneously. In addition, modern bioinformatics is able to reveal pathways and co-regulated molecular networks among the differentially expressed transcripts. Gene-expression microarrays are established as a fundamental tool in genomic research and experimental medicine. As blood is a preferred transportation route for cells of the immune system, and thus reflects imbalances in the immune system of an individual, peripheral blood is the most practical specimen to profile gene-expression of the human immune system in clinical setting. This is particularly important for organ-specific autoimmune diseases such as T1D and MS, where access to the target organ is limited. However, while transciptional profiling of peripheral blood can monitor the secondary response of the inflammation, detection of on-site triggering events and development of the disease in the target tissue is limited.

Although animal models of different autoimmune diseases have proven very useful, there are inherent differences between the expression of T cells in human and murine models. The study of the transcriptional profiles reflected in the peripheral whole blood of patients with an autoimmue disease, therefore, have a great potential in the identification of immunoregulatory pathways explaining the loss of tolerance in disease prone individuals. The tendency with most published studies is that they have focused on a single aspect of health or treatment, such as treated vs. non-treated or diseased vs. healthy individuals. The main objective of this study was to characterize temporal peripheral blood transcriptional changes related to increased disease activity in organ specific autoimmune diseases. In order to achieve this aim, a custom cDNA microarray, tailored for targeted profiling of human immune system as well as collection and handling of peripheral blood samples for transcriptional profiling, were optimized.

2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 Transcriptional profiling with microarrays

2.1.1 Transcriptional profiling

By definition, transcriptional profiling is a method to collect and analyze geneexpression levels in different samples (e.g. normal vs. diseased), or within the same sample over time. Microarrays were first introduced for 20 years ago and transcriptional profiling has been one of the key applications since then (Fodor et al. 1991a, Fodor et al. 1993, Schena et al. 1995, Lockhart et al. 1996). As one of the first microarray applications, transcriptional profiling has often been considered as synonymous to microarrays. However, during the last decade several other microarray applications have also emerged. Microarrays are used for genotyping and comparative genomic hybridization as well as to study alternative splicing and exon usage (Hoheisel 2006, Shearer et al. 2007, Thorland et al. 2007, Bemmo et al. 2008, Johnson et al. 2003, Lee and Roy 2004).

Although gene-expression microarrays have established a steady position as a fundamental tool in genomic research and experimental medicine, there are other technologies for transcriptional profiling that differ in sample throughput and the number of transcripts studied (Table 1). Whereas most of the other methods are limited by the number of gene products included in the analysis, or are more laborious and demanding as compared to microarrays, array based technologies provide fast high throughput analysis with a scalable range from targeted arrays to whole genome transcriptional profiling.

	Sample throughput	The scope of targeted transcripts
SAGE	Low	All
2 nd generation and single-molecule RNA sequencing	Medium	All
Microarrays	Medium	High
Multiplex PCR	High	Medium
Bead hybridization assays	High	Medium
In situ expression profiling	Low	Low

Table 1. Different technologies available for transcriptional profiling and/or validation of the resulting gene sets.

Taq-based sequencing methods serial analysis of gene-expression (SAGE) and its variation, cap analysis of gene-expression (CAGE), convert mRNA into doublestranded cDNA carrying a biotin label (Velculescu et al. 1995, Shiraki et al. 2003, Kodzius et al. 2006). Then the cDNA is digested and fragments captured using the biotin labels are ligated to restriction site adapters. Cleavage with restriction enzyme produces SAGE/CAGE tags corresponding to each transcript in the original sample, and the tags are then cloned into standard plasmid vectors for sequencing. The advantage of CAGE, as compared to SAGE, is the capability to identify promoter sequences in parallel with gene-expression monitoring. Like gene-expression microarrays, Taq-based sequencing methods are capable for producing information on large numbers of transcripts in a single sample analysis, but are more laborious and demanding to perform and cannot compete in sample throughput or costs.

Massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS) was developed to multiply the sequencing throughput of SAGE (Brenner et al. 2000), and the recent development in next generation sequencing (NGS) techniques has introduced novel methods that overcome the disadvantages of Tag-based sequencing (Mortazavi et al. 2008, Cloonan et al. 2008, Wang et al. 2009). As the NGS technologies provided by several commercial manufacturers are capable in more detailed analysis of RNA expression, those are already replacing some of the microarray-based gene expression studies (Metzker 2010). The main benefits of NGS include an ability to detect sequence variants and to identify and quantify transcripts without a prior knowledge (Wang et al. 2009). The continuing progress in sequencing technologies has already made single molecule sequencing possible without a preceding amplification step (Ozsolak et al. 2009, Thompson and Milos 2011). The full potential of these methods has not yet been revealed, but it is reasonable to expect that RNA sequencing based diagnostics will be seen in near future (Ozsolak and Milos 2011).

RT-PCR (reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction) is the most sensitive technique available for mRNA detection. Quantitative real time RT-PCR methods (Gibson et al. 1996, Heid et al. 1996) are widely used to validate microarray results but also utilized for targeted studies focusing on subsets of interesting genes. Typically, these methods first convert mRNA into cDNA with reverse transcription and the cDNA is then used as a template in gene specific PCR. Several manufacturers have instruments for multiplex PCR assays to measure different transcripts in a single PCR reaction, using differently labeled probes.

Bead-assisted techniques, Luminex's xMAP technology (Dunbar 2006) and transcript analysis with the aid of affinity capture TRAC (Rautio et al. 2008), utilize polystyrene or magnetic beads to capture transcripts in liquid phase. In both techniques, probe hybridization to RNA is possible in cell lysates without a need for RNA cleanup or converting RNA into cDNA. Quantification of the hybridized RNA-probe complexes takes place with the Luminex instrument or capillary electrophoresis for TRAC. Both techniques can rapidly detect limited sets of mRNA's of interest.

Recently, development in confocal microscopy, fluorescent dyes and probe design has made multiplexed FISH (fluorescent *in situ* hybridization) an alternative to profile gene-expression of few targets at a time (Kosman et al. 2004). The benefit of FISH is that it gives information on cellular location and temporal changes in expression during the cell cycle or other cellular processes. Although the number of transcripts studied in parallel is still very limited, RNA FISH could provide important knowledge in the validation of array results.

2.1.2 Gene-expression microarrays

2.1.2.1 Array supports

Regardless of the probe chemistry used, microarrays need some type of solid support. Early arrays were manufactured on porous membranes, typically nitrocellulose or charged nylon membranes (Duggan et al. 1999), but the need to increase the probe density on the arrays rapidly lead to use of nonporous supports, typically glass (Cheung et al. 1999, Fodor et al. 1991b). Plastic supports, such as aminated polypropylene can also be used (Matson et al. 1995). Nonporous supports minimize the hybridization volume and enhance hybridization kinetics. Glass has also several other advantages as a supporter: it is durable, the glass surface is easy to activate and it has low self-fluorescence resulting in a relatively low background signal. The size of glass supports varies from the standard 1 x 3 inch microscope slides to miniaturized custom formats. However, especially for *in situ* synthesized oligonucleotides, supports other than planar glass are used (Matson et al. 1995, Guimil et al. 2003, Baum et al. 2003, Walt 2000, Steemers et al. 2000, Ferguson et al. 2000, Ferguson et al. 1996).

To print microarrays, nano- or picoliter quantities of the pre-synthesized probes (~500 – 5000 base long cDNA or synthesized oligonucleotides) are dispensed on the surface of the solid support using an array printer with ink jet (Lemmo et al. 1998, Stimpson et al. 1998) or pin technology (Schena et al. 1995). To increase the physical attachment of the probes, the surface can be pretreated. Coating of the arrays with a positively charged layer, e.g. polylysine, facilitates the physical attachment of the negatively charged probes via electrostatic interactions (Schena et al. 1995). Activation of the array support with reactive groups such as amines or epoxides increases the covalent attachment of amino-modified presynthesized probes. In addition to coating the surface with a single silane compound (e.g. amine-, epoxy- or aldehyde-silanes), binding efficiency can be further increased with a combination of tertiary amine- and epoxy-silanes (Chiu et al. 2003). For amine-derivatized surfaces, an exposure to ultraviolet radiation (254 nm) links the photochemically reactive thymine residues of DNA molecules covalently to amine groups on the surface (Cheung et al. 1999). As an alternative to modifications of the array support, probes can be covalently cross-linked in solution to an active silvl moiety before array printing, which allows rapid and efficient immobilization of these silanized nucleic acids directly on unmodified glass surface (Kumar et al. 2000, Cai et al. 2002).

Instead of applying a printer to dispense probes in desired locations on a solid support, fiber-optic gene arrays can be assembled randomly from pre-synthesized probes that have been covalently attached to silica microspheres (beads) (Ferguson et al. 2000, Ferguson et al. 1996, Steinberg et al. 2004). Beads coupled with array probes are randomly assembled in nano-wells that are constructed on a solid surface (Pantano and Walt 1996), and combinatorial decoding is used to detect random positions for each probe (Epstein et al. 2003).

Oligonucleotide based arrays can also be synthesized *in situ* using physical barriers, surface tension, microdispensing methods, or photochemical reactivity to define the locations on the support to form a microarray. Light-directed synthesis exploiting photosensitive protection groups in combination with photolithographic masks (Fodor et al. 1991a, Pease et al. 1994) or digital light processing with micro mirrors (Guimil et al. 2003, Baum et al. 2003, Singh-Gasson et al. 1999) have been successful in commercial array platforms. Light-directed synthesis can create very dense arrays for oligonucleotides up to 25 bases in length, with yields of >95% demonstrated (Pease et al. 1994). In addition, methods using physical barriers (Maskos and Southern 1992a, Maskos and Southern 1992b, Southern et al. 1992) or surface tension (Butler et al. 2001) can effectively localize chemical reactions in the desired locations on the array support. In addition, microdispension with repetitive cycles of deposition, reaction and washing can synthesize *in situ* oligonucleotide arrays (Matson et al. 1995).

2.1.2.2 Sample RNA

Preparation of intact high-quality total RNA or poly(A)⁺ mRNA is critical to obtain reproducible results in gene-expression analysis. For a successful assay, RNA must be free of contaminants, especially RNAses, as degradation of the RNA leads to truncated labeling products. Most of the total RNA consists of other types of RNA (e.g. tRNA and rRNA) and only 1-3% is mRNA (Nygaard and Hovig 2006). Thus, oligo(dT) priming specific for poly(A)⁺ mRNA is typically used for first strand synthesis from total RNA. If mRNA is isolated, random priming can also be employed. However, the array platform chosen for the study may also affect the selection of the reverse transcription primer. If microarray probes are based on 3' region of the mRNA, oligo(dT) priming biased towards the same region will yield more probe specific targets. For long cDNA probes and oligonucleotide probes designed for splice variants or open reading frames, random priming is recommended as it eliminates the interfering 3' bias (Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute 2006).

Due to the limited amount of starting material in many gene-expression studies, direct incorporation of the labels during the *in vitro* cDNA synthesis is not an option. With amplification of the sample RNA or the signal, the microarray experiment can be performed with less starting material. Several technologies such as indirect aminoallyl amplification, 3DNA dendrimers, tyramide signal amplification, rolling circle amplification reaction and quantum dot or gold nanoparticles have been introduced to increase the signal intensity per transcript (Ladner et al. 2001, Karsten et al. 2002, Stears et al. 2000, Vora et al. 2008). However, whereas none of the signal amplification methods increases the amount of hybridized targets and do not allow repeated experiments or validation studies to be made, amplification or validation experiments. At the same time amplification further purifies the sample, which results very high quality aRNA, and even partially degraded RNA can yield amplification products for reliable measurement of relative expression levels (Schoor et al. 2003).

Although multistep amplification procedures are laborious to perform, and hybridization specificity and relative transcript abundance may be slightly distorted because of amplification (Barker et al. 2005, Nygaard et al. 2003, Puskas et al. 2002), the benefits of the amplification over non-amplified targets are substantial. Not only has amplification of mRNA proven to be both repeatable and reproducible (Nygaard et al. 2003, Wang et al. 2000, Baugh et al. 2001, Wilson et al. 2004), but aRNA is more sensitive than non-amplified mRNA, detecting significantly more transcripts (Nygaard et al. 2003, Puskas et al. 2002). Furthermore, other molecular methods have confirmed that the transcripts that were not detected in non-amplified material are actually expressed in the cells and not amplification artifacts or unspecific binding (Hu et al. 2002). The increased sensitivity arises as the relative amount of the labeled aRNA targets is 3-10 higher than the corresponding mRNA among the total RNA targets, and it appears that low copy number transcripts have greatest amplifying effect (Nygaard and Hovig 2006).

2.1.2.3 Experimental designs

As only one sample is hybridized on each single-color microarray there is little need to consider the experimental design. A variety of different designs are available for two-color microarrays to reduce variation caused by dye or labeling bias, and to maximize the power of the experiment with minimum number of hybridization (Kerr and Churchill 2001, Knapen et al. 2009). The objective of the experiment defines possible hybridization designs for two-color microarrays. In general, different options fall into three main categories: direct comparison, reference design and loop design. In direct comparisons treated and non-treated samples are hybridized against each other on the same array, following different sets of technical or biological replicates. In the replicate hybridizations, samples are often labeled with opposite colors (dye-swap) to reduce labeling bias. In the reference design, large quantities of pooled RNA from a single source is used in each hybridization to allow simple but reliable comparisons between different arrays hybridized over time (Novoradovskaya et al. 2004). Here the dye-swaps (a replicate hybridization with opposite dyes) are not necessary if the comparison between the samples of interest is based on the expression ratios relative to the reference sample (Dobbin and Simon 2002, Simon and Dobbin 2003, Dobbin et al. 2003). The loop designs leave out the common reference pool and are able to collect twice as many sample replicates with the same amount of arrays and utilize dye-swaps to reduce labeling bias (Kerr and Churchill 2001). Loop designs are tolerable to hybridization failures as sample pairs are connected via multiple paths. Prior knowledge on the number of samples in the experiment and possible replications is required to create the loop design. Biological studies, that are complex by nature, favor different models of loop designs, whereas in medical and biomedical studies direct comparison and reference design are applied more often (Knapen et al. 2009).

For two-color microarrays, reference design has clear advantages in a clinical setting. Reference designs have worked well in class discovery applications (Knapen et al. 2009) and as long as the reference material is available, new samples can be added to the experiment and independent experiments compared (Churchill 2002). Thus, reference design fits well for the longitudinal studies where samples are collected over extended periods, however, the quality and availability of the reference sample greatly affects the success of the study. The reference does not need to represent a biologically relevant sample or treatment, but it should be chosen so that it has expression profile similar to the sample material (Simon and Dobbin 2003, Simon et al. 2002). If the reference sample does not contain target material for some of the array probes, they will not provide reliable measurements (Sterrenburg et al. 2002). The manufacture of large quantities of pooled RNA from cell lines has been demonstrated to be a reproducible option, allowing reliable comparisons of gene-expression data within and between different laboratories (Novoradovskaya et al. 2004).

Regardless of the microarray platform, single or two-color, the experimental design must include an adequate number of biological replicates to ensure statistical power. Whereas technical replication looks only at measurement variability, biological replicates measuring both technical and biological variability simultaneously have become a necessity (Churchill 2002, Allison et al. 2006). However, the use of technical replication only is justified in quality control studies, or when the costs to obtain more biological replicates greatly exceeds the cost of technical replication (Allison et al. 2006). When setting up the array experiments, it is essential to know the adequate number of biological replicates that gives the required statistical power for the study (Churchill 2002, Allison et al. 2006). Different methods are available to address the number of replicates to detect differential expression between sample groups at a single (Yang et al. 2003) or sequential time points (Yang et al. 2003, Gadbury et al. 2004, Pawitan et al. 2005, Page et al. 2006), or sample sizes for accurate classification (Dobbin and Simon 2005, Garge et al. 2005).

2.1.2.4 Data analysis

The analysis of microarray data is a three-tier process. The first tier contains the image analysis and preprocessing of the data, which includes extraction of the raw intensities of hybridized targets, normalization of the data, and detection of expression levels. The second tier contains data filtering and identification of differentially expressed genes, whereas high-level data analysis such as unsupervised/supervised learning algorithms, diagnostic classification and pathway level analysis of gene-expression comprise the last tier. On tiers two and three, virtually all microarray data can be treated similarly despite of the used array. The array platform may affect the format of the data extracted in the image analysis, but the principles remain much the same. The first tier on the contrary, is highly dependent on the array platform used for transcriptional profiling.

Although careful experimental design decreases the biological and technical variation in the microarray experiment, removal of possible measurement errors is required with all array platforms. Signal extraction from the scanned microarray image is the first step of this low-level microarray analysis. Generally, features

(labeled targets hybridized to the probes on the array) are recognized and identified according to given probe coordinates, and segmented by classification of pixels as part of either foreground or background. Each array probe is assigned a specific numerical intensity value with software or array type dependent quality measures. Quality measures typically include pixel-statistics for each extracted feature, to determine if a particular signal is reliable for further analysis. The quality statistics assigned to the probe signals can be used to exclude bad data points before normalization, which further improves the quality of the array data (Beissbarth et al. 2000, Aittokallio et al. 2003). Many different methods, often data type dependent, are available to normalize signal intensities between arrays (Allison et al. 2006, Aittokallio et al. 2003, Quackenbush 2002). It is very difficult, if not impossible, to define an ideal normalization method for any array platform, but for Affymetrix arrays (www.affymetrix.com) robust multi-array average (RMA) is generally recommended (Bolstad et al. 2003, Choe et al. 2005). For other platforms, normalization of probe signals is typically done using locally weighted linear regression (lowess) (Yang et al. 2002) or other non-linear fitting models, such as cubic splines (qspline) (Workman et al. 2002).

There is a variety of techniques available that can be used to identify differentially expressed probes among the normalized array data. Many of the algorithms do not perform efficiently with thousands of genes; therefore probes behaving badly within the data set (according to preprocessing quality control), not showing any signal at all or showing no variation across the sample set, can be removed. The most simple and, thus very popular, fold change approach is a reasonable choice to measure effect size, but it does not assign any confidence level to the fold change and should not be used without statistical tests (Allison et al. 2006, Hsiao et al. 2004). Genespecific variance estimates are likely to be imprecise as only a few data points are usually available for each gene. To overcome this, variance shrinkage methods that take benefit of the whole array data set using a weighted combination of data from the specific probe and the full set of probes, have been successfully applied (Tusher et al. 2001, Baldi and Long 2001, Cui et al. 2005). Biologists tend to accept relatively many false positive and false negative results as long as all the biologically relevant changes are recorded. To estimate the amount of false positive and false negative findings in the data, false discovery rate (FDR) and mixture model methods (MMM) approaches have been developed to surrogate traditional statistics (Allison et al. 2002, Benjamini and Hochberg 1995, Storey 2003). Of these, MMMs tend to be more powerful as they group results according to differential expression and take this into consideration when assigning reliability values (Allison et al. 2006).

Prior knowledge on the transcripts can be used to assess biological relevance of the gene-expression data. Several software packages that use publicly available geneontology (GO) annotations (Ashburner et al. 2000) or predefined gene sets (Ashburner et al. 2000, Biocarta Pathway Collection, Kanehisa 1997, Kanehisa et al. 2002) exist to aid interpretation of the long transcript lists by categorizing these into functionally related groups. Permutation analyses that shuffle and recalculate the data multiple times to gain statistical confidence, have been shown to be very effective in detection of differential expression of predefined gene sets

(Subramanian et al. 2005, Mootha et al. 2003, Tomfohr et al. 2005). The results can also be visualized graphically as pathways and networks within multiple different software packages (Shannon et al. 2003, Nikitin et al. 2003, Ingenuity[®] Systems).

In addition to discovery of differential expression, networks and pathways function as a priori knowledge in classification of the samples (Rapaport et al. 2007). Generally, microarray data can be categorized by array probes and/or hybridized samples into pre-existing groups (supervised) or based on similarity of expression without a priori assumptions (unsupervised). With the use of unsupervised algorithms for microarray data analysis, the aim is to place objects (array probes and/or samples) into clusters where objects are more similar than in neighboring clusters (Quackenbush 2002). To do this, the desired number of clusters, a distance measure and similarity metrics need to be specified; no pre-assumptions are needed and resulting of predetermined number of clusters is guaranteed. Practically no information or guidelines exist for parameter selection, which unfortunately tends to yield biologically irrelevant clusters that often are even irreproducible due to the limited amount of data in most of the microarray experiments (Allison et al. 2006, Garge et al. 2005). Thus, although unsupervised clustering may work well in some cases, it should be used carefully. To avoid formation of irrelevant clusters, semisupervised methods use available functional gene information (Boratyn et al. 2006) or clinical sample data (Bair and Tibshirani 2004) to evaluate the biological rationality of the clusters and select optimal clustering algorithms (Datta and Datta 2006). As standard unsupervised algorithms do not provide any information to indicate whether the resulting clusters arise from random sampling variation rather than reflect real differences in the population, it is important to apply re-sampling of subsets from the original data to assess reproducibility of the method (Garge et al. 2005, Datta and Datta 2003, Bryan 2004).

Contrary to unsupervised algorithms, supervised methods use the knowledge of which probes and samples should cluster together (Aittokallio et al. 2003). Supervised methods are typically used in classification, where the algorithm is first teached with a training data set to build a class predictor, which then classifies the test samples. The quality of the training data highly determines the success in the actual classification process. Supervised algorithms choose the best classifier for the available data, and the use of a small training data set relative to the classification parameters, increases the risk of overfitting, where algorithm performs perfectly well with the training data but poorly with the test samples. With the small sample sizes that are typical for microarray experiments, overfitting is quite possible and the simplest methods are likely to perform most efficiently. Although different classifiers perform best with different data sets, linear discriminant analyses (LDA) based methods generally classify better than more sophisticated methods (Lee et al. 2005). Furthermore, in a comparison study between two LDA-based nearest centeroid classifiers, rather simplified "classification to nearest centeroids" (ClaNC) (Dabney 2006, Dabney 2005) seemed to outperform more complex "prediction analysis for microarrays" (PAM) (Tibshirani et al. 2002). To avoid selection bias in estimation of classification accuracy, one should determine the adequate amount of test samples

(Dobbin and Simon 2005) and cross-validate the classifier with fully independent test data (Ambroise and McLachlan 2002).

2.1.3 Validity and reliability of transcriptional profiling

Different microarray platforms have shown to be complementary rather than competing (Lee et al. 2003, Yuen et al. 2002, MAQC Consortium et al. 2006), however, alternating sample and data processing protocols complicate individual study designs and may act as a source of bias in meta-analyses over different microarray experiments. The importance of standardization of storage and analysis of microarray data were understood early on and the Microarray Gene-expression Data society (MGED; www.mged.org) was established already in 1999 to facilitate sharing of functional genomics array data (Ball and Brazma 2006). A document outlining the minimum information about a microarray experiment (MIAME) was drafted to give a guidance on publishing microarray data in a usable manner to support conclusions presented in peer-reviewed journals (Ball et al. 2002, Brazma et al. 2001). Unfortunately, MIAME guidelines are still today improperly followed, though several MIAME compliant public databases do exist. Although major MIAME violations were not noticed, a recent study re-analyzing published datasets detected several different types of incompleteness in reported study details and repeatability of published microarray studies was very limited (loannidis et al. 2009). In spite of the poor reproducibility with "unknown" data, different microarray platforms and different laboratories do yield consistent results within a controlled experiment setup (MAQC Consortium et al. 2006). This outlines the importance of pre-analytical sample processing and technical performance of the microarray lab in order to retrieve valid transcriptional profiles from the data analysis.

The MicroArray Quality Control (MAQC) consortium demonstrated high intra- and inter-platform agreement between resulting gene lists (MAQC Consortium et al. 2006, Guo et al. 2006, Canales et al. 2006, Patterson et al. 2006, Shippy et al. 2006, Tong et al. 2006) and reliable identification of different transcriptional profiles between sample groups (Irizarry et al. 2005, Strauss 2006). The second phase of the MAQC project, focusing on predictive models based on gene-expression data, recently reported that different one- and two-color array platforms resulted in similarly performing signature genes and classifiers, and the classifiers generated with one platform can accurately predict samples profiled with another platform (Shi et al. 2010a, Oberthuer et al. 2010, Fan et al. 2010). Furthermore, classification algorithms were demonstrated to choose phenotype-related genes, supporting broader application in predictive medicine (Shi et al. 2010b). Still to date only few of several thousand gene-expression microarray studies have emerged into clinical practice (loannidis 2007, Evaluation of Genomic Applications in Practice and Prevention (EGAPP) Working Group 2009, Kim et al. 2010) but the recent work by MAQC consortium indicates that in standardized and controlled use gene-expression microarrays are valid for clinical diagnostics.

In parallel with directing the technology closer to clinical use, MAQC studies have pointed out directions for future work. Methods to effectively combine microarray results with complementary studies and technologies or existing clinical databases and decision-making tools, are not available. Although many studies suggest clinical utility and diagnostic use of gene-expression profiling, several challenges to translate gene-expression studies into genomic medicine do exist (Table 2), and clinical utility should always be evaluated in prospective clinical trials with broad heterogeneous populations. (Kim et al. 2010, Tillinghast 2010)

Biological	Dynamic nature of gene-	Synthesis and degradation rates of different transcripts affect the
0	expression	measured steady-state levels and stability of some transcripts may vary
		between different tissues.
	Sampling	The choice of sampling method and variations in sampling locations may
		affect gene-expression results by affecting the proportions of different
		biological fractions in the sample.
	RNA quality	Stabilization of clinical samples during transportation and storage is
		critical to preserve intact expression profiles.
	Gene-expression arrays are	Protein modifications such as glycosylation, methylation, acetylation
	just a part of the picture	and phosphorylation are involved in many biologically important
		changes that are not visible in RNA level.
Technical	Microarray platforms	Although different platforms are able to produce comparable results
		under standardized protocols, extra caution is needed when comparing
		results between different studies or across different platforms.
	Binding efficiency	Ensuring similar binding properties for all the probes on array is
		challenging, thus assessment of relative changes in transcription levels
		is more meaningful than absolute probe signals measured.
	Sources of technical variation	Proper planning and sound experimental design, RNA quality control
		and appropriate data processing protocols can minimize technical bias.
		For prospective studies, uniformity of experimental conduct is a
		necessity.
Statistical	Microarray study design	Sample characteristics and possible selection bias determine the validity
and		of the gene-expression study. Data algorithms cannot compensate
Bioinformatical	Name linetice and	fundamental errors in study design or inadequate amount of samples.
	Normalization and	Normalization to remove non-biological variation and transformation
	transformation	stabilizing variance are essential, but different normalization and
	Analytical methods	The study designs define appropriate methods for inference testing and
	Analytical methods	classification.
	Multiple testing	Multiple testing correction is needed to minimize the false-discovery rate.
	Result validation	An independent test data set or cross-validation is required for all
		predictors and classifiers.
	Gene regulatory networks	Due to exponential complexity of network inference, several alternative
		equally probable networks can be constructed. Integration of different
		data sources can help to identify disease-related genes.
Informatic	Different nomenclatures	Use of different gene nomenclatures makes comparison between
		different gene-expression studies complicated.
	Different probes for the same	Different microarray platforms have different probes against the same
	gene	transcript. Even if the actual mRNA level is similar, differences in probe
		design may lead to differences in measured expression levels.
	Common quality standards,	Procedural guidelines for microarray assays and data analyses are
	data format and data	described by the MAQC project. The MIAME guideline provides a
	repositories	template to report an adequate description of the microarray
		experiment. Assay data shall be stored in public MIAME compliant
		databases.

Table 2. Translation of gene-expression studies into genomic medicine - Challenges and recommendations. (Kim et al. 2010)

2.1.4 Ex vivo gene-expression studies on human peripheral blood

Although the effect of the minor cell types is masked by the dominant ones when profiling gene-expression in bulk tissue (Szaniszlo et al. 2004), peripheral blood has proven to be the most practical specimen to profile gene-expression of the human immune system in a clinical setting. As blood is the preferred transportation route for immune cells, transcriptional activity in peripheral blood reflects possible imbalances in the immune system of the patient. Particularly with organ-specific autoimmune diseases, such as multiple sclerosis (MS) and type 1 diabetes (T1D), where access to the target organs is restricted (Kaizer et al. 2007, Achiron et al. 2007, Singh et al. 2007), peripheral blood provides a window to monitor activity of the entire immune system throughout the body. Blood transcriptome analyses with microarrays are able to reveal disease related molecular pathways, genes and susceptibility loci, general autoimmune signatures shared between different autoimmune diseases, and expression signatures that allow monitoring of disease activity and response treatment. (Chaussabel et al. 2010, Pascual et al. 2010).

The expression profiles of PBMCs are highly sensitive to ex vivo incubation and sample handling prior the RNA extraction (Baechler et al. 2004). To overcome this, methods with the inclusion of RNA stabilizing reagents in the collection tube have been established (Rainen et al. 2002, Shou et al. 2005). These tubes immediately stabilize the RNA at the time the blood is drawn and allow profiling of the true physiological state without unexpected changes in transcriptional profiles. This is particularly important in clinical multicenter studies, where RNA isolation after blood collection is not possible and samples are shipped to a central laboratory for further processing (Matheson et al. 2008). Although these tubes contain reagents that prevent RNA degradation, extended incubation at room temperature before RNA extraction can reduce the quality of RNA (Shou et al. 2005, Kagedal et al. 2005). Freezing the collection tubes after the blood is drawn and RNA stabilized, yields high quality RNA for expression studies and allows extended sample collection and storage periods (Shou et al. 2005, Thach et al. 2003, Wang et al. 2004, Feezor et al. 2004, Vartanian et al. 2009). This also reduces technical assay variation, as simultaneous batch processing is possible.

Variability in the content of peripheral blood makes it a complicated source material for transcriptional studies. Although the peripheral blood transcription profiles of healthy adults are generally constant, variation has been detected in relation to gender, age, time of day that the blood was drawn, and different cellular composition of the blood sample (Whitney et al. 2003). Both the absolute numbers and relative proportions of blood lymphocyte subpopulations show developmental and age related variation (Hannet et al. 1992, Comans-Bitter et al. 1997, Hulstaert et al. 1994), and variation is also detected between gestational trimesters (Brain 2006). Thus, selection of matched healthy controls is important in order to avoid bias in transcriptional profiles measured from patient samples. Another important source of variation for peripheral blood transcriptional profiles is the high abundance of globin mRNA, which can mask other targets present in whole blood RNA, resulting in decreased signal detection and increased variability between sample replicates.

Hemoglobin levels of peripheral blood also vary over time, between individuals, and by gender (Brain 2006). To bypass the globin-effect, methods for reduction of globin transcripts have been developed (Vartanian et al. 2009, Liu et al. 2006, Wright et al. 2008). However, globin reduction protocols may reduce total RNA quality by depleting other transcripts. As an alternative to globin reduction, an amplification method less sensitive to globin transcripts can be used (Vartanian et al. 2009).

2.2 Organ-specific autoimmune diseases

2.2.1 Autoimmunity

Autoimmunity is a state where the adaptive immune system attacks its host tissues. Some form of autoimmune disease affects about 3-5% of the population and at least 80 different autoimmune diseases have been characterized (Waldner 2009, Jacobson et al. 1997). However, not all self-directed inflammation is autoimmune. It is likely that there is a variety of immune-mediated diseases with different combinations of autoimmune-autoinflammatory mechanisms, while only rare monogenic autoimmune diseases would be purely autoimmune (McGonagle and McDermott 2006). This together with environmental and genetic factors explains the huge variation in clinical outcomes of different patients and populations with immunemediated diseases.

Traditionally, the scope of the inflammation divides autoimmune diseases into two main classes: organ-specific and systemic. Several organs of the human body have their own organ-specific autoimmune diseases, where expression of specific antigens in those particular organs directs the tissue damage. In systemic autoimmunity, antigens to which immune response is directed to are expressed throughout the body. In both organ-specific and systemic autoimmune diseases, the organ damage is mediated by T cells and/or antibodies. Autoimmune diseases where tissue damage is directed by antibodies can be further classified to diseases mediated by immunecomplex (e.g. rheumatoid arthritis, RA and systemic lupus erythematosus, SLE), cellsurface or matrix antigens (autoimmune hemolytic anemia) or cell-surface receptors (Grave's disease) (Janeway et al. 2001). T cell mediated autoimmunity, where organs express autoantibodies that serve as markers of the antigen-specific T cell response, is involved diseases such as type 1 diabetes (T1D) (Knip and Siljander 2008) and multiple sclerosis (MS) (McFarland and Martin 2007). It is also possible that immunopathogenesis mediated by both T cells and autoantibodies operate in parallel, which is the case with rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (Kotzin et al. 2000). Nonetheless, CD4⁺ T cells are always involved in autoimmunity.

2.2.1.1 T lymphocytes in autoimmunity

CD4⁺ T helper (Th) cells represent the central population in immune protection. They are capable of producing cytokines and chemokines that regulate the immune defense reactions; they induce macrophages, recruit other cells of the immune

system to sites of the inflammation, and help B cells to produce antibodies. Classically, Th cells were divided into two subtypes, Th1 and Th2, based on production of specific signature cytokines interferon gamma (IFNy) and interleukin 4 (IL-4), respectively (Mosmann et al. 1986). Th1 cells have been regarded to be critical for protection against intracellular pathogens and development of organ-specific autoimmunity; whereas Th2 cells provide protection against extracellular pathogens and are coupled with responses for allergic inflammation and asthma (Mosmann and Coffman 1989, Romagnani 1996, Romagnani 1994). The balance between Th1 and Th2 cells was long thought to be the main contribution to the outcome of immune response, since overexpression of either cell population leads to progression of inflammatory or autoimmune type response (Romagnani 1994). There is indeed a fine cross-regulation mechanism keeping this balance, however, not only between Th1 and Th2 cells but controlling several different Th subsets characterized by unique expression products and functions. Namely, these are Th1, Th2, Th17, follicular T helper (T_{FH}) cells, induced T regulatory (iTreg) cells and Th9 cells, and there may well be more subtypes to be found. Specific cytokines and transcription factors in each different lineage act as positive feedback signals, but cross-inhibition of other lineages is also actively involved (Zhu and Paul 2008).

So far very little is known about the recently described T_{FH} and Th9 cells. T_{FH} cells induce humoral immune response by promoting B cell differentiation. Differentiation of T_{FH} cells is induced by IL-6 and IL-21. Though IL-6 induces also Th17 cells and IL-21 could amplify Th17 differentiation through a positive feedback loop (Zhou et al. 2007, Korn et al. 2007a), production of IL-17 is repressed by transcription factor Bcell lymphoma 6 (BCL-6) that drives the T_{FH} differentiation (Nurieva et al. 2008, Bauquet et al. 2009, Chtanova et al. 2004, Yu et al. 2009). It is likely that despite of their functional distance, T_{FH} cells might share parts of early differentiation with Th17 cells (Bauquet et al. 2009, Debes and Reiner 2009). A Th9 specific transcription factor has not yet been identified but Th9 cells are differentiated in the presence of IL-4 and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), which inhibits Th2 cytokines by suppression of GATA binding protein 3 (GATA3) and promotes IL-9 and IL-10 production instead (Veldhoen et al. 2008, Soroosh and Doherty 2009). Although Th9 cells can be induced from Th2 cells and have been linked to allergic diseases, the capability of IL-9 to promote Th17 cells via induction of IL-23R and IL-9 production by Tregs, Th1 and Th17 cells indicates that Th9 cells might influence pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases (Li and Rostami 2009).

In addition to Th1 and Th2 cells, Th17 cells constitute a third effector T helper cell population with distinct cytokine expression and effector functions from Th1 and Th2 cells (Harrington et al. 2005, Park et al. 2005). The highly pathogenic nature of Th17 cells and their capability to induce autoimmune inflammation was demonstrated already at the time Th17 cells were first observed (Langrish et al. 2005). The clearance of pathogens that cannot be effectively handled by Th1 and Th2 cells seems to be the primary function of Th17 cells, but in addition to that, Th17 cells can induce tissue inflammation and are associated with autoimmune pathogenesis. When innate IL-17 response mediated by other than Th17 cells is not sufficient to clear pathogens, the presence of TGF- β and IL- β in site of inflammation

provide Th17 favoring conditions and Th17 T cells act as a secondary response. Autoimmunity would arise only if also this secondary response fails to clear the pathogens, thus leading to chronic inflammation (Stockinger and Veldhoen 2007, Stockinger et al. 2007, Dardalhon et al. 2008). Several animal models have emphasized the importance of Th17 cells in the pathogenesis of organ-specific autoimmune diseases, but direct proof for pathogenic role of human Th17 cells is not available (Oukka 2008). However, the importance of Th17 cells in several inflammatory diseases has been suggested and the expression of IL-17 itself is associated with several human autoimmune diseases (Dardalhon et al. 2008, Matusevicius et al. 1999, Kolls and Linden 2004, Onishi and Gaffen 2010, Korn et al. 2009). On the other hand, IL-17 is not specific to Th17 cells but is produced by several other cells types (O'Connor et al. 2010). While the specific role of Th17 cells in human autoimmune pathogenesis remains to be clarified, it is notable that Th1 cells are always present at the sites of Th17-mediated inflammation. The way in which these two T cell populations interact or their specific roles have not been established either, but it has been shown that Th17 cells and Th1 cells have similar counterregulation as there is between Th1 and Th2 (Damsker et al. 2010). At the same time Th17 and Th1 cells show plasticity, this allows conversion from Th17 to Th1 cells, thus allowing modulation of the disease pathogenesis (Damsker et al. 2010, Lee et al. 2009, Zhou et al. 2009). It is proposed that in induction of organspecific autoimmunity Th17 cells would constitute the initial wave of effector T cells in the site of inflammation and recruit further waves of effector T cells, namely Th1 cells, by inducing pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-1 and TNF α and chemokines that recruit Th1 cells on site of inflammation (Dardalhon et al. 2008, Oukka 2008). Production of enormous amounts of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such like IL-6, appears to protect Th17 cells from the suppressive function of Treg cells (Korn et al. 2007b), while Treg-mediated suppression is efficient for Th1 cells in vivo (Li et al. 2007). As the Th1 effector population seems to be more easily controlled by Treg cells, it is suggested that immunopathogenesis of organ-specific autoimmunity would be driven by sequential changes in effector T helper cell compositions (Dardalhon et al. 2008).

Treg cells were first characterized by their expression of CD25 (Sakaguchi et al. 1995). Later transcription factor forkhead box P3 (FOXP3) was assigned as a master regulator of Treg differentiation, and expression of FOXP3 as a specific marker for Treg cells (Hori et al. 2003, Fontenot et al. 2003). In parallel with iTreg cells differentiating from naïve CD4⁺ T cell in the periphery, naturally occurring regulatory T cells (nTreg) with similar phenotype and function are distinguished already in thymus (Zhu and Paul 2008, Sakaguchi 2004). Phenotypically and functionally iTreg cells resemble nTreg cells and distinguishing either function or relative importance of these two Treg populations has been difficult in both humans and animal models (Zhu and Paul 2008, Waldmann et al. 2006). However, the nTreg and iTreg populations seem to differ by their epigenetic control and stability of FOXP3 expression. Whereas nTreg cells have naturally stable expression of FOXP3, acquired Treg cell phenotype of iTreg is instable and antigen restimulation in the absence of TGF- β leads to loss of FOXP3 expression, which causes a loss of suppressor function as well (Huehn et al. 2009). Treg populations without FOXP3 expression, Th3 and TR1

regulatory T cell subtypes, have also been reported, but most likely these represent just certain circumstantial states of CD4⁺ T cells rather than being own distinct cell lineages (Zhu and Paul 2008, Shevach 2006). Synergistic action of TCR signaling, costimulatory molecules and cytokine signals are needed for effective FOXP3 transcription, but the precise mechanisms how these affect molecular level expression of FOXP3 have not yet been solved. Shorter duration and weaker strength of TCR stimulation favors T regulatory cell development for both nTreg and iTreg subtypes, both of which require different specific co-stimulatory signals (Huehn et al. 2009).

Treg cells have a major role in maintaining immunological self-tolerance and immune homeostasis and although reduced prevalence of circulating Treg cells does not reliably reflect the inflammation, genetic anomalies and environmental factors that shift the balance towards self-reactive conventional T cells may induce autoimmunity (Wing and Sakaguchi 2010). It has been shown that in order to mediate their suppressive function to the target tissue, Treg cells have similar organspecific homing properties as conventional T cells and as compared to peripheral blood, levels of Treg cells are typically higher at the site of inflammation (Siewert et al. 2007, Dejaco et al. 2006). However, the suppressive function of Treg cells is clearly not sufficient to prevent autoimmune diseases. The activation threshold of autoreactive T cells has reported to be lower in patients with autoimmune disease as compared to healthy individuals, also, decreased FOXP3 levels and functional defects of peripheral blood CD4⁺CD25^{high} Treg cells have been reported in patients with several autoimmune diseases, including T1D and MS, (Costantino et al. 2008b). Although genome wide association studies have not revealed linkage between FOXP3 and autoimmune diseases, CTLA-4, PTPN22, IL-2 and CD25, which are controlled by FOXP3 have been associated with autoimmune susceptibility (Wing and Sakaguchi 2010, Costantino et al. 2008b).

In comparison to CD4⁺ T cells, which have been studied more in context of autoimmunity, not much is known on the role of CD8⁺ T cells. Similarly to CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells may also exist with autoreactive or suppressive functions. The natural function of $CD8^{+}$ T cells is to protect against viral infections and tumors by destruction of target cells via cell-mediated cytotoxicity directed to class I peptide-MHC complexes. As virtually all cells in the human body express class I MHC molecules, autoimmune disease might be initiated during the clearance of viral or tumorigenic cells, when self-antigens released from CD8⁺ T cell lysis are presented back to CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cells (Fujinami et al. 2006). Animal models for organ-specific autoimmune diseases suggest that CD8⁺ T cells participate in initiation, progression and regulation of autoimmune diseases (Walter and Santamaria 2005). Elevated levels of class I MHC molecules and significant amount of CD8⁺ T cells have been detected in pancreatic islets of T1D patients and MS lesions (Knip and Siljander 2008, Zozulya and Wiendl 2008, Itoh et al. 1993). Autoreactive CD8⁺ T cells use Fas ligand (FasL) or perforin/granzyme-induced apoptosis to mediate the tissue damage. Recently, it was shown that in mice this tissue damage releases self-antigens that cause deletion of naïve autoreactive CD8⁺ T cells; thus autoreactive CD8⁺ T cell response is self-limiting and not capable to sustain chronic autoimmunity in healthy mice, but additional sustaining signal would be needed (Parish et al. 2009). Autoreactive $CD4^{+}T$ cells in turn can be self-sustaining (Vanderlugt and Miller 2002), and it is likely that both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells are required for chronic autoinflammation both in mice and human. Suppressive capabilities of several different types of adaptive inducible CD8⁺ T cells have been described in human, but it is not clear whether these are derived from a single source or represent different populations (Suzuki et al. 2008). Naturally occurring suppressive cell CD8⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells, similar to CD4⁺ Treg cells, have also been identified (Cosmi et al. 2003). Recently, a potential of these cells to inhibit the induction of autoimmune response non-cytotoxicly, via direct cell-cell contact, was demonstrated with samples derived from MS patients during exacerbation and remission (Correale and Villa 2010). Earlier, an impaired suppressive function of CD8⁺ Treg cells has been suspected in MS patients. In patients vaccinated with CD4⁺ T cells, the majority of Tregs appeared to be CD8⁺ T cells (Zozulya and Wiendl 2008). Induction of CD8⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ T cells was also detected in human PBMCs during continuous antigen stimulation, and in patients with T1D, who clinically responded to anti-CD3 mAb given to induce immunological tolerance (Bisikirska et al. 2005, Mahic et al. 2008). Still, the understanding of the roles and importance of suppressive CD8⁺ T cells in human autoimmunity is very limited.

2.2.1.2 T cell repertoire and recognition of an antigen

The major histocompatibility complex (MHC), called human leukocyte antigen system (HLA) in humans, controls the antigen specificity of the autoimmune response. The T cell receptor (TCR) recognizes foreign peptides that class I or class II MHC/HLA molecules present. T cell repertoire of an individual, responsible for detecting foreign peptides in the periphery, is one of the key factors in development of autoimmune diseases. Based on mathematical modeling, for immune system to gain functional protection against all possible foreign epitopes, a single T cell should recognize 1 x 10⁶ structurally similar peptides (Mason 1998). In reality, the number of recognized epitopes is likely to be far less. To overcome this challenge, T cells in the periphery have a significant level of cross reactivity (Kersh and Allen 1996b, Kersh and Allen 1996a, Anderson et al. 2000). As a result, some self-reactivity is likely to occur with most TCRs, and autoreactive T cells exist among the peripheral T cell repertoire of healthy individuals. Because of this necessity for cross reactivity, negative selection in thymus cannot be fully effective but the immune system needs to control autoreactive T cells in the periphery via different tolerance mechanisms, such as anergy or apoptosis, phenotype skewing and regulatory T cells (Walker and Abbas 2002). Alterations in negative regulation of TCR signaling and T cell signaling associated with survival have been linked to failed protection against autoimmunity (Oak and Fruman 2007, Huang and Gu 2008).

T cell cross reactivity is dependent on the sensitivity of a T cell to a peptide, phenomena known as avidity, which is determined by the binding strength of peptide to MHC and affinity of TCR to the peptide-MHC complex (Margulies 2001). As a result, different TCRs can bind the same peptide-MHC complex with different

affinity and a single T cell will respond differently to different peptides. Avidity also has a key role in central tolerance during positive and negative selection of T cells in thymus, where recognition of self-peptide-MHC with low avidity is required from CD4⁺CD8⁺ thymocytes but those with too high affinity TCR are directed to undergo apoptosis (Hogquist et al. 2005). Recent advances in structural studies on TCRs and TCR-peptide-MHC complexes (TCR-pMHC) have shed light on antigen recognition and biased use of TCR. The determined structures of autoimmune TCR-pMHC complexes indicate that autoimmune TCR recognition would be different from recognition of non-self-peptides (Ely et al. 2008). Structural studies have also shown that self-MCH reactivity is avoided by reshaping the TCR repertoire towards a viral determinant (Gras et al. 2009). As the number of reported TCR-pMHC structures continues to grow, it remains to be seen if autoimmune TCR recognition is truly divergent from cognate and allogeneic interactions.

For most of the autoimmune diseases in human, genetic susceptibility is strongly associated with MHC class II alleles, but some associations with particular MHC class I alleles are found as well (Janeway et al. 2001). Consequently, class II HLA alleles are the best characterized of genes that control antigen specificity in autoimmunity. Different alleles have been associated with different diseases, indicating antigenspecific nature of MHC class II effects. There are multiple parallel mechanisms, how autoimmunity is influenced by class II alleles. Predisposing to autoimmune disease may occur by increasing positive and/or decreasing negative selection of autoreactive T cells, or by inhibition of the selection of regulatory $CD4^{+}$ T cells in thymus. On the contrary, some alleles have shown to be protective and may inhibit autoimmunity by deleting autoreactive cells (Marrack et al. 2001). In addition to simply determining the susceptibility to a certain autoimmune disease by an ability to present autoantigenic peptides to autoreactive T cells, the HLA genotype may alter the susceptibility to autoimmunity by participating in shaping of individual's T cell repertoire by promoting the positive selection of autoantigen-specific thymocytes (Anderton and Wraith 2002).

2.2.1.3 Autoreactive T cells and peripheral tolerance

Stimulation of a T cell through TCR alone does not lead to activation of the T cell response. Instead, T cells become anergic and are unable to proliferate in response to restimulation. A co-stimulation signal, typically mediated by antigen-presenting cell, is needed to induce productive T cells. CD28, which is constitutively expressed on naïve CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells, is a unique co-stimulatory molecule controlling the activation of both naïve and memory T cells (Shahinian et al. 1993, Sharpe and Freeman 2002). In addition to CD28 and its counterpart CD80, there are several different context dependent receptor-ligand interactions that amplify or modify the TCR signal (Goronzy and Weyand 2008), along with co-inhibitory pathways (Sharpe et al. 2007, Fife and Bluestone 2008, Murphy et al. 2006). The co-inhibitory signals that T cells can sense have been indicated to be as equally important for immune regulation as the signals that amplify or modify the immune response (Leibson 2004). Co-stimulation, or –inhibition, are not antigen specific and thus not specific

for autoimmune responses. On the other hand, all immune responses are context dependent since various receptor-ligand interactions are highly dependent on the environment. Co-stimulation does not necessarily happen spatially or temporally in parallel with TCR-pMHC complex formation but in both cases, it acts as a central decision point in immune response (Goronzy and Weyand 2008).

In addition to anergy, self-reactive T cells may be restrained via co-stimulation signals leading to apoptosis or skewing of the T cell phenotype, or via T cell ignorance. The state of ignorance results if the T cell never meets a self-antigen or T cell response is not triggered due to low avidity (Walker and Abbas 2002). Sometimes, although an autoreactive T cell is fully activated, tolerance is maintained by changing of the T cell phenotype. This phenotype skewing is induced by the cytokine environment and especially Th2 type cytokines have been reported to down-regulate autoimmunity in animal models (Young et al. 2000, Bradley et al. 1999). It is though that phenotypic skewing can modulate the immune response by determining where self-reactive T cells migrate and which accessory cells they encounter (Walker and Abbas 2002).

The most effective way to remove a particular autoreactive T cell clone from the periphery is programmed cell death, apoptosis. Fas (CD95 or Apo-1) -mediated activation induced cell death (AICD) has been considered as a major regulator of clonal deletion of autoreactive T cells (Walker and Abbas 2002, Watanabe-Fukunaga et al. 1992). Fas-receptor signaling has no functional significance in the regulation of T cell responses triggered by non-self antigens but is limited to self-reactive T cells (Stranges et al. 2007). In addition, the absence of the Fas signal in activated T cells leads to systemic autoimmunity, probably because of extended survival of autoreactive T cells (Stranges et al. 2007). Based on observations from Bim^{-/-} mice that cannot undergo apoptosis, it also appears that apoptotic clearance of autoreactive T cells is not indispensable but can be substituted by anergy and suppressor function of Treg cells (Barron et al. 2008). This result by Barron et al. agrees with the earlier indication that peripheral deletion is not complete and AICD would act merely to decrease the frequency of self-reactive T cells to a level where anergy can be effectively induced in the rest of the cells (Walker and Abbas 2002).

Whereas apoptosis and anergy provide two separate mechanisms for tolerance (Barron et al. 2008), Treg cells and apoptosis are coupled. IL-10, a cytokine secreted by Treg cells, has been reported to promote AICD (Georgescu et al. 1997). *In vivo* suppression by Treg cells is mediated by induced apoptosis of activated $CD4^+$ T cells (Pandiyan et al. 2007) and it has been demonstrated that Treg cells selectively induce the apoptosis of autoreactive T cells *in vivo* (Chang et al. 2009). However, no differences were detected in Fas expression between autoreactive and other T cells (Chang et al. 2009). Active death-receptor mechanisms were not detected either. In view of the latter it seems likely that cytokine deprivation-induced death would be a key component of Treg cell mediated suppression, by which Treg cells initially decrease effector $CD4^+$ cell population by apoptosis to a level where apoptosis-independent control of smaller T cell population is possible by immunosuppressive cytokines (Pandiyan et al. 2007).

Interestingly, naturally occurring CD4⁺CD25⁺ T regulatory cells (nTreg), which provide an important suppression mechanism for peripheral tolerance and have a central role in development of autoimmunity (Sakaguchi 2004, Dejaco et al. 2006, Piccirillo and Shevach 2004, Torgerson 2006), have a distinct TCR repertoire as compared to conventional T cells (Pacholczyk and Kern 2008). Conventional T cells and nTreg cells express different sets of TCRs directed for non-self and self-antigens, respectively. The suppressor function of the nTreg cell is dependent on TCR activation by selfantigen, and recognition with high affinity is required for nTreg lineage commitment (Pacholczyk and Kern 2008). In addition, nTreg cells are able to recognize foreign antigens with the same rate as conventional T cells, but with lower affinity (Pacholczyk et al. 2007). After activation, Treg cells suppress other T cells in a TCRnon-specific manner (Thornton and Shevach 2000).

2.2.1.4 Predisposing factors

According to animal models of autoimmune diseases, it is difficult to break tolerance in individuals without predisposition (Christen and von Herrath 2005). Development of an autoimmune disease is always a result from an unfortunate combination of the individual's genetic susceptibility and exposure to environmental factors promoting the disease. Genetic predisposition can almost entirely explain the generation of autoantibodies but cannot cause the autoimmune attack without environmental cofactors modulating the initiation of the autoimmunity. Prior to clinically overt autoimmune disease, both genetic and environmental factors influence the overall reactivity of the immune system, antigen recognition and the response of the target tissue (Marrack et al. 2001). Infections can induce strong inflammatory responses in various organs of susceptible individuals, which may initiate or modulate autoimmunity via multiple pathways.

Despite the well-characterized predisposing roles of HLA-genes, these account for only a half of the autoimmune disease risk (Pociot and McDermott 2002, von Herrath 2001). In addition, several other genes may alter the response in the target tissue and either promote or protect from autoimmunity by different mechanisms affecting the maintenance of tolerance (Griffith et al. 1995, Vafiadis et al. 1997, Mahoney and Rosen 2005, Viorritto et al. 2007). Gene functions after the onset of the autoimmunity can further modify the course of the disease. In addition to HLAgenes, different patients are predisposed by different genes and a hierarchy of a few major and several minor predisposing genes is likely to exist (von Herrath 2001). Indeed, the expansion of genome wide association studies (GWAS) during the past four years has revealed that predisposing and susceptibility genes are widely shared between different autoimmune diseases (Zhernakova et al. 2009, Invernizzi and Gershwin 2009, Xavier and Rioux 2008). Rather than being disease-specific, the group of common autoimmune susceptibility genes is likely to regulate the overall reactivity of the immune system and define the predisposition of an individual to develop an autoimmune disease. The observation of these common autoimmune susceptibility genes indicates pathway level commonalities in autoimmune disease pathogenesis. The development of a particular autoimmune disease is determined by T cell recognition of antigen(s) (Anderton and Wraith 2002, Ohashi 2002) and the ability of the target tissue or organ to modulate autoimmune attack (Marrack et al. 2001).

Although the majority of patients with autoimmune disease do not have a family history of the disease, accumulation of different autoimmune diseases in the same family is relatively common and people with one autoimmune disorder have an increased risk to develop another one (Sloka 2002, Anaya et al. 2006). The relationship between genetic and environmental contribution in autoimmune disease pathogenesis has been elucidated in twin studies. The concordance of autoantibodies between monozygotic twins is nearly 95%, but disease penetrance only ~50% (Christen and von Herrath 2005). The disease concordance rate of identical twins varies between different autoimmune diseases and variable concordance rates are reported even within a disease (Brooks et al. 2010). Environmental factors could explain these differences and both disease promoting and protective effects of microbial and viral infections have been reported (Christen and von Herrath 2005, Chervonsky 2010). This bidirectional effect of inflammation is in congruence with the observation that in developed countries, where environments are getting more and more hygienic, the lack of antigen stimulation may have contributed to increased levels of allergic and autoimmune diseases (Bach 2001, Bach 2002). This is also supported by population-level studies describing the inverse relationships between the frequency of T1D and enterovirus infections (Viskari et al. 2004) or allergic asthma and parasites (van den Biggelaar et al. 2004), and low risk of allergic sensitization after exposure to viral infections (Seiskari et al. 2007).

Recently, epigenetic changes have been demonstrated to mediate environmental influences to autoimmune disease pathogenesis (Brooks et al. 2010, Hewagama and Richardson 2009), but overall understanding of the mechanisms how the environment modulates autoimmune pathogenesis is still rather poor. However, it seems that infectious events are more likely to promote development of autoimmunity in individuals with increased genetic risk towards autoimmunity, but are unlikely to induce autoimmunity in non-prone individuals. Furthermore, some of the genes associated with autoimmune diseases are related to innate immunity (Zhernakova et al. 2009), supporting the dual role of the immune system described in the continuum model of immunological diseases: the nature of immunological diseases varies from purely autoimmune to purely autoinflammatory through variable combinations of autoimmune-autoinflammatory mechanisms (McGonagle and McDermott 2006).

2.2.2 Multiple sclerosis

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a chronic inflammatory disease of the central nervous system (CNS), causing demyelination, axonal loss and brain atrophy (McFarlin and McFarland 1982a, McFarlin and McFarland 1982b). MS usually develops between the age of 20 and 40 years and it is the most common cause of paralysis in young adults

(Waldner 2009). In Northern Europe and North America 60-200/100,000 individuals suffer from MS (Sospedra and Martin 2005). MS is divided into two major forms: More frequent relapsing-remitting (RR)-MS, which covers 85-90% of all cases being two times more prevalent in women as compared to men, and primary progressive (PP)-MS where patients show steady progression after insidious disease onset (Sospedra and Martin 2005). Patients with RR-MS usually later develop secondary progressive (SP)-MS (Sospedra and Martin 2005). The onset of MS results from a combination of environmental factors with genetic susceptibility. Familiar aggregation, related to shared genetic material has been reported and several different genes and loci have been implicated in addition to the HLA locus (Dyment et al. 2004). Mechanisms that lead to myelin sheath and axonal damages are still poorly understood, but it is generally accepted that formation of acute inflammation lesions, characterized by blood-brain barrier (BBB) breakdown, initiate the MS disease (McFarland and Martin 2007).

2.2.2.1 Pregnancy and Multiple Sclerosis

During the third trimester of pregnancy, the risk of relapses in MS patients decreases significantly, but during the first four months postpartum it increases three-fold (Confavreux et al. 1998). The phenomena is explained by pregnancy-related alterations in maternal immune system that occur in order to protect the semiallogeneic fetus against an attack by the mothers immune system (Chaouat et al. 2004), but the underlying pathobiological mechanisms that modify the disease activity are not fully understood. The shift of the polarization of the immune response towards Th2 type immunity during the pregnancy and expansion of Treg cells are included among putative explanations (Sanchez-Ramon et al. 2005, Wegmann et al. 1993, Polanczyk et al. 2005). Pregnancy hormones can control MSactivity by a direct effect on the function of the immune cells (Sicotte et al. 2002). Pregnancy-related immunoregulatory factors include serum proteins and tolerancepromoting signaling molecules such as sHLA-G, CD200, Fas-ligand, alphafetoprotein and indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (Clark 2005, Irony-Tur-Sinai et al. 2006, Bebo and Dveksler 2005). Interestingly, peripheral blood frequencies of neither the proinflammatory Th17 subset nor Treg cells differed between MS patients and controls around and during the pregnancy (Neuteboom et al. 2010), thus suggesting that Th17 and Treg cells are not involved in MS disease course alteration during pregnancy.

2.2.2.2 MS disease pathogenesis

Two major biological reasons have complicated the search for proof of T cell mediated autoimmune responses in MS patients. Firstly, antigen-presenting cell presents antigens to CD8⁺ T cells as MHC class I products and to CD4⁺ T cells as MHC class II products. Transfer studies are thus excluded as a final proof of autoimmune reactivity because MHC identity would be required between T cell donor and recipient. In addition, the search for target autoantigens among processed peptides

is complicated. Second reason is that in contrast to many other tissues, possibilities for experimental investigation of CNS lesions are very limited. (Wekerle 2008)

It is unclear which antigen(s) initiate T cell activation in MS. However, most patients show reactivity to several myelin antigens (Ota et al. 1990). This agrees with an "epitope spreading" detected in an animal model of MS, experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE), where mice injected with a particular peptide antigen become activated against other epitopes as well (Costantino et al. 2008a). In humans, the antigen specificity is very similar between patients with MS and healthy controls, and autoreactive T cells against myelin antigens can be isolated from peripheral blood of both MS and control group (Sospedra and Martin 2005, Costantino et al. 2008a). Molecular mimicry by viral infections has been proposed as an initiator of autoimmune pathogenesis, but a causal link between infection and MS has not been detected (Costantino et al. 2008a). In comparison to controls, MS patients show a significant TCR degeneracy that allows myelin-antigen recognition due to unconventional TCR binding pattern (Zhang et al. 2008, Hahn et al. 2005).

Th1 cells initiate the acute lesions in MS disease, however, the idea of MS as a Th1 cell mediated autoimmune disease has been revised since the identification of interleukin 17 producing Th17 cells. Several studies have shown that human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class II genes have a major influence on the genetic risk of MS, which is in agreement with the involvement of a CD4⁺ T cell mediated process (McFarland and Martin 2007, Dyment et al. 2004). As evidence of disease association with Th17 cells, elevated levels of IL-17 mRNA have been detected in blood and cerebrospinal fluid mononuclear cells (Matusevicius et al. 1999) and brain tissue from patients with multiple sclerosis (Lock et al. 2002). Furthermore, expansion of the Th17 cell population in patients with MS is reflected by dendritic cells producing increased amounts of IL-23 (Vaknin-Dembinsky et al. 2006), which is required for T cells commitment to Th17 lineage (Harrington et al. 2005, Park et al. 2005).

 $CD8^+$ T cells are also involved in inflammatory lesions of MS patients (Traugott et al. 1983), and it has been speculated that after MS lesion is initiated with $CD4^+$ T cells, $CD8^+$ T cells follow, mediating the amplification and damage (McFarland and Martin 2007). This is supported by the finding of $CD8^+$ T cells in the perivascular regions, whereas $CD4^+$ T cells are usually present only at the edge of the lesion. Moreover, it is also reported that more myelin recognizing $CD8^+$ T cells are found from patients with MS than in healthy controls (Crawford et al. 2004). Clonal expansion of $CD8^+$ T cells has also been detected in the lesions from brain tissue of MS patients (Babbe et al. 2000).

Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells have significant roles in regulation over MS disease. There is somewhat contradictory information if levels of CD4⁺CD25^{high} regulatory T cells are altered between patients with MS and healthy controls. However, it is clear that suppressor function of CD4⁺CD25^{high} Treg cells is impaired in patients with MS, but the mechanism of the functional defect remains still unknown (Costantino et al. 2008a). CD8⁺ Treg cells have been identified to balance the immune response against CNS in MS patient by recognizing and lysing myelin-reactive CD4⁺ T cells (Correale and Villa 2008). In addition, a distinct thymus-derived Treg subset expressing HLA-G has been identified in MS patients (Feger et al. 2007) and these HLA-G⁺ Treg cells have normal functionality (Zozulya and Wiendl 2008).

2.2.3 Type 1 Diabetes

Type 1 diabetes (T1D) is another example of an organ-specific T cell mediated autoimmune disease in human. In T1D, insulin producing β -cells in the islets of Langerhans of the pancreas are selectively destroyed by autoreactive T cells, leading to clinical disease after only 10-20% of the β -cells remain active (Knip 1997). Throughout the world, the yearly increase in T1D incidence is 2.5-3.0% and continues to grow steadily, especially in developed countries, being highest in Finland where 64.2 cases were detected per 100 000 individuals in 2005 (Harjutsalo et al. 2008). Like in most autoimmune diseases, the onset T1D is a combined effect of genetic susceptibility and environmental factors and is preceded by long symptom-free period (Figure 1). The importance of environmental triggering is highlighted by a concordance rate of only about 50% between identical twins (Todd 2010) and huge differences in incidence rates between different Caucasian populations (Knip et al. 2005). Numerous environmental factors may contribute to T1D already during pregnancy and early childhood. Early influence is supported by recent findings that children that develop T1D show distinct metabolic profiles already after birth (Oresic et al. 2008) and the gut microbiome of children that develop T1D is less diverse and stable as compared to healthy children (Giongo et al. 2010).



Figure 1. Progression of T1D. (Devendra et al. 2004)

2.2.3.1 T1D susceptibility and environmental modulation

Clinically overt diabetes is preceded by the appearance of autoantibodies against islet cells (ICA), insulin (IAA), protein tyrosine phosphatase-related IA-2 protein (IA-2A), glutamic acid decarboxylase (GADA) and recently identified cation efflux transporter ZnT8 (Wenzlau et al. 2007). The appearance of more than one type of these autoantibodies vastly increases the disease risk; for first-degree relative of a patient with T1D the risk increases from 20 to 90%, when they become positive for second autoantibody (Bluestone et al. 2010). Autoantibodies have a great predictive value for disease progression and recent studies have demonstrated that in combination with HLA genotype this is also true for the population without familial association (Knip et al. 2010, Siljander et al. 2009). HLA class II molecules are the ones to recognize T1D associated autoantibodies in the thymus and periphery, and certain alleles in DR and DQ loci are associated with increased disease risk. Though not considered in risk models, some HLA class I molecules have also been associated with T1D (Ziegler and Nepom 2010) and both class II and class I -specific antigens are present in blood and pancreatic islets of T1D patients (Bluestone et al. 2010). In addition to a strong genetic contribution by human leukocyte antigen (HLA) genes, more than 50 non-HLA regions contribute to the risk towards T1D (Pociot et al. 2010, Smink et al. 2005). However, while genome-wide association studies have rapidly increased the number of T1D candidate genes, they have not revealed that much about T1D pathogenesis. In a recent large genome-wide association study of copy number variations (CNV) and common human diseases, only the HLA loci were associated with T1D but several artifacts that could lead to false-positive associations were identified (Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium et al. 2010). The non-HLA susceptibility is largely related to T cell mediated immunity, but nonexistence of direct pathways suggests that initiation and development of T1D are associated with chronic dysregulation of the immune system (Concannon et al. 2009, Barrett et al. 2009).

Whereas genetic susceptibility of the HLA region has an undisputable role in the decision whether autoimmunity activates in the first place, proteins coded by other susceptibility genes are implicated in progression of T1D. Polymorphism of the variable number of tandem repeats (VNTR) region in the promoter of the insulin gene (INS) is associated with low insulin expression in the thymus, which may hamper the negative selection of insulin-specific autoreactive T cells (Vafiadis et al. 1997, Bennett et al. 1995, Pugliese et al. 1997). Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 (CTLA-4) is suggested to maintain peripheral tolerance by down-regulating T cell activation (Scalapino and Daikh 2008) and polymorphism in the CTLA-4 region is associated with T1D (Ueda et al. 2003, Atabani et al. 2005). Intracellular lymphoid protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 22 (PTPN22) inhibits T cell receptor signaling and the C1858T SNP in PTPN22 is associated with T1D and several other autoimmune diseases (Vang et al. 2008, Bottini et al. 2004). This gain of function mutation, with higher catalytic activity, reduces IL-2 secretion and intracellular calcium release, impairs activation of CD4⁺ memory T cells and decreases expression of CD25 and IL-10 (Bottini et al. 2004, Zoledziewska et al. 2008, Vang et al. 2005, Rieck et al. 2007). IFIH1 (interferon induced with helicase C domain 1), also known as MDA5 (melanoma differentiation-associated protein 5), is a mediator of the innate immune response and associated with T1D as a predisposing gene (Smyth et al. 2006). Recently, the importance of IFIH1 in T1D pathogenesis was highlighted when certain rare variants of IFIH1, with reduced IFIH1 expression in peripheral blood lymphocytes and monocytes, were shown to be protective against T1D (Nejentsev et al. 2009, Downes et al. 2010).

As not everyone with high genetic susceptibility proceeds to T1D, environmental factors triggering the disease onset must be involved. As a consequence of the increased T1D rates observed in developed countries, studies have focused in lifestyle-related differences, such as infections and dietary factors. Different viruses have been investigated as potential T1D inducers, but enteroviruses have remained as primary candidates since 1969 (Oikarinen et al. 2011, Gamble et al. 1969, TEDDY Study Group 2008). Enteroviruses are able to damage pancreatic β -cells in vitro (Roivainen et al. 2000) and in vivo (Ylipaasto et al. 2004), and seasonal linkage between enteroviral infections and T1D has been demonstrated (Oikarinen et al. 2011, Salminen et al. 2004, Kimpimäki et al. 2001). Although several protective or causative nutritional agents have been reported in the context of T1D during the past three decades with no definite associations, reduced exposure to microbes via food, together with other dietary changes in industrialized countries may have contributed to increased levels of T1D (Virtanen and Knip 2003). However, it is likely that exposure to complex dietary proteins during early childhood increases the risk for T1D, as it was observed that, for children with a high-risk HLA genotype and a first-degree relative with T1D, dietary intervention with highly hydrolyzed milk formula during infancy was able to decrease the risk of T1D predictive autoantibodies (Knip et al. 2010).

2.2.3.2 Molecular mechanisms of β-cell damage in human

The initiation of T1D takes place in pancreatic lymph nodes, where antigenpresenting cells present T1D autoantigens to naïve HLA class II reactive T cells (Knip and Siljander 2008). These autoreactive $CD4^+$ T cells then invade the pancreatic islets and cause further damage that leads to release of self-antigens and epitope spreading (Bluestone et al. 2010). Though class II molecules seem to be responsible for initiation of the disease, class I antigens and class I antigen specific $CD8^+$ T cells are present in the peripheral blood and pancreatic islets of T1D patients (Bluestone et al. 2010, Willcox et al. 2009). As neither $CD4^+$ nor $CD8^+$ T cells can effectively transfer T1D in NOD mice, it is possible that different mechanisms of T cell mediated β -cell death works in parallel: Cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells can kill β -cells in direct contact while cytokines inducing FAS death receptor can be secreted by both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells (Lehuen et al. 2010). In addition to well-characterized adaptive immunity, innate immunity and inflammatory mediators contribute in the early stages of T1D pathogenesis. Cells of the innate immune system that are found in pancreatic infiltrates and lymph nodes are capable of modulating the immune response of islet antigen specific T cells and may contribute to β -cell death directly (Lehuen et al. 2010, Eizirik et al. 2009). Furthermore, inflammatory responses induced by viral infections are known to accelerate T1D pathogenesis and recently a novel interferon regulatory factor 7 (IRF7) driven inflammatory network enriched with viral response genes was implicated in regulation of T1D pathogenesis (Heinig et al. 2010). One of the genes implicated in this network is viral RNA recognizing IFIH1, shown to be protective to T1D (Nejentsev et al. 2009, Downes et al. 2010).

According to the classical Th1/Th2 paradigm T1D is a Th1 mediated autoimmune disease, but the capability of highly pathogenic Th17 cells to induce autoimmune inflammation and their importance in animal models of organ-specific autoimmunity suggests a pathogenic role for Th17 cells in human as well. Recently, two different groups have reported increased levels of IL-17 in naïve and memory CD4⁺ T cells (Honkanen et al. 2010, Marwaha et al. 2010) and CD8⁺ T cells (Marwaha et al. 2010) isolated from peripheral blood of children with newly onset T1D. Furthermore, Honkanen et al. show that Th17 immunity stays up-regulated after longer duration of the disease and that IL-17 is able to promote human islet cell damage in vitro (Honkanen et al. 2010). Both studies also report elevated expression levels of the Treg marker gene FOXP3. However, instead of naïve (CD45RA⁺CD25^{int}FOXP3^{low}) or memory Tregs (CD45RA⁻CD25^{high}FOXP3^{high}), the elevated FOXP3 levels result from an increase in the population of non-suppressive CD45RA⁻CD25^{int}FOXP3^{low} cells secreting IL-17. These IL-17⁺FOXP3⁺ T helper cells may be an intermediate lineage between plastic Th17 and Treg lineages, and local cytokine environment defines suppressive/proinflammatory role for IL-17⁺FOXP3⁺ Th cells (Marwaha et al. 2010). Furthermore, monocytes derived from T1D patients secrete proinflammatory cytokines driving differentiation and expansion of Th17 cells, thus supporting general Th17 response in T1D (Bradshaw et al. 2009).

Although regulatory failure is acknowledged as a root cause for T1D autoimmunity, the lack of proper definition for human regulatory T cells has resulted in contradictory information on the number, proportion and functionality of Treg cells in patients with T1D. In addition to the unreliability of Treg markers, human studies are somewhat limited to peripheral lymphocytes, which may be of little relevance and does not reflect Treg levels at the site of the autoimmune inflammation. Nevertheless, Treg cells are critical for autoimmune pathogenesis. Complete loss of Treg cells, caused by mutations switching of Treg marker gene FOXP3, leads to a multi-organ autoimmune disease IPEX (immunodysregulation polyendocrinopathy enteropathy X-linked) (Bennett et al. 2001). In T1D patients, both naturally occurring Treg cells and inducible CD4⁺FOXP3⁺ precursor cells are present before and after the disease onset (Ziegler and Nepom 2010). Some of the induced Treg cells in T1D patients are islet antigen specific and indistinguishable from similar cells from non-T1D individuals (Long et al. 2009). Instead of loss in Treg functionality, pathogenic T cells may escape from regulatory mechanisms by unresponsiveness of autologous effector T cells in T1D. Whereas effector T cells from healthy controls can be equally suppressed by autologous control Treg cells and T1D Treg cells, neither T1D nor control Tregs are able to normally suppress T effector cells from T1D patients (Schneider et al. 2008). Effector T cells from T1D patients are resistant to both naturally occurring and induced Treg cells, which may partly explain variable results regarding functionality of Treg in T1D patients.
3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The goal of this PhD study was first to design and optimize a custom tailored cDNA microarray for gene-expression profiling of the immune system, and validate its performance. Furthermore, to allow gene-expression profiling from the minute amounts of total RNA resulting from whole peripheral blood samples, suitable sample collection and preparation protocols were optimized. The main objective was to apply gene-expression microarrays to characterization of transcriptional profiles in peripheral blood of patients with autoimmune diseases.

The specific aims of this Ph.D. thesis were:

- To design cDNA microarray for targeted study of signal transduction and molecular networks related to immune-mediated diseases and validate the array with a case study of T helper cell differentiation.
- To set up total RNA stabilization and mRNA amplification methods to be used in clinical studies.
- To apply gene-expression microarrays to study pregnancy related immunosuppression in patients with multiple sclerosis.
- To characterize type 1 diabetes associated gene-expression profiles during the disease progression in at-risk children who developed autoantibodies and clinical T1D.

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.1 Samples and specimen

4.1.1 In vitro polarization and activation of T helper cells

Mononuclear cells were first isolated from neonatal cord blood using Ficoll Paque Isolation (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Uppsala, Sweden) and $CD4^+$ lymphocytes were recovered with magnetic beads (Dynal Biotech, Oslo, Norway). The $CD4^+$ cells were stimulated in the presence of 100 ng/ml PHA (Murex Diagnostics, Chatillon, France) and irradiated (60 Gy) with CD32-B7 transfected fibroblasts. The final densities of the cell cultures were 1×10^6 CD4⁺ cells and 0.5×10^6 feeder cells in 1 ml, cells were grown in Yssel's medium (Irvine Scientific, Santa Ana, CA) supplemented with 1% AB-serum (Red Cross, Helsinki, Finland).

T cell differentiation was primed with 2.5 ng/ml of IL-12 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) for Th1 cells and with 10 µg/ml anti-IL-12 (R&D Systems) and 10 ng/ml IL-4 (R&D Systems) for Th2 cells. To enhance proliferation of the lymphocytes, 40 U/ml of IL-2 (R&D Systems) was added to the cultures after 48 h. For longer time points, cultures were divided at days 3 and 10. At day 7 part of the cells were collected and the rest were re-stimulated and cultured for another 7 days as described above. At both 7 and 14 days, half of the collected cells were activated by plate-bound α CD3 (500 ng/well for coating) and 0.5 µg/ml soluble α CD28 (Immunotech, Marseille, France) for 6 h, whereas the other half was treated similarly without antibodies. Polarization efficiency was controlled by intracellular FACS staining of IFN- γ and IL-4.

Alternatively, CD4⁺ cells were separated as described above, but one aliquot was reserved as untreated sample of naïve T cells that were cultured in "neutral conditions". The rest of the cells were cultured for 48 h after primary activation with plate-bound α CD3 (1000ng/µl for coating) and 500 ng/µl soluble α CD28 (Immunotech). Culture density was 0.5 – 2 x 10⁶ cells/ml in Yssel's medium (Irvine Scientific) including 1% AB-serum (Finnish Red Cross). Polarization was performed in the presence and absence of TGF- β (R&D Systems) with 2.5 ng/ml IL-12 (R&D Systems) for Th1 cells or 10 ng/ml IL-4 (R&D Systems) for Th2 cells. Both CD3+CD28-activation and polarizing cytokines were given at the same time.

4.1.2 Pooled PBMC reference sample

To compare hybridization performed at different times, an RNA pool representing normal expression was collected and pooled from total RNA in PBMC from altogether 41 normal blood donors (Finnish Red Cross) to be used as a reference sample. PBMC were first isolated by Ficoll gradient centrifugation (Amersham Biosciences) and total RNA was isolated with Trizol (Gibco BRL[®]) and stored at -70 °C. Collected samples were then combined and purified with Qiagen's RNeasy Maxi kit

with on column DNAse treatment. After the purification step, the yield from different columns were pooled again, aliquoted for later use and stored at at -70 $^{\circ}$ C.

4.1.3 Human peripheral blood

Peripheral blood samples for microarray studies were collected with with the PAXgene[™] Blood RNA System (Qiagen/BD) where RNA stabilization reagents in the collection tube ensure that transcription profiles reflect the physiological state at the time of the blood drawn. After the blood was drawn, PAXgene[™] collection tubes were frozen at -70 °C for transportation and storage. The extraction of total RNA was done according manufacturer's instructions using specific materials and reagents provided with the kit. Before proceeding to gene-expression microarrays, the total RNA isolated was amplified with RiboAmp[®] RNA Amplification Kits (Arcturus) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Alternatively, peripheral blood was drawn to TEMPUS[™] Blood RNA Tube (Applied Biosystems) for the comparison of different RNA stabilizing collection methods for peripheral blood gene-expression studies.

4.1.4 Characterization of peripheral blood lymphocyte subpopulations

Simultest[™] IMK-Lymphocyte Kit appended with CD4⁺/CD25⁺ marker (BD Biosciences) was used to characterize peripheral blood lymphocyte subpopulations in T1D prone and control children. Samples were collected in three to six month intervals during DIPP (Type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention) study visits and processed same day according to the Simultest kit insert.

4.1.5 Samples collected from MS patients

Peripheral blood samples were collected from pregnant MS patients and pregnant healthy control persons at 10-12 gestational weeks (gw), at 26-28 gw and at 4-5 weeks postpartum (PP). In addition to samples drawn in the PAXgene[™] Blood RNA System (Qiagen/BD) for peripheral blood gene-expression studies with microarrays, PBMC were collected with Ficoll-Hypaque[™] PLUS (Amersham Biosciences, Uppsala, Sweden) density gradient centrifugation and frozen in DMSO for flow cytometry and as a dry pellet for RNA isolation at -135 °C. Serum samples were frozen at -40 °C.

4.1.6 Samples collected from children with T1D

Study subjects were recruited within the Type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention (DIPP) study in Finland (Kupila et al. 2001). Samples for peripheral blood geneexpression were collected with the PAXgene™ Blood RNA System (Qiagen/BD) in 3-6 month intervals. During the same visits to the DIPP clinic, the blood levels of T1D-associated autoantibodies (ICA, GADA, IAA and IA-2A) were measured.

4.1.7 Samples to study whole-blood RNA stabilization and mRNA amplification methods

To compare two methods available, peripheral blood from three healthy volunteers was collected simultaneously in TEMPUS[™] or PAXgene[™] collection tubes at two different times. After the blood was drawn, the samples were treated as recommended by manufacturer and stored at -70°C. All samples were stored frozen 2-3 months before thawing and isolation of totRNA with ABI Prism[™] Nucleic Acid PrepStation (TEMPUS[™]) or with specific spin columns (PAXgene[™]) according to manufacturer's instructions.

To address the long-term stability of PAXgene[™] blood RNA samples as they are stored frozen at -70°C, simultaneously drawn PAXgene[™] samples were taken from two healthy volunteers. The first ones were directly isolated and the others after 6, 18 and 24 months. In addition, to asses stability of RNA in PAXgene[™] tubes stored at room temperature, five tubes were simultaneously drawn from a single donor and processed on sequential days during a week.

4.2 Gene-expression microarrays

4.2.1 ImmunoChip cDNA microarray

All the cDNA microarrays used in this thesis work were specifically printed on glass slides at the Finnish DNA Microarray Centre, Turku Centre for Biotechnology. The sequences to be printed were picked from the Research Genetics' Human Sequence Verified 40K Library, or were cloned in-house. Some of the spots on these ImmunoChip(s) represent different cDNA clones from the same gene and some were empty spots that did not contain DNA. The printing configuration gave three technical replicates of each sequence placed on different parts of the slide. The first version of ImmunoChip (original publication I) included ~2000 sequences implicated in lymphocyte activation or differentiation including cytokines, chemokines and their receptors, transcription factors and genes involved in signaling, apoptosis and cell cycle regulation. An extended version of the ImmunChip contained an updated collection of ~5000 genes (used in original publication II).

All RNA samples, total RNA or amplified aRNA, were quality controlled by their A_{260}/A_{280} absorbance ratio detected using NanoDrop ND-1000 (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE, USA) and agarose gel electrophoresis, or with Experion automated electrophoresis system (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Espoo, Finland). For each of the hybridizations, equal amounts of RNA from similarly treated test and reference sample (amplified or total RNA) were labeled directly during cDNA synthesis. The reference sample was always labeled with FluoroLinkTM Cy3-dUTP

(Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) and the sample of interest with Cy5-dUTP (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech). The labeled reference and the desired sample were mixed with hybridization reagents in one tube before hybridization.

Before hybridization printed slides were fixed with UV light (90 mJ) and prehybridized with Succinic Anhydride or bovine serum albumin (BSA). In the first case, 6 g of succinic anhydride was dissolved in 335 ml 1-methyl-2-pyrrolidinone and 15 ml borate (1 M, pH 8.0) was added immediately. The solution was poured into a slidestaining dish and microarray slides were plunged 5 times in the solution and mixed 15 - 20 min on orbital shaker at room temperature. Meanwhile, 750 ml sterile water was heated to boiling point and the slide rack was transferred to 95 °C water and plunged in hot water for 2 minutes. Lastly, the slide rack was plunged 5 times in 95% ethanol and slides were dried in a centrifuge. For BSA treatment, the slides were treated 30 min at 50 °C in buffer containing 5 x SSC, 0.1% SDS and 1% BSA, and washed first 3 min in 2 x SSC and then 3 min in 0.2 x SSC. Both SSC washes were done at room temperature.

The hybridization mixture containing labeled cDNA was placed on the array under a glass cover slip. Hybridizations were performed overnight at 65 °C in Corning hybridization chambers with humidity maintained by 3 x SSC. After hybridization, slides were dipped in 0.5 x SSC/0.1% SDS to remove the cover slip. Slides were then washed under agitation for 15 min in 0.5 x SSC/0.1% SDS, 15 min in 0.5 x SSC/0.01% SDS, 2 min in 0.06 x SSC and 1 min in 0.06 x SSC. All washing steps were performed at room temperature. After the last washing steps, the slides were dried one by one in microarray high-speed centrifuge (Telechem) or by centrifugation for 1 min/700 rpm.

4.2.2 Experimental design for cDNA microarrays

PBMC pool was used as a standard sample on microarrays (Churchill 2002). As a combination of expression profiles of 41 healthy individuals it was taken to represent normal expression, where signals provided by genes with high expression levels will be enhanced whereas genes with low expression level and random variation will disappear. Samples of interest were labeled with Cy5 and hybridized against Cy3 labeled reference RNA pooled from PBMCs and treated similarly as the test samples. Thus, all array-wise ratios give the expression rate against the same control, which significantly reduces variation caused by technical performance and simplifies the interpretation of the results.

4.2.3 Microarray quality control – RRPlot software

The quality of ImmunoChip hybridizations was assessed using RRPlot quality control tool. The latter was developed within this study for cDNA arrays printed in Finnish DNA microarray Centre, but can be applied to any array that contains two or more technical replicates and includes spots containing only print buffer without DNA. Many of the quality measures are based on the difference detected between

technical replicates, and "empty spots" are used to evaluate the quality of spotting and background intensity levels.

Instead of giving a binary decision concerning the array quality, the idea in RRPlot is to provide visualizations and measures to aid the user in determination of the array quality. Furthermore, removal of improper data points based on replicate statistics can also improve normalization (Aittokallio et al. 2003, Fan et al. 2004). RRPlot processes data in three steps: Filtering, normalization and visualization. First, it uses the signal measured from "empty spots" to set a cut-off value and filters the data by removing spots with intensity near or below "empty spots". Second, the filtered data is normalized and different visualizations are drawn from the data. Visualization includes spot and background variation across the array, differences between technical replicates and intensities of the predefined empty spots. As a result, following options are available to handle the data measurements for each sequence: use the median of more than two good technical replicates; use the average of two remaining good technical replicates; use the only technical replicate accepted; or omit the sequence.

4.2.4 cDNA microarray analyses

Separate images for Cy3 and Cy5 dyes were acquired using ScanArray[™] 5000 laser scanning microscope (Packard Biosciences). Images were then combined for data reduction in QuantArray[®] microarray analysis software from the same company. Gene transcript levels were determined from the fluorescent intensities of the scanned data image files. Systemic variation in measured intensity levels was removed using intensity dependent normalization with robust scatter plot smoothing algorithm (Yang et al. 2002).

InforSense Knowledge Discovery Environment (KDE) (InforSense, London, UK) was used to extract fold differences and statistical significance that were mainly used to detect differentially expressed genes. Filtering and normalization implemented in RRPlot (Yang et al. 2002, I) were recalculated from the raw data in KDE. The microarray data analysis web tool (MIDAW), built on R/Bioconductor packages (Romualdi et al. 2005, R Development Core Team 2008, Gentleman et al. 2004), was used for descriptive data analysis and feature extraction. In addition to KDE and MIDAW, Cluster 3.0 and TreeView software were used for clustering and visualization of the data (de Hoon et al. 2004, Saldanha 2004, Eisen et al. 1998).

4.2.5 Affymetrix GeneChip expression arrays

Affymetrix HG-U133A or U133 Plus 2.0 arrays were prepared according to the manufacturer's small sample protocol, which includes an amplification step of total RNA. All total RNA were quality controlled with A_{260}/A_{280} absorbance ratio, determined with a NanoDrop ND-1000 detector (NanoDrop Technologies,

Wilmington, DE, USA) and agarose gel electrophoresis, or with Experion automated electrophoresis system (Bio-Rad Laboratories).

For T cell differentiation studies hybridized on Affymetrix HG-U133A arrays, data extraction was performed with Affymetrix GeneChip Microarray Suite, version 5 (MAS5). For the prospective sample series from diabetic children, robust multiarray average (RMA) procedure implemented in the Bioconductor affy package was used to process Affymetrix data (Gentleman et al. 2004, Irizarry et al. 2003).

4.2.6 Assessment of transcriptional profiles in longitudinal sample series

Differential expression in autoantibody positive (Ab⁺) children or T1D-progressors as compared to healthy, persistently autoantibody negative (Ab⁻) controls was mined using gene-level statistical analysis (Huang et al. 2001). Shortly, for each subject, expression intensity of probe set x at each time point was given a z-score, z=(x-m)/s, where m is the mean and s the standard deviation calculated for the probe x over all the time points in the sample series of Ab⁻ controls. Thus, z-score penalizes the probes that show high variation in control samples. A probe set was considered changed if |z|>3 at two or more time points in each of the Ab⁺ and T1D-progressor sample.

K-means clustering with Euclidean distance was then applied to set of up- or downregulated genes to investigate the overall behavior across the samples. The number of clusters was determined based on figure of metric (FOM) statistics (Yeung et al. 2001).

4.2.7 Computing inter-platform agreement

The inter-platform agreement was calculated between ImmunoChip and Q-RT-PCR, and between ImmunoChip and Affymetrix HG-U133A oligonucleotide microarray. With each platform, expression results were divided into three categories: Expressed in Th1, expressed in Th2, or equally expressed. For genes common to both platforms in a comparison, SAS system (v.8) was used to calculate unweighted Cohen's κ -statistics with one-sided *p*-values (Gwet 2002).

4.2.8 Network and pathway level analyses of gene-expression

Gene-expression results were viewed on a pathway level with Ingenuity Pathway analysis (Ingenuity[®] Systems, www.ingenuity.com). In addition, Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA) was used to map differential gene-expression to enriched pathways (Subramanian et al. 2005, Mootha et al. 2003). Final GSEA analysis was made based on gene rankings detected with Bioconductor RankProd package (Breitling et al. 2004).

4.2.9 Comparison of peripheral blood collection tubes with Illumina® expression arrays

Total RNA extracted from TEMPUS[™] and PAXgene[™] tubes and pooled total RNA from PBMC were first amplified for gene-expression studies with RiboAmp[®] OA 1 Round RNA Amplification Kit (Arcturus). Purified cDNA was then used as a template for *in vitro* transcription to synthesize labeled cRNA with Illumina[®] RNA Amplification Kit (Ambion[®]). Labeled cRNA was hybridized on Illumina Sentrix HumanRef-8 Expression BeadChips according to manufacturer's protocol. Cubic spline normalization method (Workman et al. 2002) was applied simultaneously with data extraction in Illumina Inc. BeadStudio (version 1.5.0.34). Normalized data was filtered first by detection values generated in BeadStudio and after that second filtering based on measured expression intensity was applied. Data sets from different sample types were separately filtered. Illumina probes with detection value ≥0.9 (detection = 1 - *p*-value) and measured intensity level ≥100 in at least one of the sample collection methods, were considered for further analysis.

4.3 Verification of differential gene-expression

A variety of different methods can be applied to verify differential gene-expression detected with microarrays. For each study the choice of verification method was based on available sample material and overall goals and experimental setup.

4.3.1 Array probe sequencing

All cDNA clones giving an interesting expression signal on the array were sequenced with Applied Biosystems ABI PRISM 3100 Genetic Analyzer using universal primers. Sequencing was performed from the same plates used for printing the arrays and sequencing results were then blasted against databases.

4.3.2 Q-RT-PCR

Quantitative real-time RT-PCR studies were performed using Applied Biosystems TaqMan gene-expression assays on ABIPrism 7700 Sequence Detection System. Housekeeping genes were used to normalize the RNA levels (Hamalainen et al. 2001b).

4.3.3 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Soluble HLA-G (sHLA-G) ELISA (Exbio, Prague, Czech Republic) was performed as described (Wiendl et al. 2005).

4.3.4 Flow cytometry

Monoclonal antibodies were used to detect HLA-G expression with flow cytometry. PBMC were washed with 1 x PBS supplemented with 0.1% BSA and 0.1% sodium azide, and incubated with monoclonal antibodies for 30 min at 4 °C. Cells were analyzed with FACS-Calibur[™] using Cell Quest[™] software (Becton Dickinson, Heidelberg, Germany). Monoclonal antibodies are listed in original publication III.

5. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

5.1 ImmunoChip cDNA microarray

Our goal was to design and produce a targeted custom printed cDNA microarray for transcriptional profiling of immune-mediated diseases. To achieve this, we chose a comprehensive selection of genes belonging to the key signaling pathways and molecular networks implicated in human immune system. At the same time, ImmunoChip project was used to set up cDNA microarray manufacturing processes in the Finnish DNA Microarray Centre at Turku Centre for Biotechnology. The first version of the ImmunChip, including c.a. 2400 different transcripts, was used to validate the platform (I). For the final version of ImmunoChip that was later used, among many other things, to study postpartum activation in multiple sclerosis (II), the number of immune response genes on the array was expanded to around 5000. Due to the higher number of transcripts, changes to print configuration were required but no other changes were introduced. The original number of transcripts was adequate for reliable analysis of the cDNA array performance.

Although many commercial microarray platforms are available today and competition has lowered the price per sample, large genome wide microarray studies are still rather expensive to perform. However, the price structure between commercial and home-brew array platforms has balanced, or in some cases even turned the other way round, such that customized oligonucleotide probe selections are available from several manufacturers. Thus, oligonucleotide platforms have overtaken DNA probes, which require laborious and costly maintenance of clone libraries and are more error prone during manufacturing. Nevertheless, the ImmunoChip showed to be valuable tool to analyze immune-related geneexpression.

5.1.1 Technical quality of the ImmunoChip

The clones selected for ImmunoChip were picked from the Research Genetics' Human Sequence Verified 40 K Library, which showed 83% agreement between library annotation and our sequencing results from array print plates. This was fairly good number in comparison with other studies, for example, using Research Genetics' and IMAGE consortium (Integrated Molecular Analysis of Genomes and their Expression) cDNA clone libraries, which reported 62.2% (Halgren et al. 2001) and 79% (Taylor et al. 2001) concordance rates, respectively.

We developed the RRPlot quality control tool to assess hybridization quality. Pair wise overlay images of the three technical replicates printed on the same slide provided user-friendly visualization that allowed quick localization of potential problems (I, Figure 2). Though all the hybridizations of the validation experiments were of high quality and did not require any hybridizations to be excluded or repeated, removal of array spots of bad quality in the RRPlot improved the data

significantly (I, Figure 3). The importance of data filtering before normalization was emphasized by the behavior of the average replicate correlation in filtered and normalized data (Pearson p = 0.930), as compared to raw data (Pearson p = 0.895) and normalized data before filtering (Pearson p = 0.578). (I)

In addition to hybridization quality control, RRPlot is applicable for pre-hybridization quality control. Arrays printed in a salty buffer can be raw-scanned prior to the pre-hybridization washes to assess availability of array targets revealed by light scattering from the salt crystals. Thus, valuable samples will not be wasted on arrays lacking the transcript of interest.

5.1.2 Inter-platform agreement of the ImmunoChip

In order to evaluate the sensitivity of the ImmunoChip to detect differentially expressed transcripts, we performed a mutual validation between ImmunoChip, commercial oligonucleotide array and Q-RT-PCR with a case study of T cell differentiation (I). Considering the high influences of cell culture conditions and sample treatments have on gene-expression, direct comparisons between different platforms were limited to experiments done within the same lab under similar conditions. Time points and conditions for cell cultures were matched to previously published Q-RT-PCR results from our group (Chen et al. 2003, Chen et al. 2003, Lund et al. 2003a, Lund et al. 2003b, Hamalainen et al. 2000, Hamalainen et al. 2001a). Cohen's κ -statistics was used to assess similarity between ImmunoChip and previously reported Q-RT-PCR results (I, Table 1). In addition, at the 7 day time point total RNA of the untreated and activated Th1 and Th2 cells from two different individuals was hybridized to Affymetrix HG-U133A oligonucleotide arrays, similarity values of k=0.30 (*p*=0.0003) for polarized and k=0.43 (*p*<0.0001) for polarized and activated Samples were observed (I, Figure 5).

Although there are differences in platform and sample preparation, the results obtained with ImmunoChip are in agreement with previous data (Chen et al. 2003, Lund et al. 2003b, Chtanova et al. 2001, Hamalainen et al. 2001a, Lund et al. 2003a, Rogge et al. 2000). In our validation study, the same samples hybridized on oligonucleotide arrays confirmed majority of the gene-expression changes detected with the ImmunoChip. These findings are further supported by studies reporting cDNA and oligonucleotide arrays as complementary rather than competing platforms, although comparison of the results from different platforms is not straightforward (Lee et al. 2003, Yuen et al. 2002, Järvinen et al. 2004, Petersen et al. 2005). Furthermore, general inter- and intraplatform reproducibility of gene-expression measurements was demonstrated by the MicroArray Quality Control (MAQC) project, though no cDNA array corresponding to ImmunoChip was included in the study (MAQC Consortium et al. 2006).

5.2 Transcriptional profiling of whole peripheral blood

The success of a microarray experiment is highly dependent on the quality of the sample RNA. Therefore, to ensure adequate amounts of high quality RNA were available for the transcriptional profiling of peripheral blood, we first optimized blood collection and sample RNA processing. We also examined the longitudinal variation in relative composition of peripheral blood lymphocyte subpopulations in children at risk of T1D and their genotypically matched controls.

5.2.1 *Ex vivo* stabilization and following mRNA amplification allow transcriptional profiling of peripheral blood samples

Two well-established methods, TEMPUS[™] Blood RNA Tube (Applied Biosystems) and PAXgene[™] Blood RNA System (PreAnalytix, Qiagen/BectonDickinson) are available for ex vivo transcriptional profiling and biomarker discovery from human peripheral blood. Both methods include RNA stabilizing reagents in the collection tube to ensure that the transcription profiles reflect the physiological state at the time the blood was drawn, thus providing a feasible and much needed means for geneexpression profiling and biomarker discovery from clinical sample material. Even though both manufacturers promise stable transcription profiles for collection tubes stored for days at room temperature, our preliminary finding with PAXgene tubes was that this leads to the degradation of RNA (Figure 2). Similar degradation of RNA in PAXgene tubes stored at room temperature was later reported (Kagedal et al. 2005). As our study designs did not allow immediate processing of collected peripheral blood samples, collection tubes were frozen and stored at -70°C after the blood was drawn. We first performed a parallel comparison of the two methods available and demonstrated the long-term stability at -70°C for PAXgene Blood RNA System, which was chosen for subsequent studies (II).

Days	at RT	
1	2 3 4	7
-		← 28 s
	10 × 10 × 10	
- 100		← 18 s
	1.	

Figure 2. Poor intensity ratio of 28s and 18s RNA at day 7 indicates that RNA stabilization is incomplete and PAXgene tubes are not suitable for long-term storage at room temperature (RT). All tubes were collected at the same time from the same donor and processed after 1, 2, 3, 4 and 7 days of storage at RT.

Both the TEMPUS and PAXgene blood RNA systems yielded total RNA of high quality (A260/A280 > 1.93), but with low quantities, showing averages of ~2.5 μ g for PAXgene and ~5.5 μ g for TEMPUS tubes. Different blood volumes of 2.5 mL in PAXgene and 3 mL in TEMPUS cannot completely explain the difference in total RNA yield, since TEMPUS resulted in almost twice as much of total RNA/mL of blood than PAXgene. However, amplification of mRNA is required with both methods to ensure sufficient starting material for further microarray and/or validation experiments.

For effective labeling of minute amounts of total RNA for ImmunoChip cDNA array, we first tested signal amplification with a dendrimer based 3DNA technology (Genisphere Inc., Hatfield, PA, USA). This captures gene-expression signatures without RNA amplification, using only $1 - 5 \mu g$ of total RNA as a starting material. Even though dendrimer labeling was successful (data not shown), amplification of mRNA was chosen to preserve original total RNA for possible further needs, e.g. for processing the same sample to be analysed with different platforms. The 3-10 times higher relative amount of labeled aRNA targets when compared to the corresponding mRNA among the total RNA targets, has also been reported to increase the sensitivity of the assay (Nygaard and Hovig 2006).

The high relative abundance of globin mRNA has been reported to mask other transcripts in Affymetrix small sample protocol (Shou et al. 2005, Vartanian et al. 2009, Li et al. 2008), resulting in a signal decrease and increased replicate variability. We noticed that our chosen RiboAmp® mRNA amplification (Arcturus/Applied Biosystems) did not notably amplify globin mRNA (II, Figure 1). Therefore, although globin mRNA is over-represented in RNA isolated by both sample collection methods, additional globin depletion kits are not necessary with RiboAmp. Whereas Shou et al. claim reduced haemoglobin interference with TEMPUS tubes after a Affymetrix small sample protocol (Shou et al. 2005), our data suggests similar performance for both TEMPUS and PAXgene tubes after RiboAmp RNA amplification (Figure 3). We also detected that enzymatic depletion of globin transcript reduces the quality of total RNA and thus is not recommended (II, Figure 1).

	TEMPUS					PAXgene						INTENSITY	
Samples→ ↓Genes	T1s1	T2s1	T3s1	T1s2	T2s2	T3s2	P1s1	P2s1	P3s1	P1s2	P2s2	P3s2	SCALE
HBA1													60000
HBA2													45000
HBB													30000
HBD													15000
HBG1													7500
HBG2													3750

Figure 3. Samples collected using TEMPUS and PAXgene methods (columns) show similar expression of hemoglobin genes (rows) on Illumina Sentrix HumanRef-8 Expression BeadChips after RiboAmp OA 1 Round RNA Amplification. Numbers one and two after the tube ID (T=Tempus, P=PAXgene) indicate different individuals, whereas suffixes s1 and s2 indicate the order in which the samples were collected.

Altogether 5200 transcripts, about 20% of all the transcripts on Illumina Sentrix HumanRef-8 Expression BeadChip, were detected in RNA derived from TEMPUS, PAXgene or peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). Roughly 4000 transcripts were detected in each different sample type and 3000 of those transcripts were common to all three (II, Supplemental Figure 1). Although the comparison of differential expression between PBMC pool and peripheral blood collected with RNA stabilizing methods was not in our interest, the pooled reference was included in the study as a common reference sample in studies requiring comparative dual-label hybridization. In a large pooled sample, highly expressed transcripts will mask those with low abundance. For reliable measurement of relative expression in TEMPUS or PAXgene samples against the PBMC pool on the same array, it is important that the same transcripts are present with both methods. High overlap with PBMC also demonstrates that most of the signal detected with the stabilizing collection tubes arises from mononuclear cells.

Overall similarity of the three sample types was further assessed with principal component analysis (PCA) and Euclidean clustering. In addition, Pearson product moment correlation coefficients were calculated. The correlation within TEMPUS or PAXgene samples is remarkably good ($r\geq0.94$) when samples are drawn at the same time. In PAXgene tubes collected to test stability of the RNA in frozen tubes after 6, 18 and 24 month storage periods (Samples P4 and P5 in Figure 4), intra-individual correlation was even higher ($r\geq0.98$). The same phenomenon appeared when principal component analysis (PCA) and Euclidean clustering were applied on differentially expressed transcripts (Figure 4); microarray experiments are grouped according to sample types and the time of the sample collection.



Figure 4. Principal component analysis (PCA) and clustering results of gene-expression measured from TEMPUS (T1-3) and PAXgene (P1-3) tubes and from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (F). Numbers after the sample ID indicate different individuals and suffixes s1-s4 the order in which the samples were collected. For PBMC samples F1 and F2 indicate technical replicates from the same pooled sample. Left: PCA shows closer distribution of TEMPUS samples (solid ellipse) as compared to PAXgene samples (dotted ellipse). The PAXgene results obtained after freezing (dashed ellipse) and PBMC samples (F1 and F2 at the bottom) form clear distinct clusters. **Right:** The euclidean cluster tree (complete linkage) shows TEMPUS samples taken to test stability in response to freezing (P4 and P5) are separated from the others. The PBMC samples (F1 and F2) form their own cluster closer to PAXgene than TEMPUS samples.

The studies reported in publications III and IV of this thesis give examples of clinical studies where sample collection is continuous and samples are collected from the same individual as a function of time. In both studies, collected samples had to be transported and stored for extended periods prior to the centralized processing of the samples of interest. As a benefit, this sample collection strategy allows better planning of the experiments. Large prospective studies can be carried out so that only a subset of all collected samples will be processed, rather than processing every single sample before knowing which ones to include based on the clinical data. Technical bias is also likely to reduce when the samples are processed in representative batches - or all in parallel. To overtake sample collection problems, we demonstrated that PAXgene[™] tubes can be frozen to -70°C for extended storage and transportation. Undoubtedly, the same applies for TEMPUS[™] tubes, which have been tested and adapted for other studies (Shou et al. 2005, Matheson et al. 2008, Prezeau et al. 2006). Today both two methods are available with manual and automated extraction systems, but at the time the data was generated the TEMPUS[™] system was only available with an automated ABI 6100 extraction instrument (Applied Biosystems). In our case studies, the flexibility of the manual spin-column RNA purification favored the selection of PAXgene™ Blood RNA kit.

In these measurements, we have observed that, hundreds of transcripts are differentially expressed solely as a result of collection in either the PAXgene[™] or

TEMPUS[™] tubes; therefore, usage of both tube types in the same experimental setup cannot be recommended. Taken together, we have here successfully demonstrated the long-term stability of RNA as frozen in PAXgene[™] tubes and that PAXgene[™] Blood RNA method combined with RiboAmp[®] mRNA amplification is suitable for biomarker discovery in clinical studies.

5.2.2 Relative proportions of lymphocyte sub-populations show little or no variation in longitudinal peripheral blood samples

Cellular composition has been shown to affect transcriptional profiles measured from peripheral blood RNA extracted with the PAXgene Blood RNA System (Qiagen/BD), and at the same time temporal variation was detected in interindividual samples collected (Whitney et al. 2003). Thus, we wanted to see the level of intra-individual variation in different lymphocyte populations in pre-diabetic children and their matched control population. Three consecutive follow-up samples were analyzed from 30 pairs of children with diabetes associated autoantibodies and their controls (herein Ab^{\dagger} and Ab^{\dagger} , respectively). There was little longitudinal variation in any of the measured lymphocyte subpopulations (Figure 5), indicating that changes in transcription profiles would reflect intracellular modifications rather than changes in relative proportions of peripheral blood lymphocyte populations. Statistical analysis with a T-test did not reveal any significant changes between the groups of Ab⁺ and Ab⁻ children. Temporal variation in lymphocyte subpopulations was not detected in either group, although there was a slightly significant increase of activated T lymphocytes in Ab^{+} children between the first and second samples. It seems that the proportion of the activated T lymphocytes keeps increasing in Ab⁺ children, but is not anymore significant due to high inter-individual variation. The reported percentage increase of activation markers, including HLA-DR, from infancy to adulthood (Hulstaert et al. 1994) and similar trend seen in Ab children indicate that this is associated with maturation rather than being a consequence of immune activation in Ab^+ children.

Whitney et al. also reported a gender related cluster of differentially expressed autosomal transcripts in adults (Whitney et al. 2003) and gender bias is widely associated with autoimmunity (Zandman-Goddard et al. 2007). Thus, it might be worthwhile to study the gender effect on gene expression also in juvenile cohort. However, as we are here studying for difference in intra-individual variation between Ab⁺ and Ab⁻ children within a longitudinal sample collection, gender effect is abrogated. Age was not considered in this analysis either, as with few exceptions the samples were collected between the ages of 1 and 5 years, and the relative sizes of the subpopulations fall into the expected range (Hannet et al. 1992). We did not detect such inter- or intra-individual variation over time, or differences between control and at risk T1D populations, that could be used to match samples for the microarray analysis.



Figure 5. Average distribution of T lymphocytes (CD3), B lymphocytes (CD19), helper/induced lymphocytes (CD4), suppressor/cytotoxic lymphocytes (CD8), natural killer lymphocytes (CD15/56), activated T lymphocytes (HLA-DR) and regulatory type T cells (CD4/CD25) is similar between the groups of children with diabetes-associated autoantibodies (Ab⁺) and controls (Ab⁻). Within both groups, the relative proportions of the lymphocyte populations remain relatively constant over time. The only statistically significant difference (T-test, p < 0.05) resulted between first and second sample in activated T lymphocytes from Ab+ children (marked with an asterix).

5.3 Gene-expression signatures characterizing activity of organ-specific autoimmune diseases

5.3.1 Tolerogenic HLA-G was associated to postpartum-activation of multiple sclerosis

In order to assess the determinants of the immune system that modulate pregnancyrelated disease activity in MS, transcriptional profiles from three patients with relapsing-remitting MS were compared to those measured from matched pregnant controls. Samples collected during the third trimester of pregnancy and 4 – 5 weeks postpartum were analyzed with ImmunoChip cDNA microarray. Principal component analysis of the filtered and normalized array data indicated clear difference in postpartum gene regulation between patients and controls (III, Supplemental Figure 1). We therefore focused on those transcripts that behave differentially between patients and controls when postpartum samples are compared to the samples from the last pregnancy trimester.

Of the few transcripts with indisputably differential regulation in patients and controls, HLA-G was the most prominent one (III, Figure 1). The expression of HLA-G was verified in wider sample material using Q-RT-PCR for HLA-G mRNA levels in PBMC (III, Figure 2A-B), ELISA for soluble HLA-G (III, Figure 3) and flow cytometry to investigate frequency and relative changes of HLA-G expressing PBMC (III, Figure 2C-

F). All verification assays corroborated the detected decrease in HLA-G activity, when postpartum disease activity was considered in the analyses. In the stable group of MS patients, a decrease of HLA-G protein level was not detected (III, Figure 2D and 2F). This indicates that HLA-G is critically involved in the immunoregulatory mechanism that balances inflammatory disease activity in MS.

HLA-G is a non-classical class I MHC molecule that is capable of direct inhibition of virtually all immune-effector subset, thus providing a shield against inflammation (Carosella and Lemaoult 2011). In addition, HLA-G can influence the development of regulatory and suppressor T cells (Feger et al. 2007, LeMaoult et al. 2004). In a recent study assessing the frequencies of circulating Th17 and Treg cells in a corresponding sample collection setting to ours, neither Th17 nor Treg cells were involved in MS amelioration or disease course alteration (Neuteboom et al. 2010). On the other hand, HLA-G⁺ Treg cells are shown to accumulate at the sites of MS inflammation (Wiendl et al. 2005) and their function is not impaired in MS patients (Zozulya and Wiendl 2008). Thus, the suggested decrease of HLA-G⁺ CD4⁺ and HLA-G⁺ CD8⁺ lymphocytes in patients with increased disease activity may indicate a loss in functionally relevant HLA-G⁺ Treg cell population. Furthermore, the lower baseline level of HLA-G in MS patients, compared to controls, implicates the loss in tolerogenic function of HLA-G in regulation of disease activity.

In conclusion, we identified HLA-G as an immunoinhibitory molecule with an inverse correlation to activity of MS. The protective role of HLA-G in MS is further supported by decreased levels of soluble HLA-G in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of relapsing-remitting MS patients with high disease activity (Fainardi et al. 2008). It remains to be seen if peripheral levels of HLA-G could predict MS activity or probability of relapses. Although the regulation mechanisms of HLA-G are still unclear, it might also provide therapeutic strategies to target autoinflammation.

5.3.2 Early suppression of immune response pathways characterizes the prediabetic phase in T1D-prone children

Prospective peripheral blood samples from children who had developed T1D associated autoantibodies (Ab^{+}) and eventually clinical T1D were analyzed to reveal transcriptional profile of diabetes-associated autoimmunity. PAXgene blood RNA samples were collected to monitor the disease progression in altogether five children, from which two remained Ab⁺ and three progressed to clinical T1D. For T1D progressors, age, gender, birthplace and HLA-genotype matched controls with no diabetes-associated autoantibodies were also monitored. Unsupervised principal component analysis (PCA) was applied to visualize the overall variation of genome-wide transcription profiles in altogether 60 samples. Transcriptional profiles of autoantibody positive (Ab^{+}) children and the T1D progressors are indistinguishable in the two-dimensional plot of the first two principal components (IV, Figure 1A), suggesting that the primary determinants of global gene-expression overlap between Ab⁺ children and those who progress to clinical T1D. The segregating variation in gene-expression was indeed seen already in the first samples collected

soon after autoantibody appearance. Thus, samples collected already before seroconversion would better characterize the change in transcriptional profiles.

Closer investigation of differential longitudinal variation in the expression of individual transcripts revealed consistent changes in 520 probe sets representing 424 different genes, when Ab⁺ children and T1D progressors were compared to the healthy Ab⁻ controls. Roughly, half of the probe sets were up- and the other half down-regulated. The functionality of the analysis setup was demonstrated by the detection of several genes with previous association to T1D, such as PTPN22/LYP, dexamethasone-induced transcript (DEXI), LPS-induced TN factor (LITAF) and nipsnap homolog 1 (NIPSNAP1) (Barrett et al. 2009, Bottini et al. 2004, Hermann et al. 2006). In addition, altogether 18 genes from the HLA region were detected. Ingenuity Pathways Analysis (Ingenuity® Systems, www.ingenuity.com) and gene set enrichment analysis (GSEA) (Subramanian et al. 2005) were then applied to emphasize co-expression networks within the differentially expressed gene set and to detect dynamic activation/repression of molecular pathways during T1D progression, respectively.

IPA clustering was able to identify a highly connected network of down-regulated immune system genes (IV, Figure 2) with biological functions assigned to cellular growth and proliferation ($p = 10^{-7}$), hematological system development and function $(p = 10^{-7})$ and immunological disease $(p = 10^{-8})$. The repression of HLA region was prominent and not restricted to the Class II genes, but HLA Class I genes are also present. The association of this network to central immune system genes, such as T cell receptor (TCR), insulin, NF-kB and transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP), demonstrates that Ab^{+} children who are progressing towards clinical T1D suffer from a massive down-regulation of genes contributing to critical functions of the immune system. General suppression of immune response pathways was further demonstrated in GSEA analysis performed separately on samples collected 0 - 6 months after seroconversion or 0 - 3 months preceding T1D diagnosis, where altogether 37 down-regulated and only 3 up-regulated pathways were detected (IV, Table 2). Of the down-regulated pathways, 13 are shared between early and late detection points. In addition to down-regulation of ribosomal pathways, indicating reduced activity of translational machinery, these shared pathways were related to functions that are likely to be relevant for T1D development, such as lymphocyte signaling and proliferation, antigen procession and presentation. Interestingly, in a meta-analysis with published GWAS data for T1D and six other common diseases, significantly overrepresented pathways for T1D show overlap with the pathways we detected (Torkamani et al. 2008).

The detected down-regulation in translational activity of the immune system is in contradiction with previous attempts to characterize T1D related transcriptional profiles in peripheral blood cells, where activation rather than suppression of immunological functions has been reported (Kaizer et al. 2007, Collins et al. 2006, Reynier et al. 2010). All these studies identified different gene sets suggesting proinflammatory response in T1D patients. This is not surprising regarding the differences in sample collection and processing. Only one of the studies used RNA a stabilizing blood collection system, and different microarray platforms and data analysis methods were applied. In a recent review article Carey, Purohit and She argue in favor of the pro-inflammatory state in T1D patients and in particular criticize our study on the basis of the limited number of different subjects (Carey et al. 2010). However, they fail to notice that in our longitudinal follow-up the high number of biological replicates increases study power. In addition, our study setting is unique. Instead of measuring relative gene-expression differences between two different conditions, our results demonstrate consistent repression of immune system genes in each individual with ongoing T1D autoinflammation.

Down-regulation of genes implicated in the immune system has been previously detected in CD4⁺ T cells from T1D patients (Orban et al. 2007, Jailwala et al. 2009). In general, our results are in line with previous studies that show anergic and impaired TCR signaling in patients with T1D (Salojin et al. 1998, Dosch et al. 1999). An attenuated lymphocyte activation capacity in T1D may result from the lack of free ribosomal proteins (Cooper and Braverman 1977, Kay et al. 1975), which is supported by detected down-regulation of ribosomal pathways. Several of the other pathways are linked with T1D also. Insulin is a major autoantigen in T1D (Nakayama et al. 2005) and down-regulated thymic expression of insulin has been associated with insulin gene polymorphism (Pugliese et al. 1997). Furthermore, low insulin expression level in the thymus may lead to the escape of insulin-reactive T-cells (Vafiadis et al. 1997). Down-regulation of insulin signaling may be a result from ongoing autoimmunity against insulin that first leads to decreased insulin expression, which is then reflected at a systemic level repression of insulin-regulated genes and pathways. Other down-regulated pathways with T1D associated genes include IL-2 receptor signaling (Yamanouchi et al. 2007) and CSK, a negative regulator of PTPN22 (Bottini et al. 2004, Vang et al. 2005). The detected down-regulation of IL-12 receptor β supports the function of IL-2 in T1D pathogenesis and the defect in IL-2 signaling may cause impairment of Treg cells (Jailwala et al. 2009, Kaye et al. 1986). Defects in the NF-kB and CD40 pathways have been reported in patients with T1D and both these pathways are important for the function of antigen presenting cells (Mollah et al. 2008). Our results also suggest prediabetic functional defects in CD8⁺ T cells and B cells, which together have been proposed to promote T1D development (Marino and Grey 2008).

At the late phase of T1D, several pathways were linked to signaling via PI3K. PI3K is an upstream activator of serine/threonine kinase AKT, a key player in growth, proliferation, metabolism and survival (Manning and Cantley 2007). PI3K/AKT signaling also inactivates NFAT (Okkenhaug et al. 2007), which fits to our observed up-regulation of the NFAT pathway in late samples preceding clinical T1D. In lymphocytes, PI3K has a pivotal role in insulin receptor and antigen receptor signaling. Especially the catalytic p110 δ isoform, encoded by PI3KCD that is downregulated in our data, is important for T and B cell development and function (Okkenhaug et al. 2007, Bilancio et al. 2006, Okkenhaug et al. 2002). In type 2 diabetes PI3K/AKT signaling has been associated with beta-cell survival and insulin resistance (Elghazi and Bernal-Mizrachi 2009), but no studies with T1D have appeared yet. 5.3.3 Decreased transcriptional activity of MHC Class Ib molecules was associated with autoimmune activation in both MS and T1D

Autoimmune susceptibility alleles are found independently from HLA Class II (HLA-DR/DQ) locus from classical HLA class Ia (HLA-A and HLA-B) and non-classical HLA class lb (HLA-E, HLA-F and HLA-G) (Eike et al. 2009, Hodgkinson et al. 2000, Nejentsev et al. 2007, Burfoot et al. 2008). Class Ib molecules HLA-E, HLA-F and HLA-G have all been implicated in Treg cell mediated immunity. HLA-F is a surface marker of activated lymphocytes and regardless of Treg cells, all B cells, NK cells, monocytes and T cells express HLA-F after activation (Lee et al. 2010); the authors suggest that this activation induced surface expression of HLA-F is a message of immune system activation to the Treg cells. On the other hand, we know that HLA-G can influence the development of regulatory and suppressor T cells (Feger et al. 2007, LeMaoult et al. 2004) and in MS the decrease of HLA-G⁺ CD4⁺ and HLA-G⁺ CD8⁺ lymphocytes was associated with increased post-partum disease activity, probably due to a loss in functionally relevant HLA- G^+ Treg cell population. Also HLA-E may induce autoinflammation via impaired regulatory mechanism: Defects in HLA-E-restricted CD8⁺ Treg cells to discriminate self- and non-self peptides in the periphery are linked to development and control of human T1D (Jiang et al. 2010). Thus, it is intriguing to speculate that lost transcriptional activity of these MHC Class Ib molecules could impair the delicate regulatory balance maintained by Treg cells and push the immune system towards autoimmune disease.

The HLA gene transcripts repressed in our studies included the non-classical class I MHC molecules (class Ib) HLA-E, -F, and -G. All three of which were down-regulated in children progressing towards T1D. In MS, not only HLA-G but also HLA-F was down-regulated when samples collected during and after pregnancy in MS patients were compared to healthy controls. The transcriptional profile of HLA-F was very similar to that of HLA-G, but the expression ratios were not as remarkable and thus less attention was paid for HLA-F when the results were first analyzed. More recently, HLA-F has been associated with increased susceptibility to MS in a Tasmanian population (Burfoot et al. 2008). Despite the similarity in detected expression profiles, these three class Ib genes differ in the nature of their transcriptional regulation (Gobin and van den Elsen 2000).

Contrary to the decreased peripheral blood HLA expression in children progressing towards T1D, up-regulation of all three has been reported in human pancreas and purified islets in T1D already at day 5 after the disease onset (Planas et al. 2010). It is probable that this up-regulation is not reflected in peripheral blood at all, or it would require more samples to be collected at later time points. Previously, downregulation of HLA Class II expression has been reported in peripheral monocytes of T1D patients and down-regulation of HLA has been suggested to protect from ongoing autoimmunity (Parkkonen et al. 1993). For HLA Class I, either downregulated (Fu et al. 1993, Faustman et al. 1991) or normal (Hao et al. 1996), expression has been reported in peripheral blood lymphocytes in T1D. The level of soluble HLA-G was studied in the three children who progressed to T1D (IV), using samples collected in parallel with the PAXgene tubes for transcriptional profiling. However, no correlation was seen with soluble HLA-G and T1D progression (unpublished data). The less dramatic change in physiological conditions may partly explain this lack of correlation. Also, whereas soluble HLA-G circulating in maternal blood is known to mediate immunosuppressive functions during pregnancy (Hunt 2006), in T1D related autoimmunity the soluble forms of HLA-G may not be as important as its capability to influence the development of regulatory and suppressor T cells (Feger et al. 2007, LeMaoult et al. 2004). T1D-related surface expression of HLA-G in different lymphocyte subpopulations remains to be characterized.

6. CONCLUSIONS

In this Ph.D. thesis, transcriptional profiling with microarrays was used to monitor differentially expressed gene transcripts in peripheral blood of individuals with an autoimmune disease. Although the methods to capture whole genome transcriptional profiles in peripheral blood are now well established and readily available, due to status of this methodology at the beginning of this study, the first goal of this thesis work was to develop and characterize a cDNA microarray customized for targeted study of signal transduction and molecular networks in immune-mediated diseases. Furthermore, clinical sample collection and processing were optimized to allow gene-expression profiling of peripheral blood samples resulting minute amounts of total RNA.

The ImmunoChip cDNA microarray manufactured at the Finnish DNA Microarray Centre proved to be a valuable tool for transcriptional profiling of immune-mediated diseases. The agreement between ImmunoChip, Q-RT-PCR and commercial oligonucleotide microarrays was shown in a case study of T cell differentiation and the ImmunoChip was then used to study pregnancy related alterations in geneexpression in patients with multiple sclerosis. In spite of the success with the ImmunoChip, the rapid expansion of microarray technologies and increased competition between commercial array platforms allowed transition to genomewide transcriptional profiling during between the studies included in this Ph.D. thesis. However, the methodology itself is still valid for clinical disease monitoring by gene-expression profiling of peripheral blood.

Characterization of pregnancy-related disease activity in MS identified a HLA class lb molecule HLA-G as an immunoinhibitory molecule with inverse correlation to disease activity. HLA-G is known to influence maternal-fetal tolerance in pregnancy, and to participate in control of the immune system by directly inhibiting virtually all immune-effector subset. All verification assays corroborated the decreased HLA-G activity in patients with increased postpartum disease activity. In the stable group of MS patients a decrease of HLA-G at the protein level was not detected, indicating that HLA-G is critically involved in the immunoregulatory mechanism that balances inflammatory disease activity in MS. Furthermore, using data from our two independent studies with MS and T1D, decreased peripheral blood transcriptional activity of HLA class Ib molecules HLA-E, HLA-F and HLA-G was associated with organ-specific autoimmunity. Recent studies have implicated all three, HLA-E, HLA-F and HLA-G, in development and function of Treg cells. Thus, further studies on the role of HLA class Ib molecules in development of autoimmunity are suggested.

Investigation of transcriptional profiles of prospective whole-blood samples from children with T1D-associated autoantibodies and subsequent development of T1D revealed general suppression of immune response pathways, including previously known key components of the immune system and several novel T1D-associated pathways. However, the autoinflammation towards T1D was clearly visible already in the first analyzed samples after appearance of autoantibodies, and thus timing of transcriptional changes with the initiation of autoimmune inflammation was not possible. Studies on samples collected before and after seroconversion might further and more precisely characterize the molecular mechanisms leading to T1D. Further studies should also address epigenetic control of gene expression, since epigenetic factors are potential mediators for gene – environment interaction and have recently been implicated in regulation of autoimmunity.

Taken together, these studies have demonstrated the potential of transcriptional profiling in biomedical research and diagnostics. Transcriptional profiling of patients at different stages of the disease is a functional approach to identify factors influential for the disease activity, and whole-blood samples drawn into RNA stabilizing collection tubes allow this disease monitoring without *ex vivo* manipulation altering the expression profiles. Moreover, longitudinal genome-wide data was shown to reveal dynamic changes that are relevant for the disease but might be completely missed in conventional cross-sectional studies or in genome-wide association studies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Turku Centre for Biotechnology (CBT), University of Turku and Åbo Akademi University and in the Department of Medical Biochemistry and Genetics, University of Turku. I am grateful to my supervisor, Director of the CBT, Professor Riitta Lahesmaa, for giving me the opportunity to accomplish my PhD thesis in her Molecular Immunology research group. I would also like to acknowledge her for providing excellent facilities and the inspiring and innovative working atmosphere.

I want to express my gratitude to Professor Olli Simell for the opportunity to participate in the unique and fascinating DIPP project.

I am grateful to the National Graduate School in Informational and Structural Biology (ISB) and its Director, Professor Mark Johnsson, for the position at the graduate school, organizing interesting multidisciplinary education and research training, and financial support to participate scientific meetings abroad. The professors Jukka Finne and Klaus Elenius are acknowledged for giving the home for my thesis at the department of Medical Biochemistry and Genetics.

Docent Petri Auvinen and Docent Jukka Partanen are acknowledged for their careful review of my thesis and valuable comments and suggestions. Dr. Robert Moulder is warmly thanked for thorough language revision of the thesis.

I would like to thank my co-authors, Professor Olli Simell, Professor Heikki Hyöty, Professor Jorma Ilonen, Professor Mikael Knip, Professor Olli Nevalainen, Professor Heinz Wiendl, Docent Laura Airas, Docent Tero Aittokallio, Docent Riitta Veijola, Dr. Laura Elo-Uhlgren, Dr. Yu-Hwa Huang, Dr. Juha Mykkänen, Dr. Satu Simell, Dr. Tuula Simell, Dr. Anne West, Henna Kallionpää, Mikko Katajamaa, Tapio Lönnberg and Rolf Sara. I appreciate your important contribution for these projects.

This thesis would not have been possible without the highly skillfulled technicians. Especially, I want to thank Arja Reinikainen and Katja Waenerberg for processing the vast amount of blood samples obtained from the DIPP study. Marjo Hakkarainen, Sarita Heinonen, Päivi Junni, Marjo Linja, Outi Melin, Marju Niskala, Paula Suominen and Eveliina Virtanen are also warmly acknowledged for their invaluable help in the laboratory. The laboratory staff at the DIPP clinic are acknowledged for collecting the indispensable sample material.

The excellent staff at the CBT are warmly thanked for all their help and expertise. Sirkku Grönroos, Eva Hirvensalo and Aila Jasmavaara are warmly acknowledged for giving all the help an office can provide. Mårten Hedman and Petri Vahakoski are thanked for their help with computers and Katja Kimppa for bioinformatics support. Pasi Viljakainen and Juha Stranden are acknowledged for taking care of the instruments and facilities. The rest of the BTK staff is also deeply thanked for keeping things running smoothly.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to all those past and current members of the ATLAS group I was privileged to befriend during the years. The working environment there is something very special and it was a great pleasure to spend some ATLAS-time again, while writing this thesis. I am indebted to all of you, especially, Dr. Craig Dixon, Dr. Jan-Jonas Filén, Dr. Sanna Filén, Dr. Kirsi Granberg, Dr. Waltteri Hosia, Henna Kallionpää, Juha Korhonen, Minna Kyläniemi, Dr. Riikka Lund, Tapio Lönnberg, Dr. Maritta Löytömäki, Dr. Robert Moulder, Dr. Juha Mykkänen, Elisa Närvä, Pekka Ojala, Docent Omid Rasool, Dr. Arsi Rosengren, Dr. Johanna Tahvanainen, Soile Tuomela and Dr. Emmi Ylikoski.

I owe my warmest thanks to all my friends for all the memorable moments spent with you.

I wish to thank my colleagues and supervisors at PerkinElmer Diagnostics Turku site for their understanding and support for my thesis project.

I feel deep gratitude to Elina's and my families for all the support and help you have provided.

Finally, my sincerest thanks go to my wife Elina and daughters Lotta and Alisa. Thank you for being there and reminding me what really is most important in life.

This work was financially supported by the Academy of Finland, the Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation (Tekes), Turku University Hospital Research Fund, the Finnish Medical Foundation, the Finnish Neurological Foundation, the German Research Foundation, the Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation (JDRF), the Sigrid Jusélius Foundation, the Turku University Foundation, The Cultural Foundation of South-Western Finland, and the Finnish-Norwegian Medical Foundation.

Turku, September 22nd, 2011

REFERENCES

- Achiron, A., Feldman, A., Mandel, M. and Gurevich, M. (2007). Impaired expression of peripheral blood apoptotic-related gene transcripts in acute multiple sclerosis relapse. *Ann.N.Y.Acad. Sci.* 1107. 155-167.
- Aittokallio, T., Kurki, M., Nevalainen, O., Nikula, T., West, A. and Lahesmaa, R. (2003). Computational strategies for analyzing data in gene expression microarray experiments. J.Bioinform Comput. Biol. 1, 541-586.
- Allison, D.B., Cui, X., Page, G.P. and Sabripour, M. (2006). Microarray data analysis: from disarray to consolidation and consensus. *Nat.Rev.Genet.* 7, 55-65.
- Allison, D.B., Gadbury, G.L., Heo, M., Fernández, J.R., Lee, C., Prolla, T.A. and Weindruch, R. (2002). A mixture model approach for the analysis of microarray gene expression data. *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis* 39, 1-20.
- Ambroise, C. and McLachlan, G.J. (2002). Selection bias in gene extraction on the basis of microarray geneexpression data. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 99, 6562-6566.
- Anaya, J.M., Gomez, L. and Castiblanco, J. (2006). Is there a common genetic basis for autoimmune diseases? *Clin.Dev.Immunol.* 13, 185-195.
- Anderson, A.C., Waldner, H., Turchin, V., Jabs, C., Prabhu Das, M., Kuchroo, V.K. and Nicholson, L.B. (2000). Autoantigen-responsive T cell clones demonstrate unfocused TCR cross-reactivity toward multiple related ligands: implications for autoimmunity. *Cell.Immunol.* 202, 88-96.
- Anderton, S.M. and Wraith, D.C. (2002). Selection and fine-tuning of the autoimmune T-cell repertoire. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 2, 487-498.
- Ashburner, M., Ball, C.A., Blake, J.A., Botstein, D., Butler, H., Cherry, J.M., Davis, A.P., Dolinski, K., Dwight, S.S., Eppig, J.T., Harris, M.A., Hill, D.P., Issel-Tarver, L., Kasarskis, A., Lewis, S., Matese, J.C., Richardson, J.E., Ringwald, M., Rubin, G.M. and Sherlock, G. (2000). Gene ontology: tool for the unification of biology. The Gene Ontology Consortium. *Nat.Genet.* 25, 25-29.
- Atabani, S.F., Thio, C.L., Divanovic, S., Trompette, A., Belkaid, Y., Thomas, D.L. and Karp, C.L. (2005). Association of CTLA4 polymorphism with regulatory T cell frequency. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 35, 2157-2162.
- Babbe, H., Roers, A., Waisman, A., Lassmann, H., Goebels, N., Hohlfeld, R., Friese, M., Schroder, R., Deckert, M., Schmidt, S., Ravid, R. and Rajewsky, K. (2000). Clonal expansions of CD8(+) T cells dominate the T cell infiltrate in active multiple sclerosis lesions as shown by micromanipulation and single cell polymerase chain reaction. J.Exp.Med. 192, 393-404.
- Bach, J.F. (2002). The effect of infections on susceptibility to autoimmune and allergic diseases. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 347, 911-920.
- Bach, J. (2001). Protective Role of Infections and Vaccinations on Autoimmune Diseases. *Journal of Autoimmunity* 16, 347-353.
- Baechler, E.C., Batliwalla, F.M., Karypis, G., Gaffney, P.M., Moser, K., Ortmann, W.A., Espe, K.J., Balasubramanian, S., Hughes, K.M., Chan, J.P., Begovich, A., Chang, S.Y., Gregersen, P.K. and Behrens, T.W. (2004). Expression levels for many genes in human peripheral blood cells are highly sensitive to ex vivo incubation. *Genes Immun.* 5, 347-353.

- Bair, E. and Tibshirani, R. (2004). Semi-supervised methods to predict patient survival from gene expression data. *PLoS Biol.* 2, E108.
- Baldi, P. and Long, A.D. (2001). A Bayesian framework for the analysis of microarray expression data: regularized t -test and statistical inferences of gene changes. *Bioinformatics* 17, 509-519.
- Ball, C.A. and Brazma, A. (2006). MGED standards: work in progress. *OMICS* 10, 138-144.
- Ball, C.A., Sherlock, G., Parkinson, H., Rocca-Sera, P., Brooksbank, C., Causton, H.C., Cavalieri, D., Gaasterland, T., Hingamp, P., Holstege, F., Ringwald, M., Spellman, P., Stoeckert, C.J.,Jr, Stewart, J.E., Taylor, R., Brazma, A., Quackenbush, J. and Microarray Gene Expression Data (MGED) Society (2002). Standards for microarray data. *Science* 298, 539.
- Barker, C.S., Griffin, C., Dolganov, G.M., Hanspers, K., Yang, J.Y. and Erle, D.J. (2005). Increased DNA microarray hybridization specificity using sscDNA targets. *BMC Genomics* 6, 57.
- Barrett, J.C., Clayton, D.G., Concannon, P., Akolkar, B., Cooper, J.D., Erlich, H.A., Julier, C., Morahan, G., Nerup, J., Nierras, C., Plagnol, V., Pociot, F., Schuilenburg, H., Smyth, D.J., Stevens, H., Todd, J.A., Walker, N.M., Rich, S.S. and The Type 1 Diabetes Genetics Consortium (2009). Genome-wide association study and metaanalysis find that over 40 loci affect risk of type 1 diabetes. *Nat.Genet.* 41, 703-707.
- Barron, L., Knoechel, B., Lohr, J. and Abbas, A.K. (2008). Cutting Edge: Contributions of Apoptosis and Anergy to Systemic T Cell Tolerance. J.Immunol. 180, 2762-2766.
- Baugh, L.R., Hill, A.A., Brown, E.L. and Hunter, C.P. (2001). Quantitative analysis of mRNA amplification by in vitro transcription. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 29, E29.
- Baum, M., Bielau, S., Rittner, N., Schmid, K., Eggelbusch, K., Dahms, M., Schlauersbach, A., Tahedl, H., Beier, M., Guimil, R., Scheffler, M., Hermann, C., Funk, J.M., Wixmerten, A., Rebscher, H., Honig, M., Andreae, C., Buchner, D., Moschel, E., Glathe, A., Jager, E., Thom, M., Greil, A., Bestvater, F., Obermeier, F., Burgmaier, J., Thome, K., Weichert, S., Hein, S., Binnewies, T., Foitzik, V., Muller, M., Stahler, C.F. and Stahler, P.F. (2003). Validation of a novel, fully integrated and flexible microarray benchtop facility for gene expression profiling. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 31, E151.
- Bauquet, A.T., Jin, H., Paterson, A.M., Mitsdoerffer, M., Ho, I.C., Sharpe, A.H. and Kuchroo, V.K. (2009). The costimulatory molecule ICOS regulates the expression of c-Maf and IL-21 in the development of follicular T helper cells and TH-17 cells. Nat. Immunol. 10, 167-175.
- Bebo, B.F., Jr and Dveksler, G.S. (2005). Evidence that pregnancy specific glycoproteins regulate T-Cell function and inflammatory autoimmune disease during pregnancy. *Curr.Drug Targets Inflamm.Allergy* 4, 231-237.
- Beissbarth, T., Fellenberg, K., Brors, B., Arribas-Prat, R., Boer, J., Hauser, N.C., Scheideler, M., Hoheisel, J.D., Schutz, G., Poustka, A. and Vingron, M. (2000). Processing and quality control of DNA array hybridization data. *Bioinformatics* 16, 1014-1022.
- Bemmo, A., Benovoy, D., Kwan, T., Gaffney, D.J., Jensen, R.V. and Majewski, J. (2008). Gene expression and isoform variation analysis using Affymetrix Exon Arrays. *BMC Genomics* 9, 529.

- Benjamini, Y. and Hochberg, Y. (1995). Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society.Series B (Methodological)* 57, 289-300.
- Bennett, C.L., Christie, J., Ramsdell, F., Brunkow, M.E., Ferguson, P.J., Whitesell, L., Kelly, T.E., Saulsbury, F.T., Chance, P.F. and Ochs, H.D. (2001). The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, Xlinked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. Nat.Genet. 27, 20-21.
- Bennett, S.T., Lucassen, A.M., Gough, S.C., Powell, E.E., Undlien, D.E., Pritchard, L.E., Merriman, M.E., Kawaguchi, Y., Dronsfield, M.J. and Pociot, F. (1995). Susceptibility to human type 1 diabetes at IDDM2 is determined by tandem repeat variation at the insulin gene minisatellite locus. *Nat. Genet.* 9, 284-292.
- Bilancio, A., Okkenhaug, K., Camps, M., Emery, J.L., Ruckle, T., Rommel, C. and Vanhaesebroeck, B. (2006). Key role of the p110delta isoform of P13K in B-cell antigen and IL-4 receptor signaling: comparative analysis of genetic and pharmacologic interference with p110delta function in B cells. *Blood* 107, 642-650.
- Biocarta Pathway Collection , http://www.biocarta.com/genes/allPathways.asp.
- Bisikirska, B., Colgan, J., Luban, J., Bluestone, J.A. and Herold, K.C. (2005). TCR stimulation with modified anti-CD3 mAb expands CD8+ T cell population and induces CD8+CD25+ Tregs. J.Clin.Invest. 115, 2904-2913.
- Bluestone, J.A., Herold, K. and Eisenbarth, G. (2010). Genetics, pathogenesis and clinical interventions in type 1 diabetes. *Nature* 464, 1293-1300.
- Bolstad, B.M., Irizarry, R.A., Astrand, M. and Speed, T.P. (2003). A comparison of normalization methods for high density oligonucleotide array data based on variance and bias. *Bioinformatics* 19, 185-193.
- Boratyn, G.M., Datta, S. and Datta, S. (2006). Biologically supervised hierarchical clustering algorithms for gene expression data. *Conf.Proc.IEEE Eng.Med.Biol.Soc.* 1, 5515-5518.
- Bottini, N., Musumeci, L., Alonso, A., Rahmouni, S., Nika, K., Rostamkhani, M., MacMurray, J., Meloni, G.F., Lucarelli, P., Pellecchia, M., Eisenbarth, G.S., Comings, D. and Mustelin, T. (2004). A functional variant of lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase is associated with type I diabetes. *Nat.Genet.* 36, 337-338.
- Bradley, L.M., Asensio, V.C., Schioetz, L., Harbertson, J., Krahl, T., Patstone, G., Woolf, N., Campbell, I.L. and Sarvetnick, N. (1999). Islet-Specific Th1, But Not Th2, Cells Secrete Multiple Chemokines and Promote Rapid Induction of Autoimmune Diabetes. *J.Immunol.* 162, 2511-2520.
- Bradshaw, E.M., Raddassi, K., Elyaman, W., Orban, T., Gottlieb, P.A., Kent, S.C. and Hafler, D.A. (2009). Monocytes from patients with type 1 diabetes spontaneously secrete proinflammatory cytokines inducing Th17 cells. *J.Immunol.* 183, 4432-4439.
- Brain, B.J. 2006, *Blood cells: a practical guide*, 4th edn, Blackwell Publishing.
- Brazma, A., Hingamp, P., Quackenbush, J., Sherlock, G., Spellman, P., Stoeckert, C., Aach, J., Ansorge, W., Ball, C.A., Causton, H.C., Gaasterland, T., Glenisson, P., Holstege, F.C., Kim, I.F., Markowitz, V., Matese, J.C., Parkinson, H., Robinson, A., Sarkans, U., Schulze-Kremer, S., Stewart, J., Taylor, R., Vilo, J. and Vingron, M. (2001). Minimum information about a microarray experiment (MIAME)-toward standards for microarray data. *Nat.Genet.* 29, 365-371.

- Breitling, R., Armengaud, P., Amtmann, A. and Herzyk, P. (2004). Rank products: a simple, yet powerful, new method to detect differentially regulated genes in replicated microarray experiments. *FEBS Lett.* 573, 83-92.
- Brenner, S., Johnson, M., Bridgham, J., Golda, G., Lloyd, D.H., Johnson, D., Luo, S., McCurdy, S., Foy, M., Ewan, M., Roth, R., George, D., Eletr, S., Albrecht, G., Vermaas, E., Williams, S.R., Moon, K., Burcham, T., Pallas, M., DuBridge, R.B., Kirchner, J., Fearon, K., Mao, J. and Corcoran, K. (2000). Gene expression analysis by massively parallel signature sequencing (MPSS) on microbead arrays. Nat.Biotechnol. 18, 630-634.
- Brooks, W.H., Le Dantec, C., Pers, J.O., Youinou, P. and Renaudineau, Y. (2010). Epigenetics and autoimmunity. *J.Autoimmun.* 34, J207-19.
- Bryan, J. (2004). Problems in gene clustering based on gene expression data. *Journal of Multivariate Analysis* 90, 44-66.
- Burfoot, R.K., Jensen, C.J., Field, J., Stankovich, J., Varney, M.D., Johnson, L.J., Butzkueven, H., Booth, D., Bahlo, M., Tait, B.D., Taylor, B.V., Speed, T.P., Heard, R., Stewart, G.J., Foote, S.J., Kilpatrick, T.J. and Rubio, J.P. (2008). SNP mapping and candidate gene sequencing in the class I region of the HLA complex: searching for multiple sclerosis susceptibility genes in Tasmanians. *Tissue Antigens* 71, 42-50.
- Butler, J.H., Cronin, M., Anderson, K.M., Biddison, G.M., Chatelain, F., Cummer, M., Davi, D.J., Fisher, L., Frauendorf, A.W., Frueh, F.W., Gjerstad, C., Harper, T.F., Kernahan, S.D., Long, D.Q., Pho, M., Walker, J.A.,2nd and Brennan, T.M. (2001). In situ synthesis of oligonucleotide arrays by using surface tension. J.Am.Chem.Soc. 123, 8887-8894.
- Cai, W.W., Mao, J.H., Chow, C.W., Damani, S., Balmain, A. and Bradley, A. (2002). Genome-wide detection of chromosomal imbalances in tumors using BAC microarrays. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 20, 393-396.
- Canales, R.D., Luo, Y., Willey, J.C., Austermiller, B., Barbacioru, C.C., Boysen, C., Hunkapiller, K., Jensen, R.V., Knight, C.R., Lee, K.Y., Ma, Y., Maqsodi, B., Papallo, A., Peters, E.H., Poulter, K., Ruppel, P.L., Samaha, R.R., Shi, L., Yang, W., Zhang, L. and Goodsaid, F.M. (2006). Evaluation of DNA microarray results with quantitative gene expression platforms. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 24, 1115-1122.
- Carey, C., Purohit, S. and She, J.X. (2010). Advances and challenges in biomarker development for type 1 diabetes prediction and prevention using omic technologies. *Expert Opin.Med.Diagn.* 4, 397-410.
- Carosella, E.D. and Lemaoult, J. (2011). HLA-G: a look back, a look forward. *Cell Mol.Life Sci.* 68, 337-340.
- Chang, X., Zheng, P. and Liu, Y. (2009). Selective elimination of autoreactive T cells in vivo by the regulatory T cells. *Clinical Immunology* 130, 61-73.
- Chaouat, G., Ledee-Bataille, N., Dubanchet, S., Zourbas, S., Sandra, O. and Martal, J. (2004). Reproductive immunology 2003: reassessing the Th1/Th2 paradigm? *Immunol.Lett.* 92, 207-214.
- Chaussabel, D., Pascual, V. and Banchereau, J. (2010). Assessing the human immune system through blood transcriptomics. *BMC Biol.* 8, 84.
- Chen, Z., Lund, R., Aittokallio, T., Kosonen, M., Nevalainen, O. and Lahesmaa, R. (2003). Identification of novel IL-4/Stat6-regulated genes in T lymphocytes. *J.Immunol.* 171, 3627-3635.

Chervonsky, A.V. (2010). Influence of microbial environment on autoimmunity. *Nat.Immunol.* 11, 28-35.

Cheung, V.G., Morley, M., Aguilar, F., Massimi, A., Kucherlapati, R. and Childs, G. (1999). Making and reading microarrays. *Nat.Genet.* 21, 15-19.

Chiu, S.K., Hsu, M., Ku, W.C., Tu, C.Y., Tseng, Y.T., Lau, W.K., Yan, R.Y., Ma, J.T. and Tzeng, C.M. (2003). Synergistic effects of epoxy- and amine-silanes on microarray DNA immobilization and hybridization. *Biochem J.* 374, 625-632.

Choe, S.E., Boutros, M., Michelson, A.M., Church, G.M. and Halfon, M.S. (2005). Preferred analysis methods for Affymetrix GeneChips revealed by a wholly defined control dataset. *Genome Biol.* 6, R16.

Christen, U. and von Herrath, M.G. (2005). Infections and autoimmunity--good or bad? *J.Immunol.* 174, 7481-7486.

Chtanova, T., Kemp, R.A., Sutherland, A.P., Ronchese, F. and Mackay, C.R. (2001). Gene microarrays reveal extensive differential gene expression in both cd4(+) and cd8(+) type 1 and type 2 t cells. *J.Immunol.* 167, 3057-63.

Chtanova, T., Tangye, S.G., Newton, R., Frank, N., Hodge, M.R., Rolph, M.S. and Mackay, C.R. (2004). T follicular helper cells express a distinctive transcriptional profile, reflecting their role as non-Th1/Th2 effector cells that provide help for B cells. J.Immunol. 173, 68-78.

Churchill, G.A. (2002). Fundamentals of experimental design for cDNA microarrays. *Nat.Genet.* 32 Suppl, 490-495.

Clark, D.A. (2005). Tolerance signaling molecules. Chem.Immunol.Allergy 89, 36-48.

Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute 2006, Diagnostic Nucleic Acid Microarrays; Approved Guideline, CLSI document MM12-A edn, Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute, Pennsylvania 19087-1898 USA.

Cloonan, N., Forrest, A.R., Kolle, G., Gardiner, B.B., Faulkner, G.J., Brown, M.K., Taylor, D.F., Steptoe, A.L., Wani, S., Bethel, G., Robertson, A.J., Perkins, A.C., Bruce, S.J., Lee, C.C., Ranade, S.S., Peckham, H.E., Manning, J.M., McKernan, K.J. and Grimmond, S.M. (2008). Stem cell transcriptome profiling via massivescale mRNA sequencing. *Nat. Methods* 5, 613-619.

Collins, C.D., Purohit, S., Podolsky, R.H., Zhao, H.S., Schatz, D., Eckenrode, S.E., Yang, P., Hopkins, D., Muir, A., Hoffman, M., McIndoe, R.A., Rewers, M. and She, J.X. (2006). The application of genomic and proteomic technologies in predictive, preventive and personalized medicine. *Vascul Pharmacol.* 45, 258-267.

Comans-Bitter, W.M., de Groot, R., van den Beemd, R., Neijens, H.J., Hop, W.C., Groeneveld, K., Hooijkaas, H. and van Dongen, J.J. (1997). Immunophenotyping of blood lymphocytes in childhood. Reference values for lymphocyte subpopulations. *J.Pediatr.* 130, 388-393.

Concannon, P., Rich, S.S. and Nepom, G.T. (2009). Genetics of type 1A diabetes. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 360, 1646-1654.

Confavreux, C., Hutchinson, M., Hours, M.M., Cortinovis-Tourniaire, P. and Moreau, T. (1998). Rate of pregnancy-related relapse in multiple sclerosis. Pregnancy in Multiple Sclerosis Group. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 339, 285-291.

Cooper, H.L. and Braverman, R. (1977). Free fibosomes and growth stimulation in human peripheral lymphocytes: activation of free ribisomes as an essential event in growth induction. J.Cell.Physiol. 93, 213-225.

Correale, J. and Villa, A. (2010). Role of CD8+ CD25+ Foxp3+ regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis. *Ann.Neurol.* 67, 625-638.

Correale, J. and Villa, A. (2008). Isolation and characterization of CD8+ regulatory T cells in multiple sclerosis. J.Neuroimmunol. 195, 121-134.

Cosmi, L., Liotta, F., Lazzeri, E., Francalanci, M., Angeli, R., Mazzinghi, B., Santarlasci, V., Manetti, R., Vanini, V., Romagnani, P., Maggi, E., Romagnani, S. and Annunziato, F. (2003). Human CD8+CD25+ thymocytes share phenotypic and functional features with CD4+CD25+ regulatory thymocytes. *Blood* 102, 4107-4114.

Costantino, C.M., Baecher-Allan, C. and Hafler, D.A. (2008a). Multiple sclerosis and regulatory T cells. *J.Clin.Immunol.* 28, 697-706.

Costantino, C.M., Baecher-Allan, C.M. and Hafler, D.A. (2008b). Human regulatory T cells and autoimmunity. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 38, 921-924.

Crawford, M.P., Yan, S.X., Ortega, S.B., Mehta, R.S., Hewitt, R.E., Price, D.A., Stastny, P., Douek, D.C., Koup, R.A., Racke, M.K. and Karandikar, N.J. (2004). High prevalence of autoreactive, neuroantigen-specific CD8+ T cells in multiple sclerosis revealed by novel flow cytometric assay. *Blood* 103, 4222-4231.

Cui, X., Hwang, J.T., Qiu, J., Blades, N.J. and Churchill, G.A. (2005). Improved statistical tests for differential gene expression by shrinking variance components estimates. *Biostatistics* 6, 59-75.

Dabney, A.R. (2006). ClaNC: point-and-click software for classifying microarrays to nearest centroids. *Bioinformatics* 22, 122-123.

Dabney, A.R. (2005). Classification of microarrays to nearest centroids. *Bioinformatics* 21, 4148-4154.

Damsker, J.M., Hansen, A.M. and Caspi, R.R. (2010). Th1 and Th17 cells: adversaries and collaborators. *Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci.* 1183, 211-221.

Dardalhon, V., Korn, T., Kuchroo, V.K. and Anderson, A.C. (2008). Role of Th1 and Th17 cells in organ-specific autoimmunity. J.Autoimmun. 31, 252-256.

Datta, S. and Datta, S. (2006). Methods for evaluating clustering algorithms for gene expression data using a reference set of functional classes. *BMC Bioinformatics* 7, 397.

Datta, S. and Datta, S. (2003). Comparisons and validation of statistical clustering techniques for microarray gene expression data. *Bioinformatics* 19, 459-466.

de Hoon, M.J., Imoto, S., Nolan, J. and Miyano, S. (2004). Open source clustering software. *Bioinformatics* 20, 1453-1454.

Debes, G.F. and Reiner, S.L. (2009). Helping and harming have something in common. *Nat.Immunol.* 10, 138-140.

Dejaco, C., Duftner, C., Grubeck-Loebenstein, B. and Schirmer, M. (2006). Imbalance of regulatory T cells in human autoimmune diseases. *Immunology* 117, 289-300.

Devendra, D., Liu, E. and Eisenbarth, G.S. (2004). Type 1 diabetes: recent developments. *BMJ* 328, 750-754.

Dobbin, K., Shih, J.H. and Simon, R. (2003). Statistical design of reverse dye microarrays. *Bioinformatics* 19, 803-810.

Dobbin, K. and Simon, R. (2002). Comparison of microarray designs for class comparison and class discovery. *Bioinformatics* 18, 1438-1445. Dobbin, K. and Simon, R. (2005). Sample size determination in microarray experiments for class comparison and prognostic classification. *Biostat* 6, 27-38.

Dosch, H., Cheung, R.K., Karges, W., Pietropaolo, M. and Becker, D.J. (1999). Persistent T cell anergy in human type 1 diabetes. *J.Immunol.* 163, 6933-6940.

Downes, K., Pekalski, M., Angus, K.L., Hardy, M., Nutland, S., Smyth, D.J., Walker, N.M., Wallace, C. and Todd, J.A. (2010). Reduced expression of IFIH1 is protective for type 1 diabetes. *PLoS One* 5, e12646.

Duggan, D.J., Bittner, M., Chen, Y., Meltzer, P. and Trent, J.M. (1999). Expression profiling using cDNA microarrays. *Nat.Genet.* 21, 10-14.

Dunbar, S.A. (2006). Applications of Luminex xMAP technology for rapid, high-throughput multiplexed nucleic acid detection. *Clin.Chim.Acta* 363, 71-82.

Dyment, D.A., Ebers, G.C. and Dessa Sadovnick, A. (2004). Genetics of multiple sclerosis. *The Lancet Neurology* 3, 104-110.

Eike, M.C., Becker, T., Humphreys, K., Olsson, M. and Lie, B.A. (2009). Conditional analyses on the T1DGC MHC dataset: novel associations with type 1 diabetes around HLA-G and confirmation of HLA-B. *Genes Immun.* 10, 56-67.

Eisen, M.B., Spellman, P.T., Brown, P.O. and Botstein, D. (1998). Cluster analysis and display of genome-wide expression patterns. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 95, 14863-8.

Eizirik, D.L., Colli, M.L. and Ortis, F. (2009). The role of inflammation in insulitis and beta-cell loss in type 1 diabetes. *Nat.Rev.Endocrinol.* 5, 219-226.

Elghazi, L. and Bernal-Mizrachi, E. (2009). Akt and PTEN: beta-cell mass and pancreas plasticity. *Trends Endocrinol.Metab.* 20, 243-251.

Ely, L.K., Burrows, S.R., Purcell, A.W., Rossjohn, J. and McCluskey, J. (2008). T-cells behaving badly: structural insights into alloreactivity and autoimmunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 20, 575-580.

Epstein, J.R., Ferguson, J.A., Lee, K.H. and Walt, D.R. (2003). Combinatorial decoding: an approach for universal DNA array fabrication. J.Am.Chem.Soc. 125, 13753-13759.

Evaluation of Genomic Applications in Practice and Prevention (EGAPP) Working Group (2009). Recommendations from the EGAPP Working Group: can tumor gene expression profiling improve outcomes in patients with breast cancer? *Genet.Med.* 11, 66-73.

Fainardi, E., Rizzo, R., Melchiorri, L., Stignani, M., Castellazzi, M., Tamborino, C., Paolino, E., Tola, M.R., Granieri, E. and Baricordi, O.R. (2008). CSF levels of soluble HLA-G and Fas molecules are inversely associated to MRI evidence of disease activity in patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. *Mult.Scler.* 14, 446-454.

Fan, J., Tam, P., Woude, G.V. and Ren, Y. (2004). Normalization and analysis of cDNA microarrays using within-array replications applied to neuroblastoma cell response to a cytokine. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 101, 1135-1140.

Fan, X., Lobenhofer, E.K., Chen, M., Shi, W., Huang, J., Luo, J., Zhang, J., Walker, S.J., Chu, T.M., Li, L., Wolfinger, R., Bao, W., Paules, R.S., Bushel, P.R., Li, J., Shi, T., Nikolskaya, T., Nikolsky, Y., Hong, H., Deng, Y., Cheng, Y., Fang, H., Shi, L. and Tong, W. (2010). Consistency of predictive signature genes and classifiers generated using different microarray platforms. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 10, 247-257.

- Faustman, D., Li, X.P., Lin, H.Y., Fu, Y.E., Eisenbarth, G., Avruch, J. and Guo, J. (1991). Linkage of faulty major histocompatibility complex class I to autoimmune diabetes. *Science* 254, 1756-1761.
- Feezor, R.J., Baker, H.V., Mindrinos, M., Hayden, D., Tannahill, C.L., Brownstein, B.H., Fay, A., MacMillan, S., Laramie, J., Xiao, W., Moldawer, L.L., Cobb, J.P., Laudanski, K., Miller-Graziano, C.L., Maier, R.V., Schoenfeld, D., Davis, R.W., Tompkins, R.G. and Inflammation and Host Response to Injury, Large-Scale Collaborative Research Program. (2004). Whole blood and leukocyte RNA isolation for gene expression analyses. *Physiol. Genomics* 19, 247-254.

Feger, U., Tolosa, E., Huang, Y.H., Waschbisch, A., Biedermann, T., Melms, A. and Wiendl, H. (2007). HLA-G expression defines a novel regulatory T-cell subset present in human peripheral blood and sites of inflammation. *Blood* 110, 568-577.

Ferguson, J.A., Boles, T.C., Adams, C.P. and Walt, D.R. (1996). A fiber-optic DNA biosensor microarray for the analysis of gene expression. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 14, 1681-4.

Ferguson, J.A., Steemers, F.J. and Walt, D.R. (2000). Highdensity fiber-optic DNA random microsphere array. *Anal.Chem.* 72, 5618-5624.

Fife, B.T. and Bluestone, J.A. (2008). Control of peripheral T-cell tolerance and autoimmunity via the CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways. *Immunol.Rev.* 224, 166-182.

Fodor, S.P., Rava, R.P., Huang, X.C., Pease, A.C., Holmes, C.P. and Adams, C.L. (1993). Multiplexed biochemical assays with biological chips. *Nature* 364, 555-556.

Fodor, S.P., Read, J.L., Pirrung, M.C., Stryer, L., Lu, A.T. and Solas, D. (1991a). Light-directed, spatially addressable parallel chemical synthesis. *Science* 251, 767-73.

Fodor, S.P., Read, J.L., Pirrung, M.C., Stryer, L., Lu, A.T. and Solas, D. (1991b). Light-directed, spatially addressable parallel chemical synthesis. *Science* 251, 767-773.

Fontenot, J.D., Gavin, M.A. and Rudensky, A.Y. (2003). Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat.Immunol.* 4, 330-336.

Fu, Y., Nathan, D.M., Li, F., Li, X. and Faustman, D.L. (1993). Defective major histocompatibility complex class I expression on lymphoid cells in autoimmunity. *J.Clin.Invest.* 91, 2301-2307.

Fujinami, R.S., von Herrath, M.G., Christen, U. and Whitton, J.L. (2006). Molecular mimicry, bystander activation, or viral persistence: infections and autoimmune disease. *Clin.Microbiol.Rev.* 19, 80-94.

Gadbury, G.L., Page, G.P., Edwards, J., Kayo, T., Prolla, T.A., Weindruch, R., Permana, P.A., Mountz, J.D. and Allison, D.B. (2004). Power and sample size estimation in high dimensional biology. *Stat Meth Med Res* 13, 325-338.

Gamble, D.R., Kinsley, M.L., FitzGerald, M.G., Bolton, R. and Taylor, K.W. (1969). Viral antibodies in diabetes mellitus. *Br.Med.J.* 3, 627-630.

Garge, N.R., Page, G.P., Sprague, A.P., Gorman, B.S. and Allison, D.B. (2005). Reproducible clusters from microarray research: whither? *BMC Bioinformatics* 6 Suppl 2, S10.

Gentleman, R.C., Carey, V.J., Bates, D.M., Bolstad, B., Dettling, M., Dudoit, S., Ellis, B., Gautier, L., Ge, Y., Gentry, J., Hornik, K., Hothorn, T., Huber, W., Iacus, S., Irizarry, R., Leisch, F., Li, C., Maechler, M., Rossini, A.J., Sawitzki, G., Smith, C., Smyth, G., Tierney, L., Yang, J.Y. and Zhang, J. (2004). Bioconductor: open software development for computational biology and bioinformatics. *Genome Biol.* 5, R80.

- Georgescu, L., Vakkalanka, R.K., Elkon, K.B. and Crow, M.K. (1997). Interleukin-10 promotes activationinduced cell death of SLE lymphocytes mediated by Fas ligand. J. Clin. Invest. 100, 2622-2633.
- Gibson, U.E., Heid, C.A. and Williams, P.M. (1996). A novel method for real time quantitative RT-PCR. *Genome Res.* 6, 995-1001.
- Giongo, A., Gano, K.A., Crabb, D.B., Mukherjee, N., Novelo, L.L., Casella, G., Drew, J.C., Ilonen, J., Knip, M., Hyöty, H., Veijola, R., Simell, T., Simell, O., Neu, J., Wasserfall, C.H., Schatz, D., Atkinson, M.A. and Triplett, E.W. (2010). Toward defining the autoimmune microbiome for type 1 diabetes. *ISME J.* 5, 82-91.
- Gobin, S.J. and van den Elsen, P.J. (2000). Transcriptional regulation of the MHC class Ib genes HLA-E, HLA-F, and HLA-G. *Hum.Immunol.* 61, 1102-1107.
- Goronzy, J.J. and Weyand, C.M. (2008). T-cell costimulatory pathways in autoimmunity. Arthritis Res. Ther. 10 Suppl 1, S3.
- Gras, S., Burrows, S.R., Kjer-Nielsen, L., Clements, C.S., Liu, Y.C., Sullivan, L.C., Bell, M.J., Brooks, A.G., Purcell, A.W., McCluskey, J. and Rossjohn, J. (2009). The Shaping of T Cell Receptor Recognition by Self-Tolerance. *Immunity*. 30, 193-203.
- Griffith, T.S., Brunner, T., Fletcher, S.M., Green, D.R. and Ferguson, T.A. (1995). Fas ligand-induced apoptosis as a mechanism of immune privilege. *Science* 270, 1189-1192.
- Guimil, R., Beier, M., Scheffler, M., Rebscher, H., Funk, J., Wixmerten, A., Baum, M., Hermann, C., Tahedl, H., Moschel, E., Obermeier, F., Sommer, I., Buchner, D., Viehweger, R., Burgmaier, J., Stahler, C.F., Muller, M. and Stahler, P.F. (2003). Geniom technology--the benchtop array facility. *Nucleosides Nucleotides Nucleot Acids* 22, 1721-1723.
- Guo, L., Lobenhofer, E.K., Wang, C., Shippy, R., Harris, S.C., Zhang, L., Mei, N., Chen, T., Herman, D., Goodsaid, F.M., Hurban, P., Phillips, K.L., Xu, J., Deng, X., Sun, Y.A., Tong, W., Dragan, Y.P. and Shi, L. (2006). Rat toxicogenomic study reveals analytical consistency across microarray platforms. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 24, 1162-1169.
- Gwet, K.L. 2002, Computing Inter-Rater Reliability With the SAS System.
- Hahn, M., Nicholson, M.J., Pyrdol, J. and Wucherpfennig, K.W. (2005). Unconventional topology of self peptidemajor histocompatibility complex binding by a human autoimmune T cell receptor. *Nat.Immunol.* 6, 490-496.
- Halgren, R.G., Fielden, M.R., Fong, C.J. and Zacharewski, T.R. (2001). Assessment of clone identity and sequence fidelity for 1189 IMAGE cDNA clones. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 29, 582-588.
- Hamalainen, H., Meissner, S. and Lahesmaa, R. (2000). Signaling lymphocytic activation molecule (SLAM) is differentially expressed in human Th1 and Th2 cells. *J.Immunol.Methods* 242, 9-19.
- Hamalainen, H., Zhou, H., Chou, W., Hashizume, H., Heller, R. and Lahesmaa, R. (2001a). Distinct gene expression profiles of human type 1 and type 2 T helper cells. *Genome Biol.* 2, RESEARCH0022.
- Hamalainen, H.K., Tubman, J.C., Vikman, S., Kyrölä, T., Ylikoski, E., Warrington, J.A. and Lahesmaa, R. (2001b). Validation of endogenous reference genes for profiling of lymphocyte differentiation by quantitative real-time RT-PCR. Anal. Biochem. 299, 63-70.
- Hannet, I., Erkeller-Yuksel, F., Lydyard, P., Deneys, V. and DeBruyere, M. (1992). Developmental and maturational changes in human blood lymphocyte subpopulations. *Immunol.Today* 13, 215, 218.

- Hao, W., Gladstone, P., Engardt, S., Greenbaum, C. and Palmer, J.P. (1996). Major histocompatibility complex class I molecule expression is normal on peripheral blood lymphocytes from patients with insulindependent diabetes mellitus. J.Clin.Invest. 98, 1613-1618.
- Harjutsalo, V., Sjöberg, L. and Tuomilehto, J. (2008). Time trends in the incidence of type 1 diabetes in Finnish children: a cohort study. *Lancet* 371, 1777-1782.
- Harrington, L.E., Hatton, R.D., Mangan, P.R., Turner, H., Murphy, T.L., Murphy, K.M. and Weaver, C.T. (2005). Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat.Immunol.* 6, 1123-1132.
- Heid, C.A., Stevens, J., Livak, K.J. and Williams, P.M. (1996). Real time quantitative PCR. *Genome Res.* 6, 986-994.
- Heinig, M., Petretto, E., Wallace, C., Bottolo, L., Rotival, M., Lu, H., Li, Y., Sarwar, R., Langley, S.R., Bauerfeind, A., Hummel, O., Lee, Y.A., Paskas, S., Rintisch, C., Saar, K., Cooper, J., Buchan, R., Gray, E.E., Cyster, J.G., Cardiogenics Consortium, Braund, P., Gracev, J., Krishnan, U., Moore, J.S., Nelson, C.P., Pollard, H., Attwood, T., Crisp-Hihn, A., Foad, N., Jolley, J., Lloyd-Jones, H., Muir, D., Murray, E., O'Leary, K., Rankin, A., Sambrook, J., Godfroy, T., Brocheton, J., Proust, C., Schmitz, G., Heimerl, S., Lugauer, I., Belz, S., Gulde, S., Linsel-Nitschke, P., Sager, H., Schroeder, L., Lundmark, P., Syvannen, A.C., Neudert, J., Scholz, M., Deloukas, P., Gray, E., Gwilliams, R., Niblett, D., Erdmann, J., Hengstenberg, C., Maouche, S., Ouwehand, W.H., Rice, C.M., Samani, N.J., Schunkert, H., Goodall, A.H., Schulz, H., Roider, H.G., Vingron, M., Blankenberg, S., Munzel, T., Zeller, T., Szymczak, S., Ziegler, A., Tiret, L., Smyth, D.J., Pravenec, M., Aitman, T.J., Cambien, F., Clayton, D., Todd, J.A., Hubner, N. and Cook, S.A. (2010). A transacting locus regulates an anti-viral expression network and type 1 diabetes risk. Nature 467, 460-464.
- Hermann, R., Lipponen, K., Kiviniemi, M., Kakko, T., Veijola, R., Simell, O., Knip, M. and Ilonen, J. (2006). Lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase (LYP/PTPN22) Arg620Trp variant regulates insulin autoimmunity and progression to type 1 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 49, 1198-1208.
- Hewagama, A. and Richardson, B. (2009). The genetics and epigenetics of autoimmune diseases. J.Autoimmun. 33, 3-11.
- Hodgkinson, A.D., Millward, B.A. and Demaine, A.G. (2000). The HLA-E locus is associated with age at onset and susceptibility to type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Hum.Immunol.* 61, 290-295.
- Hogquist, K.A., Baldwin, T.A. and Jameson, S.C. (2005). Central tolerance: learning self-control in the thymus. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 5, 772-782.
- Hoheisel, J.D. (2006). Microarray technology: beyond transcript profiling and genotype analysis. *Nat.Rev.Genet.* 7, 200-210.
- Honkanen, J., Nieminen, J.K., Gao, R., Luopajärvi, K., Salo, H.M., Ilonen, J., Knip, M., Otonkoski, T. and Vaarala, O. (2010). IL-17 immunity in human type 1 diabetes. *J.Immunol.* 185, 1959-1967.
- Hori, S., Nomura, T. and Sakaguchi, S. (2003). Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science* 299, 1057-1061.
- Hsiao, A., Worrall, D.S., Olefsky, J.M. and Subramaniam, S. (2004). Variance-modeled posterior inference of microarray data: detecting gene-expression changes in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Bioinformatics* 20, 3108-3127.

 Hu, L., Wang, J., Baggerly, K., Wang, H., Fuller, G.N.,
 Hamilton, S.R., Coombes, K.R. and Zhang, W. (2002).
 Obtaining reliable information from minute amounts of RNA using cDNA microarrays. *BMC Genomics* 3, 16.

Huang, F. and Gu, H. (2008). Negative regulation of lymphocyte development and function by the Cbl family of proteins. *Immunol. Rev.* 224, 229-238.

Huang, Q., Liu, D., Majewski, P., Schulte, L.C., Korn, J.M., Young, R.A., Lander, E.S. and Hacohen, N. (2001). The plasticity of dendritic cell responses to pathogens and their components. *Science* 294, 870-875.

Huehn, J., Polansky, J.K. and Hamann, A. (2009). Epigenetic control of FOXP3 expression: the key to a stable regulatory T-cell lineage? *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 9, 83-89.

Hulstaert, F., Hannet, I., Deneys, V., Munhyeshuli, V., Reichert, T., De Bruyere, M. and Strauss, K. (1994). Agerelated changes in human blood lymphocyte subpopulations. II. Varying kinetics of percentage and absolute count measurements. *Clin.Immunol.Immunopathol.* 70, 152-158.

Hunt, J.S. (2006). Stranger in a strange land. Immunol.Rev. 213. 36-47.

Ingenuity[®] Systems , *Ingenuity Pathways Analysis*. Available: <u>www.ingenuity.com</u>.

Invernizzi, P. and Gershwin, M.E. (2009). The genetics of human autoimmune disease. *J.Autoimmun.* 33, 290-299.

Ioannidis, J.P. (2007). Is molecular profiling ready for use in clinical decision making? *Oncologist* 12, 301-311.

Ioannidis, J.P., Allison, D.B., Ball, C.A., Coulibaly, I., Cui, X., Culhane, A.C., Falchi, M., Furlanello, C., Game, L., Jurman, G., Mangion, J., Mehta, T., Nitzberg, M., Page, G.P., Petretto, E. and van Noort, V. (2009). Repeatability of published microarray gene expression analyses. *Nat.Genet.* 41, 149-155.

Irizarry, R.A., Hobbs, B., Collin, F., Beazer-Barclay, Y.D., Antonellis, K.J., Scherf, U. and Speed, T.P. (2003). Exploration, normalization, and summaries of high density oligonucleotide array probe level data. *Biostatistics* 4, 249-264.

Irizarry, R.A., Warren, D., Spencer, F., Kim, I.F., Biswal, S., Frank, B.C., Gabrielson, E., Garcia, J.G., Geoghegan, J., Germino, G., Griffin, C., Hilmer, S.C., Hoffman, E., Jedlicka, A.E., Kawasaki, E., Martinez-Murillo, F., Morsberger, L., Lee, H., Petersen, D., Quackenbush, J., Scott, A., Wilson, M., Yang, Y., Ye, S.Q. and Yu, W. (2005). Multiple-laboratory comparison of microarray platforms. *Nat.Methods* 2, 345-350.

Irony-Tur-Sinai, M., Grigoriadis, N., Lourbopoulos, A., Pinto-Maaravi, F., Abramsky, O. and Brenner, T. (2006). Amelioration of autoimmune neuroinflammation by recombinant human alpha-fetoprotein. *Exp. Neurol.* 198, 136-144.

Itoh, N., Hanafusa, T., Miyazaki, A., Miyagawa, J., Yamagata, K., Yamamoto, K., Waguri, M., Imagawa, A., Tamura, S. and Inada, M. (1993). Mononuclear cell infiltration and its relation to the expression of major histocompatibility complex antigens and adhesion molecules in pancreas biopsy specimens from newly diagnosed insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus patients. J.Clin.Invest. 92, 2313-2322.

Jacobson, D.L., Gange, S.J., Rose, N.R. and Graham, N.M. (1997). Epidemiology and estimated population burden of selected autoimmune diseases in the United States. *Clin.Immunol.Immunopathol.* 84, 223-243.

Jailwala, P., Waukau, J., Glisic, S., Jana, S., Ehlenbach, S., Hessner, M., Alemzadeh, R., Matsuyama, S., Laud, P., Wang, X. and Ghosh, S. (2009). Apoptosis of CD4+ CD25(high) T cells in type 1 diabetes may be partially mediated by IL-2 deprivation. *PLoS ONE* 4, e6527.

Janeway, C.A., Travers, P., Walport, M. & Shlomchik, M.J. 2001, *Immunobiology: The Immune System in Health and Disease*, Garland Publishing, New York.

Järvinen, A.K., Hautaniemi, S., Edgren, H., Auvinen, P., Saarela, J., Kallioniemi, O.P. and Monni, O. (2004). Are data from different gene expression microarray platforms comparable? *Genomics* 83, 1164-1168.

Jiang, H., Canfield, S.M., Gallagher, M.P., Jiang, H.H., Jiang, Y., Zheng, Z. and Chess, L. (2010). HLA-E-restricted regulatory CD8(+) T cells are involved in development and control of human autoimmune type 1 diabetes. *J.Clin.Invest.* 120, 3641-3650.

Johnson, J.M., Castle, J., Garrett-Engele, P., Kan, Z., Loerch, P.M., Armour, C.D., Santos, R., Schadt, E.E., Stoughton, R. and Shoemaker, D.D. (2003). Genomewide survey of human alternative pre-mRNA splicing with exon junction microarrays. *Science* 302, 2141-2144.

Kagedal, B., Lindqvist, M., Farneback, M., Lenner, L. and Peterson, C. (2005). Failure of the PAXgene Blood RNA System to maintain mRNA stability in whole blood. *Clin.Chem.Lab.Med.* 43, 1190-1192.

Kaizer, E.C., Glaser, C.L., Chaussabel, D., Banchereau, J., Pascual, V. and White, P.C. (2007). Gene expression in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from children with diabetes. J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab. 92, 3705-3711.

Kanehisa, M. (1997). A database for post-genome analysis. *Trends Genet*. 13, 375-376.

Kanehisa, M., Goto, S., Kawashima, S. and Nakaya, A. (2002). The KEGG databases at GenomeNet. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, 42-46.

Karsten, S.L., Van Deerlin, V.M., Sabatti, C., Gill, L.H. and Geschwind, D.H. (2002). An evaluation of tyramide signal amplification and archived fixed and frozen tissue in microarray gene expression analysis. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, E4.

Kay, J.E., Ahern, T., Lindsay, V.J. and Sampson, J. (1975). The control of protein synthesis during the stimulation of lymphocytes by phytohaemagglutinin. III. Poly(U) translation and the rate of polypeptide chain elongation. *Biochim.Biophys.Acta* 378, 241-250.

Kaye, W.A., Adri, M.N., Soeldner, J.S., Rabinowe, S.L., Kaldany, A., Kahn, C.R., Bistrian, B., Srikanta, S., Ganda, O.P. and Eisenbarth, G.S. (1986). Acquired defect in interleukin-2 production in patients with type I diabetes mellitus. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 315, 920-924.

Kerr, M.K. and Churchill, G.A. (2001). Experimental design for gene expression microarrays. *Biostatistics* 2, 183-201.

Kersh, G.J. and Allen, P.M. (1996a). Essential flexibility in the T-cell recognition of antigen. *Nature* 380, 495-498.

Kersh, G.J. and Allen, P.M. (1996b). Structural basis for T cell recognition of altered peptide ligands: a single T cell receptor can productively recognize a large continuum of related ligands. *J.Exp.Med.* 184, 1259-1268.

Kim, K., Zakharkin, S.O. and Allison, D.B. (2010). Expectations, validity, and reality in gene expression profiling. J.Clin.Epidemiol. 63, 950-959.

Kimpimäki, T., Kupila, A., Hämäläinen, A.M., Kukko, M., Kulmala, P., Savola, K., Simell, T., Keskinen, P., Ilonen, J., Simell, O. and Knip, M. (2001). The first signs of betacell autoimmunity appear in infancy in genetically susceptible children from the general population: the Finnish Type 1 Diabetes Prediction and Prevention Study. J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab. 86, 4782-4788. Knapen, D., Vergauwen, L., Laukens, K. and Blust, R. (2009). Best practices for hybridization design in twocolour microarray analysis. *Trends Biotechnol.* 27, 406-414.

Knip, M. (1997). Disease-associated autoimmunity and prevention of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Ann.Med. 29, 447-451.

Knip, M., Korhonen, S., Kulmala, P., Veijola, R., Reunanen, A., Raitakari, O.T., Viikari, J. and Åkerblom, H.K. (2010). Prediction of type 1 diabetes in the general population. *Diabetes Care* 33, 1206-1212.

Knip, M. and Siljander, H. (2008). Autoimmune mechanisms in type 1 diabetes. *Autoimmun.Rev.* 7, 550-557.

Knip, M., Veijola, R., Virtanen, S.M., Hyöty, H., Vaarala, O. and Åkerblom, H.K. (2005). Environmental triggers and determinants of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 54 Suppl 2, S125-36.

Knip, M., Virtanen, S.M., Seppä, K., Ilonen, J., Savilahti, E., Vaarala, O., Reunanen, A., Terämö, K., Hämäläinen, A.M., Paronen, J., Dosch, H.M., Hakulinen, T., Åkerblom, H.K. and Finnish TRIGR Study Group (2010). Dietary intervention in infancy and later signs of beta-cell autoimmunity. *N.Engl.J.Med.* 363, 1900-1908.

Kodzius, R., Kojima, M., Nishiyori, H., Nakamura, M., Fukuda, S., Tagami, M., Sasaki, D., Imamura, K., Kai, C., Harbers, M., Hayashizaki, Y. and Carninci, P. (2006). CAGE: cap analysis of gene expression. *Nat.Methods* 3, 211-222.

Kolls, J.K. and Linden, A. (2004). Interleukin-17 family members and inflammation. *Immunity* 21, 467-476.

Korn, T., Bettelli, E., Gao, W., Awasthi, A., Jager, A., Strom, T.B., Oukka, M. and Kuchroo, V.K. (2007a). IL-21 initiates an alternative pathway to induce proinflammatory T(H)17 cells. *Nature* 448. 448-487.

Korn, T., Reddy, J., Gao, W., Bettelli, E., Awasthi, A., Petersen, T.R., Backstrom, B.T., Sobel, R.A., Wucherpfennig, K.W., Strom, T.B., Oukka, M. and Kuchroo, V.K. (2007b). Myelin-specific regulatory T cells accumulate in the CNS but fail to control autoimmune inflammation. *Nat.Med.* 13, 423-431.

Korn, T., Bettelli, E., Oukka, M. and Kuchroo, V.K. (2009). IL-17 and Th17 Cells. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 27,.

Kosman, D., Mizutani, C.M., Lemons, D., Cox, W.G., McGinnis, W. and Bier, E. (2004). Multiplex detection of RNA expression in Drosophila embryos. *Science* 305, 846.

Kotzin, B.L., Falta, M.T., Crawford, F., Rosloniec, E.F., Bill, J., Marrack, P. and Kappler, J. (2000). Use of soluble peptide-DR4 tetramers to detect synovial T cells specific for cartilage antigens in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 97, 291-296.

Kumar, A., Larsson, O., Parodi, D. and Liang, Z. (2000). Silanized nucleic acids: a general platform for DNA immobilization. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 28, E71.

Kupila, A., Muona, P., Simell, T., Arvilommi, P., Savolainen, H., Hämäläinen, A.M., Korhonen, S., Kimpimäki, T., Sjöroos, M., Ilonen, J., Knip, M., Simell, O. and Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation Centre for the Prevention of Type I Diabetes in Finland. (2001). Feasibility of genetic and immunological prediction of type I diabetes in a population-based birth cohort. Diabetologia 44, 290-297.

Ladner, D.P., Leamon, J.H., Hamann, S., Tarafa, G., Strugnell, T., Dillon, D., Lizardi, P. and Costa, J. (2001). Multiplex detection of hotspot mutations by rolling circle-enabled universal microarrays. *Lab.Invest.* 81, 1079-1086.

- Langrish, C.L., Chen, Y., Blumenschein, W.M., Mattson, J., Basham, B., Sedgwick, J.D., McClanahan, T., Kastelein, R.A. and Cua, D.J. (2005). IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. *J.Exp.Med.* 201, 233-240.
- Lee, C. and Roy, M. (2004). Analysis of alternative splicing with microarrays: successes and challenges. *Genome Biol.* 5, 231.
- Lee, J.K., Bussey, K.J., Gwadry, F.G., Reinhold, W., Riddick, G., Pelletier, S.L., Nishizuka, S., Szakacs, G., Annereau, J.P., Shankavaram, U., Lababidi, S., Smith, L.H., Gottesman, M.M. and Weinstein, J.N. (2003).
 Comparing cDNA and oligonucleotide array data: concordance of gene expression across platforms for the NCI-60 cancer cells. *Genome Biol.* 4, R82.
- Lee, J.W., Lee, J.B., Park, M. and Song, S.H. (2005). An extensive comparison of recent classification tools applied to microarray data. *Computational Statistics & Data Analysis* 48, 869-885.
- Lee, N., Ishitani, A. and Geraghty, D.E. (2010). HLA-F is a surface marker on activated lymphocytes. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 40, 2308-2318.

Lee, Y.K., Turner, H., Maynard, C.L., Oliver, J.R., Chen, D., Elson, C.O. and Weaver, C.T. (2009). Late Developmental Plasticity in the T Helper 17 Lineage. *Immunity* 30, 92-107.

Lehuen, A., Diana, J., Zaccone, P. and Cooke, A. (2010). Immune cell crosstalk in type 1 diabetes. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 10, 501-513.

Leibson, P.J. (2004). The regulation of lymphocyte activation by inhibitory receptors. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* 16, 328-336.

LeMaoult, J., Krawice-Radanne, I., Dausset, J. and Carosella, E.D. (2004). HLA-G1-expressing antigenpresenting cells induce immunosuppressive CD4+ T cells. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 101, 7064-7069.

Lemmo, A.V., Rose, D.J. and Tisone, T.C. (1998). Inkjet dispensing technology: applications in drug discovery. *Curr.Opin.Biotechnol.* 9, 615-617.

Li, H. and Rostami, A. (2009). IL-9: Basic Biology, Signaling Pathways in CD4+ T Cells and Implications for Autoimmunity. J.Neuroimmune Pharmacol. 5, 198-209.

Li, L., Ying, L., Naesens, M., Xiao, W., Sigdel, T., Hsieh, S., Martin, J., Chen, R., Liu, K., Mindrinos, M., Davis, R. and Sarwal, M. (2008). Interference of globin genes with biomarker discovery for allograft rejection in peripheral blood samples. *Physiol. Genomics* 32, 190-197.

Li, M.O., Wan, Y.Y. and Flavell, R.A. (2007). T cellproduced transforming growth factor-beta1 controls T cell tolerance and regulates Th1- and Th17-cell differentiation. *Immunity* 26, 579-591.

Liu, J., Walter, E., Stenger, D. and Thach, D. (2006). Effects of globin mRNA reduction methods on gene expression profiles from whole blood. *J.Mol.Diagn.* 8, 551-558.

Lock, C., Hermans, G., Pedotti, R., Brendolan, A., Schadt, E., Garren, H., Langer-Gould, A., Strober, S., Cannella, B., Allard, J., Klonowski, P., Austin, A., Lad, N., Kaminski, N., Galli, S.J., Oksenberg, J.R., Raine, C.S., Heller, R. and Steinman, L. (2002). Gene-microarray analysis of multiple sclerosis lesions yields new targets validated in autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Nat.Med. 8, 500-508.

Lockhart, D.J., Dong, H., Byrne, M.C., Follettie, M.T., Gallo, M.V., Chee, M.S., Mittmann, M., Wang, C., Kobayashi, M., Horton, H. and Brown, E.L. (1996). Expression monitoring by hybridization to high-density oligonucleotide arrays. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 14, 1675-80.

Long, S.A., Walker, M.R., Rieck, M., James, E., Kwok, W.W., Sanda, S., Pihoker, C., Greenbaum, C., Nepom, G.T. and Buckner, J.H. (2009). Functional islet-specific Treg can be generated from CD4+CD25- T cells of healthy and type 1 diabetic subjects. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 39, 612-620.

Lund, R., Aittokallio, T., Nevalainen, O. and Lahesmaa, R. (2003a). Identification of novel genes regulated by IL-12, IL-4, or TGF-beta during the early polarization of CD4+ lymphocytes. J.Immunol. 171, 5328-5336.

Lund, R.J., Ylikoski, E.K., Aittokallio, T., Nevalainen, O. and Lahesmaa, R. (2003b). Kinetics and STAT4- or STAT6mediated regulation of genes involved in lymphocyte polarization to Th1 and Th2 cells. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 33, 1105-1116.

Mahic, M., Henjum, K., Yaqub, S., Bjornbeth, B.A., Torgersen, K.M., Tasken, K. and Aandahl, E.M. (2008). Generation of highly suppressive adaptive CD8(+)CD25(+)FOXP3(+) regulatory T cells by continuous antigen stimulation. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 38, 640-646.

Mahoney, J.A. and Rosen, A. (2005). Apoptosis and autoimmunity. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* 17, 583-588.

Manning, B.D. and Cantley, L.C. (2007). AKT/PKB signaling: navigating downstream. *Cell* 129, 1261-1274.

MAQC Consortium, Shi, L., Reid, L.H., Jones, W.D., Shippy, R., Warrington, J.A., Baker, S.C., Collins, P.J., de Longueville, F., Kawasaki, E.S., Lee, K.Y., Luo, Y., Sun, Y.A., Willey, J.C., Setterquist, R.A., Fischer, G.M., Tong, W., Dragan, Y.P., Dix, D.J., Frueh, F.W., Goodsaid, F.M., Herman, D., Jensen, R.V., Johnson, C.D., Lobenhofer, E.K., Puri, R.K., Schrf, U., Thierry-Mieg, J., Wang, C., Wilson, M., Wolber, P.K., Zhang, L., Amur, S., Bao, W., Barbacioru, C.C., Lucas, A.B., Bertholet, V., Boysen, C., Bromley, B., Brown, D., Brunner, A., Canales, R., Cao, X.M., Cebula, T.A., Chen, J.J., Cheng, J., Chu, T.M., Chudin, E., Corson, J., Corton, J.C., Croner, L.J., Davies, C., Davison, T.S., Delenstarr, G., Deng, X., Dorris, D., Eklund, A.C., Fan, X.H., Fang, H., Fulmer-Smentek, S., Fuscoe, J.C., Gallagher, K., Ge, W., Guo, L., Guo, X., Hager, J., Haje, P.K., Han, J., Han, T., Harbottle, H.C. Harris, S.C., Hatchwell, E., Hauser, C.A., Hester, S., Hong, H., Hurban, P., Jackson, S.A., Ji, H., Knight, C.R., Kuo, W.P., LeClerc, J.E., Levy, S., Li, Q.Z., Liu, C., Liu, Y. Lombardi, M.J., Ma, Y., Magnuson, S.R., Maqsodi, B., McDaniel, T., Mei, N., Myklebost, O., Ning, B., Novoradovskaya, N., Orr, M.S., Osborn, T.W., Papallo, A., Patterson, T.A., Perkins, R.G., Peters, E.H., Peterson, R., Philips, K.L., Pine, P.S., Pusztai, L., Qian, F., Ren, H., Rosen, M., Rosenzweig, B.A., Samaha, R.R., Schena, M., Schroth, G.P., Shchegrova, S., Smith, D.D., Staedtler, F., Su, Z., Sun, H., Szallasi, Z., Tezak, Z., Thierry-Mieg, D., Thompson, K.L., Tikhonova, I., Turpaz, Y., Vallanat, B., Van, C., Walker, S.J., Wang, S.J., Wang, Y., Wolfinger, R., Wong, A., Wu, J., Xiao, C., Xie, Q., Xu, J., Yang, W., Zhang, L., Zhong, S., Zong, Y. and Slikker, W., Jr (2006) The MicroArray Quality Control (MAQC) project shows inter- and intraplatform reproducibility of gene expression measurements. Nat.Biotechnol. 24, 1151-1161.

Margulies, D.H. (2001). TCR avidity: it's not how strong you make it, it's how you make it strong. *Nat.Immunol.* 2, 669-670.

Marino, E. and Grey, S.T. (2008). A new role for an old player: do B cells unleash the self-reactive CD8+ T cell storm necessary for the development of type 1 diabetes? *J.Autoimmun.* 31. 301-305.

Marrack, P., Kappler, J. and Kotzin, B.L. (2001). Autoimmune disease: why and where it occurs. *Nat.Med.* 7, 899-905. Marwaha, A.K., Crome, S.Q., Panagiotopoulos, C., Berg, K.B., Qin, H., Ouyang, Q., Xu, L., Priatel, J.J., Levings, M.K. and Tan, R. (2010). Cutting Edge: Increased IL-17-Secreting T Cells in Children with New-Onset Type 1 Diabetes. *J.Immunol.* 185, 3814-3818.

Maskos, U. and Southern, E.M. (1992a). Oligonucleotide hybridizations on glass supports: a novel linker for oligonucleotide synthesis and hybridization properties of oligonucleotides synthesised in situ. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 20, 1679-1684.

Maskos, U. and Southern, E.M. (1992b). Parallel analysis of oligodeoxyribonucleotide (oligonucleotide) interactions. I. Analysis of factors influencing oligonucleotide duplex formation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 20, 1675-1678.

Mason, D. (1998). A very high level of crossreactivity is an essential feature of the T-cell receptor. *Immunology Today* 19, 395-404.

Matheson, L.A., Duong, T.T., Rosenberg, A.M. and Yeung, R.S. (2008). Assessment of sample collection and storage methods for multicenter immunologic research in children. J.Immunol.Methods 339, 82-89.

Matson, R.S., Rampal, J., Pentoney, S.L., Jr, Anderson, P.D. and Coassin, P. (1995). Biopolymer synthesis on polypropylene supports: oligonucleotide arrays. *Anal.Biochem.* 224, 110-116.

Matusevicius, D., Kivisäkk, P., He, B., Kostulas, N., Özenci, V., Fredrikson, S. and Link, H. (1999). Interleukin-17 mRNA expression in blood and CSF mononuclear cells is augmented in multiple sclerosis. *Multiple Sclerosis* (13524585) 5, 101-104.

McFarland, H.F. and Martin, R. (2007). Multiple sclerosis: a complicated picture of autoimmunity. *Nat.Immunol.* 8, 913-919.

McFarlin, D.E. and McFarland, H.F. (1982a). Multiple sclerosis (first of two parts). *N.Engl.J.Med.* 307, 1183-1188.

McFarlin, D.E. and McFarland, H.F. (1982b). Multiple sclerosis (second of two parts). *N.Engl.J.Med.* 307, 1246-1251.

McGonagle, D. and McDermott, M.F. (2006). A proposed classification of the immunological diseases. *PLoS Med.* 3, e297.

Metzker, M.L. (2010). Sequencing technologies - the next generation. *Nat.Rev.Genet.* 11, 31-46.

Mollah, Z.U., Pai, S., Moore, C., O'Sullivan, B.J., Harrison, M.J., Peng, J., Phillips, K., Prins, J.B., Cardinal, J. and Thomas, R. (2008). Abnormal NF-kappa B function characterizes human type 1 diabetes dendritic cells and monocytes. *J.Immunol.* 180, 3166–3175.

Mootha, V.K., Lindgren, C.M., Eriksson, K.F., Subramanian, A., Sihag, S., Lehar, J., Puigserver, P., Carlsson, E., Ridderstrale, M., Laurila, E., Houstis, N., Daly, M.J., Patterson, N., Mesirov, J.P., Golub, T.R., Tamayo, P., Spiegelman, B., Lander, E.S., Hirschhorn, J.N., Altshuler, D. and Groop, L.C. (2003). PGC-1alpha-responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes. *Nat.Genet.* 34, 267-273.

Mortazavi, A., Williams, B.A., McCue, K., Schaeffer, L. and Wold, B. (2008). Mapping and quantifying mammalian transcriptomes by RNA-Seq. *Nat.Methods* 5, 621-628.

Mosmann, T.R., Cherwinski, H., Bond, M.W., Giedlin, M.A. and Coffman, R.L. (1986). Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J.Immunol.* 136, 2348-57. Mosmann, T.R. and Coffman, R.L. (1989). TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 7, 145-173.

Murphy, K.M., Nelson, C.A. and Sedy, J.R. (2006). Balancing co-stimulation and inhibition with BTLA and HVEM. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 6, 671-681.

- Nakayama, M., Abiru, N., Moriyama, H., Babaya, N., Liu, E., Miao, D., Yu, L., Wegmann, D.R., Hutton, J.C., Elliott, J.F. and Eisenbarth, G.S. (2005). Prime role for an insulin epitope in the development of type 1 diabetes in NOD mice. *Nature* 435, 220-223.
- Nejentsev, S., Howson, J.M., Walker, N.M., Szeszko, J., Field, S.F., Stevens, H.E., Reynolds, P., Hardy, M., King, E., Masters, J., Hulme, J., Maier, L.M., Smyth, D., Bailey, R., Cooper, J.D., Ribas, G., Campbell, R.D., Clayton, D.G., Todd, J.A. and Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium (2007). Localization of type 1 diabetes susceptibility to the MHC class I genes HLA-B and HLA-A. *Nature* 450, 887-892.

Nejentsev, S., Walker, N., Riches, D., Egholm, M. and Todd, J.A. (2009). Rare variants of IFIH1, a gene implicated in antiviral responses, protect against type 1 diabetes. *Science* 324, 387-389.

Neuteboom, R.F., Verbraak, E., Wierenga-Wolf, A.F., van Meurs, M., Steegers, E.A., de Groot, C.J., Laman, J.D. and Hintzen, R.Q. (2010). Pregnancy-induced fluctuations in functional T-cell subsets in multiple sclerosis patients. *Mult.Scler.* 16, 1073-1078.

Nikitin, A., Egorov, S., Daraselia, N. and Mazo, I. (2003). Pathway studio--the analysis and navigation of molecular networks. *Bioinformatics* 19, 2155-2157.

Novoradovskaya, N., Whitfield, M.L., Basehore, L.S., Novoradovsky, A., Pesich, R., Usary, J., Karaca, M., Wong, W.K., Aprelikova, O., Fero, M., Perou, C.M., Botstein, D. and Braman, J. (2004). Universal Reference RNA as a standard for microarray experiments. *BMC Genomics* 5, 20.

Nurieva, R.I., Chung, Y., Hwang, D., Yang, X.O., Kang, H.S., Ma, L., Wang, Y., Watowich, S.S., Jetten, A.M., Tian, Q. and Dong, C. (2008). Generation of T Follicular Helper Cells Is Mediated by Interleukin-21 but Independent of T Helper 1, 2, or 17 Cell Lineages. *Immunity* 29, 138-149.

Nygaard, V. and Hovig, E. (2006). Options available for profiling small samples: a review of sample amplification technology when combined with microarray profiling. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 34, 996-1014.

Nygaard, V., Loland, A., Holden, M., Langaas, M., Rue, H., Liu, F., Myklebost, O., Fodstad, O., Hovig, E. and Smith-Sorensen, B. (2003). Effects of mRNA amplification on gene expression ratios in cDNA experiments estimated by analysis of variance. BMC Genomics 4, 11.

Oak, J.S. and Fruman, D.A. (2007). Role of phosphoinositide 3-kinase signaling in autoimmunity. *Autoimmunity* 40, 433-441.

Oberthuer, A., Juraeva, D., Li, L., Kahlert, Y., Westermann, F., Eils, R., Berthold, F., Shi, L., Wolfinger, R.D., Fischer, M. and Brors, B. (2010). Comparison of performance of one-color and two-color gene-expression analyses in predicting clinical endpoints of neuroblastoma patients. *Pharmacogenomics J.* 10, 258-266.

O'Connor, W.,Jr, Zenewicz, L.A. and Flavell, R.A. (2010). The dual nature of T(H)17 cells: shifting the focus to function. *Nat.Immunol.* 11, 471-476.

Ohashi, P.S. (2002). T-cell signalling and autoimmunity: molecular mechanisms of disease. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 2, 427-438.

- Oikarinen, S., Martiskainen, M., Tauriainen, S., Huhtala, H., Ilonen, J., Veijola, R., Simell, O., Knip, M. and Hyöty, H. (2011). Enterovirus RNA in blood is linked to the development of type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 60, 276-279.
- Okkenhaug, K., Ali, K. and Vanhaesebroeck, B. (2007). Antigen receptor signalling: a distinctive role for the p110delta isoform of PI3K. *Trends Immunol.* 28, 80-87.
- Okkenhaug, K., Bilancio, A., Farjot, G., Priddle, H., Sancho, S., Peskett, E., Pearce, W., Meek, S.E., Salpekar, A., Waterfield, M.D., Smith, A.J. and Vanhaesebroeck, B. (2002). Impaired B and T cell antigen receptor signaling in p110delta PI 3-kinase mutant mice. *Science* 297, 1031-1034.
- Onishi, R.M. and Gaffen, S.L. (2010). Interleukin-17 and its target genes: mechanisms of interleukin-17 function in disease. *Immunology* 129, 311-321.

Orban, T., Kis, J., Szereday, L., Engelmann, P., Farkas, K., Jalahej, H. and Treszl, A. (2007). Reduced CD4+ T-cellspecific gene expression in human type 1 diabetes mellitus. J.Autoimmun. 28, 177-187.

Oresic, M., Simell, S., Sysi-Aho, M., Näntö-Salonen, K., Seppänen-Laakso, T., Parikka, V., Katajamaa, M., Hekkala, A., Mattila, I., Keskinen, P., Yetukuri, L., Reinikainen, A., Lahde, J., Suortti, T., Hakalax, J., Simell, T., Hyöty, H., Veijola, R., Ilonen, J., Lahesmaa, R., Knip, M. and Simell, O. (2008). Dysregulation of lipid and amino acid metabolism precedes islet autoimmunity in children who later progress to type 1 diabetes. *J.Exp.Med.* 205, 2975-2984.

Ota, K., Matsui, M., Milford, E.L., Mackin, G.A., Weiner, H.L. and Hafler, D.A. (1990). T-cell recognition of an immunodominant myelin basic protein epitope in multiple sclerosis. *Nature* 346, 183-187.

Oukka, M. (2008). Th17 cells in immunity and autoimmunity. Ann.Rheum.Dis. 67 Suppl 3, iii26-9.

Ozsolak, F. and Milos, P.M. (2011). RNA sequencing: advances, challenges and opportunities. *Nat.Rev.Genet.* 12, 87-98.

Ozsolak, F., Platt, A.R., Jones, D.R., Reifenberger, J.G., Sass, L.E., McInerney, P., Thompson, J.F., Bowers, J., Jarosz, M. and Milos, P.M. (2009). Direct RNA sequencing. *Nature* 461, 814-818.

Pacholczyk, R. and Kern, J. (2008). The T-cell receptor repertoire of regulatory T cells. *Immunology* 125, 450-458.

Pacholczyk, R., Kern, J., Singh, N., Iwashima, M., Kraj, P. and Ignatowicz, L. (2007). Nonself-antigens are the cognate specificities of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Immunity* 27, 493-504.

Page, G.P., Edwards, J.W., Gadbury, G.L., Yelisetti, P., Wang, J., Trivedi, P. and Allison, D.B. (2006). The PowerAtlas: a power and sample size atlas for microarray experimental design and research. *BMC Bioinformatics* 7, 84.

Pandiyan, P., Zheng, L., Ishihara, S., Reed, J. and Lenardo, M.J. (2007). CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells induce cytokine deprivation-mediated apoptosis of effector CD4+ T cells. *Nat.Immunol.* 8, 1353-1362.

Pantano, P. and Walt, D.R. (1996). Ordered Nanowell Arrays. *Chem. Mater.* 8, 2832.

Parish, I.A., Waithman, J., Davey, G.M., Belz, G.T., Mintern, J.D., Kurts, C., Sutherland, R.M., Carbone, F.R. and Heath, W.R. (2009). Tissue destruction caused by cytotoxic T lymphocytes induces deletional tolerance. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 3901-3906.

Park, H., Li, Z., Yang, X.O., Chang, S.H., Nurieva, R., Wang, Y.H., Wang, Y., Hood, L., Zhu, Z., Tian, Q. and Dong, C. (2005). A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat.Immunol.* 6, 1133-1141.

Parkkonen, P., Hyöty, H., Huupponen, T., Leinikki, P., Tuomilehto-Wolf, E. and Knip, M. (1993). Defective HLA class II expression in monocytes of type 1 diabetic patients. The Childhood Diabetes in Finland Study Group. APMIS 101, 395-402.

Pascual, V., Chaussabel, D. and Banchereau, J. (2010). A genomic approach to human autoimmune diseases. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 28, 535-571.

Patterson, T.A., Lobenhofer, E.K., Fulmer-Smentek, S.B., Collins, P.J., Chu, T.M., Bao, W., Fang, H., Kawasaki, E.S., Hager, J., Tikhonova, I.R., Walker, S.J., Zhang, L., Hurban, P., de Longueville, F., Fuscoe, J.C., Tong, W., Shi, L. and Wolfinger, R.D. (2006). Performance comparison of one-color and two-color platforms within the MicroArray Quality Control (MAQC) project. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 24, 1140-1150.

Pawitan, Y., Michiels, S., Koscielny, S., Gusnanto, A. and Ploner, A. (2005). False discovery rate, sensitivity and sample size for microarray studies. *Bioinformatics* 21, 3017-3024.

Pease, A.C., Solas, D., Sullivan, E.J., Cronin, M.T., Holmes, C.P. and Fodor, S.P. (1994). Light-generated oligonucleotide arrays for rapid DNA sequence analysis. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 91, 5022-6.

Petersen, D., Chandramouli, G.V., Geoghegan, J., Hilburn, J., Paarlberg, J., Kim, C.H., Munroe, D., Gangi, L., Han, J., Puri, R., Staudt, L., Weinstein, J., Barrett, J.C., Green, J. and Kawasaki, E.S. (2005). Three microarray platforms: an analysis of their concordance in profiling gene expression. *BMC Genomics* 6, 63.

Piccirillo, C.A. and Shevach, E.M. (2004). Naturallyoccurring CD4+CD25+ immunoregulatory T cells: central players in the arena of peripheral tolerance. *Seminars in Immunology* 16, 81-88.

Planas, R., Carrillo, J., Sanchez, A., de Villa, M.C., Nunez, F., Verdaguer, J., James, R.F., Pujol-Borrell, R. and Vives-Pi, M. (2010). Gene expression profiles for the human pancreas and purified islets in type 1 diabetes: new findings at clinical onset and in long-standing diabetes. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* 159, 23-44.

Pociot, F., Akolkar, B., Concannon, P., Erlich, H.A., Julier, C., Morahan, G., Nierras, C.R., Todd, J.A., Rich, S.S. and Nerup, J. (2010). Genetics of type 1 diabetes: what's next? *Diabetes* 59, 1561-1571.

Pociot, F. and McDermott, M.F. (2002). Genetics of type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Genes Immun.* 3, 235-249.

Polanczyk, M.J., Hopke, C., Huan, J., Vandenbark, A.A. and Offner, H. (2005). Enhanced FoxP3 expression and Treg cell function in pregnant and estrogen-treated mice. *J.Neuroimmunol.* 170, 85-92.

Prezeau, N., Silvy, M., Gabert, J. and Picard, C. (2006). Assessment of a new RNA stabilizing reagent (Tempus Blood RNA) for minimal residual disease in oncohematology using the EAC protocol. *Leuk.Res.* 30, 569-574.

Pugliese, A., Zeller, M., Fernandez, A., Jr, Zalcberg, L.J., Bartlett, R.J., Ricordi, C., Pietropaolo, M., Eisenbarth, G.S., Bennett, S.T. and Patel, D.D. (1997). The insulin gene is transcribed in the human thymus and transcription levels correlated with allelic variation at the INS VNTR-IDDM2 susceptibility locus for type 1 diabetes. *Nat.Genet.* 15, 293-297.

Puskas, L.G., Zvara, A., Hackler, L., Jr and Van Hummelen, P. (2002). RNA amplification results in reproducible microarray data with slight ratio bias. *BioTechniques* 32, 1330-4, 1336, 1338, 1340. Quackenbush, J. (2002). Microarray data normalization and transformation. *Nat.Genet.* 32 Suppl, 496-501.

R Development Core Team 2008, , R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing [Homepage of R Foundation for Statistical Computing], [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.R-project.org</u>.

Rainen, L., Oelmueller, U., Jurgensen, S., Wyrich, R., Ballas, C., Schram, J., Herdman, C., Bankaitis-Davis, D., Nicholls, N., Trollinger, D. and Tryon, V. (2002). Stabilization of mRNA expression in whole blood samples. *Clin.Chem.* 48, 1883-1890.

Rapaport, F., Zinovyev, A., Dutreix, M., Barillot, E. and Vert, J.P. (2007). Classification of microarray data using gene networks. *BMC Bioinformatics* 8, 35.

Rautio, J.J., Satokari, R., Vehmaan-Kreula, P., Serkkola, E. and Söderlund, H. (2008). TRAC in high-content gene expression analysis: applications in microbial population studies, process biotechnology and biomedical research. *Expert Rev.Mol.Diagn.* 8, 379-385.

Reynier, F., Pachot, A., Paye, M., Xu, Q., Turrel-Davin, F., Petit, F., Hot, A., Auffray, C., Bendelac, N., Nicolino, M., Mougin, B. and Thivolet, C. (2010). Specific gene expression signature associated with development of autoimmune type-I diabetes using whole-blood microarray analysis. *Genes Immun.* 11, 269-278.

Rieck, M., Arechiga, A., Onengut-Gumuscu, S., Greenbaum, C., Concannon, P. and Buckner, J.H. (2007). Genetic variation in PTPN22 corresponds to altered function of T and B lymphocytes. *J.Immunol.* 179, 4704-4710.

Rogge, L., Bianchi, E., Biffi, M., Bono, E., Chang, S.Y., Alexander, H., Santini, C., Ferrari, G., Sinigaglia, L., Seiler, M., Neeb, M., Mous, J., Sinigaglia, F. and Certa, U. (2000). Transcript imaging of the development of human T helper cells using oligonucleotide arrays. *Nat.Genet.* 25, 96-101.

Roivainen, M., Rasilainen, S., Ylipaasto, P., Nissinen, R., Ustinov, J., Bouwens, L., Eizirik, D.L., Hovi, T. and Otonkoski, T. (2000). Mechanisms of coxsackievirusinduced damage to human pancreatic beta-cells. J.Clin.Endocrinol.Metab. 85, 432-440.

Romagnani, S. (1996). Th1 and Th2 in human diseases. Clin.Immunol.Immunopathol. 80, 225-235.

Romagnani, S. (1994). Lymphokine production by human T cells in disease states. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 12, 227-57.

Romualdi, C., Vitulo, N., Del Favero, M. and Lanfranchi, G. (2005). MIDAW: a web tool for statistical analysis of microarray data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, W644-9.

Sakaguchi, S., Sakaguchi, N., Asano, M., Itoh, M. and Toda, M. (1995). Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of selftolerance causes various autoimmune diseases. *J.Immunol.* 155, 1151-1164.

Sakaguchi, S. (2004). Naturally Arising CD4+ Regulatory T Cells for Immunologic Self-Tolerance and Negative Control of Immune Responses. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 22, 531-562.

Saldanha, A.J. (2004). Java Treeview--extensible visualization of microarray data. *Bioinformatics* 20, 3246-3248.

Salminen, K.K., Vuorinen, T., Oikarinen, S., Helminen, M., Simell, S., Knip, M., Ilonen, J., Simell, O. and Hyöty, H. (2004). Isolation of enterovirus strains from children with preclinical Type 1 diabetes. *Diabet.Med.* 21, 156-164.
Salojin, K.V., Zhang, J., Madrenas, J. and Delovitch, T.L. (1998). T-cell anergy and altered T-cell receptor signaling: effects on autoimmune disease. *Immunol.Today* 19, 468-473.

Sanchez-Ramon, S., Navarro, A.J., Aristimuno, C., Rodriguez-Mahou, M., Bellon, J.M., Fernandez-Cruz, E. and de Andres, C. (2005). Pregnancy-induced expansion of regulatory T-lymphocytes may mediate protection to multiple sclerosis activity. *Immunol.Lett.* 96, 195-201.

Scalapino, K.J. and Daikh, D.I. (2008). CTLA-4: a key regulatory point in the control of autoimmune disease. *Immunol.Rev.* 223, 143-155.

Schena, M., Shalon, D., Davis, R.W. and Brown, P.O. (1995). Quantitative monitoring of gene expression patterns with a complementary DNA microarray. *Science* 270, 467-70.

Schneider, A., Rieck, M., Sanda, S., Pihoker, C., Greenbaum, C. and Buckner, J.H. (2008). The effector T cells of diabetic subjects are resistant to regulation via CD4+ FOXP3+ regulatory T cells. *J.Immunol.* 181, 7350-7355.

Schoor, O., Weinschenk, T., Hennenlotter, J., Corvin, S., Stenzl, A., Rammensee, H.G. and Stevanovic, S. (2003). Moderate degradation does not preclude microarray analysis of small amounts of RNA. *BioTechniques* 35, 1192-6, 1198-201.

Seiskari, T., Kondrashova, A., Viskari, H., Kaila, M., Haapala, A.M., Aittoniemi, J., Virta, M., Hurme, M., Uibo, R., Knip, M., Hyöty, H. and EPIVIR study group (2007). Allergic sensitization and microbial load--a comparison between Finland and Russian Karelia. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* 148, 47-52.

Shahinian, A., Pfeffer, K., Lee, K.P., Kundig, T.M., Kishihara, K., Wakeham, A., Kawai, K., Ohashi, P.S., Thompson, C.B. and Mak, T.W. (1993). Differential T cell costimulatory requirements in CD28-deficient mice. *Science* 261, 609–612.

Shannon, P., Markiel, A., Ozier, O., Baliga, N.S., Wang, J.T., Ramage, D., Amin, N., Schwikowski, B. and Ideker, T. (2003). Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Res.* 13, 2498-2504.

Sharpe, A.H. and Freeman, G.J. (2002). The B7-CD28 superfamily. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 2, 116-126.

Sharpe, A.H., Wherry, E.J., Ahmed, R. and Freeman, G.J. (2007). The function of programmed cell death 1 and its ligands in regulating autoimmunity and infection. *Nat.Immunol.* 8, 239-245.

Shearer, B.M., Thorland, E.C., Gonzales, P.R. and Ketterling, R.P. (2007). Evaluation of a commercially available focused aCGH platform for the detection of constitutional chromosome anomalies. *Am.J.Med.Genet.A.* 143A, 2357-2370.

Shevach, E.M. (2006). From vanilla to 28 flavors: multiple varieties of T regulatory cells. *Immunity* 25, 195-201.

Shi, L., Campbell, G., Jones, W.D., Campagne, F., Wen, Z., Walker, S.J., Su, Z., Chu, T.M., Goodsaid, F.M., Pusztai, L., Shaughnessy, J.D.,Jr, Oberthuer, A., Thomas, R.S., Paules, R.S., Fielden, M., Barlogie, B., Chen, W., Du, P., Fischer, M., Furlanello, C., Gallas, B.D., Ge, X., Megherbi, D.B., Symmans, W.F., Wang, M.D., Zhang, J., Bitter, H., Brors, B., Bushel, P.R., Bylesjo, M., Chen, M., Cheng, J., Cheng, J., Chou, J., Davison, T.S., Delorenzi, M., Deng, Y., Devanarayan, V., Dix, D.J., Dopazo, J., Dorff, K.C., Elloumi, F., Fan, J., Fan, S., Fan, X., Fang, H., Gonzaludo, N., Hess, K.R., Hong, H., Huan, J., Irizarry, R.A., Judson, R., Juraeva, D., Lababidi, S., Lambert, C.G., Li, L., Li, Y., Li, Z., Lin, S.M., Liu, G., Lobenhofer, E.K., Luo, J., Luo, W., McCall, M.N., Nikolsky, Y., Pennello, G.A., Perkins, R.G., Philip, R., Popovici, V., Price, N.D., Qian, F., Scherer, A., Shi, T., Shi, W., Sung, J., Thierry-Mieg, D., Thierry-Mieg, J., Thodima, V., Trygg, J., Vishnuvajjala, L., Wang, S.J., Wu, J., Wu, Y., Xie, Q., Yousef, W.A., Zhang, L., Zhang, X., Zhong, S., Zhou, Y., Zhu, S., Arasappan, D., Bao, W., Lucas, A.B., Berthold, F., Brennan, R.J., Buness, A., Catalano, J.G., Chang, C., Chen, R., Cheng, Y., Cui, J., Czika, W., Demichelis, F., Deng, X., Dosymbekov, D., Eils, R., Feng, Y., Fostel, J., Fulmer-Smentek, S., Fuscoe, J.C., Gatto, L., Ge, W., Goldstein, D.R., Guo, L., Halbert, D.N., Han, J., Harris, S.C., Hatzis, C., Herman, D., Huang, J., Jensen, R.V., Jiang, R., Johnson, C.D., Jurman, G., Kahlert, Y., Khuder, S.A., Kohl, M., Li, J., Li, L., Li, M., Li, Q.Z., Li, S., Li, Z., Liu, J., Liu, Y., Liu, Z., Meng, L., Madera, M., Martinez-Murillo, F., Medina, I., Meehan, J., Miclaus, K., Moffitt, R.A., Montaner, D., Mukherjee, P., Mulligan, G.J., Neville, P., Nikolskaya, T., Ning, B., Page, G.P., Parker, J., Parry, R.M., Peng, X., Peterson, R.L., Phan, J.H., Quanz, B., Ren, Y., Riccadonna, S., Roter, A.H., Samuelson, F.W., Schumacher, M.M., Shambaugh, J.D., Shi, Q., Shippy, R., Si, S., Smalter, A., Sotiriou, C., Soukup, M., Staedtler, F., Steiner, G., Stokes, T.H., Sun, Q., Tan, P.Y., Tang, R., Tezak, Z., Thorn, B., Tsyganova, M., Turpaz, Y., Vega, S.C., Visintainer, R., von Frese, J., Wang, C., Wang, E., Wang, J., Wang, W., Westermann, F., Willey, J.C., Woods, M., Wu, S., Xiao, N., Xu, J., Xu, L., Yang, L., Zeng, X., Zhang, J., Zhang, L., Zhang, M., Zhao, C., Puri, R.K., Scherf, U., Tong, W., Wolfinger, R.D. and MAQC Consortium (2010a). The MicroArray Quality Control (MAQC)-II study of common practices for the development and validation of microarray-based predictive models. Nat. Biotechnol. 28, 827-838.

Shi, W., Bessarabova, M., Dosymbekov, D., Dezso, Z., Nikolskaya, T., Dudoladova, M., Serebryiskaya, T., Bugrim, A., Guryanov, A., Brennan, R.J., Shah, R., Dopazo, J., Chen, M., Deng, Y., Shi, T., Jurman, G., Furlanello, C., Thomas, R.S., Corton, J.C., Tong, W., Shi, L. and Nikolsky, Y. (2010b). Functional analysis of multiple genomic signatures demonstrates that classification algorithms choose phenotype-related genes. *Pharmacogenomics J*. 10, 310-323.

Shippy, R., Fulmer-Smentek, S., Jensen, R.V., Jones, W.D., Wolber, P.K., Johnson, C.D., Pine, P.S., Boysen, C., Guo, X., Chudin, E., Sun, Y.A., Willey, J.C., Thierry-Mieg, J., Thierry-Mieg, D., Setterquist, R.A., Wilson, M., Lucas, A.B., Novoradovskaya, N., Papallo, A., Turpaz, Y., Baker, S.C., Warrington, J.A., Shi, L. and Herman, D. (2006). Using RNA sample titrations to assess microarray platform performance and normalization techniques. Nat.Biotechnol. 24, 1123-1131.

Shiraki, T., Kondo, S., Katayama, S., Waki, K., Kasukawa, T., Kawaji, H., Kodzius, R., Watahiki, A., Nakamura, M., Arakawa, T., Fukuda, S., Sasaki, D., Podhajska, A., Harbers, M., Kawai, J., Carninci, P. and Hayashizaki, Y. (2003). Cap analysis gene expression for highthroughput analysis of transcriptional starting point and identification of promoter usage. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 100, 15776-15781.

Shou, J., Dotson, C., Qian, H.R., Tao, W., Lin, C., Lawrence, F., N'Cho, M., Kulkarni, N.H., Bull, C.M., Gelbert, L.M. and Onyia, J.E. (2005). Optimized blood cell profiling method for genomic biomarker discovery using highdensity microarray. *Biomarkers* 10, 310-320.

Sicotte, N.L., Liva, S.M., Klutch, R., Pfeiffer, P., Bouvier, S., Odesa, S., Wu, T.C. and Voskuhl, R.R. (2002). Treatment of multiple sclerosis with the pregnancy hormone estriol. *Ann.Neurol.* 52, 421-428.

Siewert, C., Menning, A., Dudda, J., Siegmund, K., Lauer, U., Floess, S., Campbell, D.J., Hamann, A. and Huehn, J. (2007). Induction of organ-selective CD4+ regulatory T cell homing. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 37, 978-989.

- Siljander, H.T., Simell, S., Hekkala, A., Lähde, J., Simell, T., Vähäsalo, P., Veijola, R., Ilonen, J., Simell, O. and Knip, M. (2009). Predictive characteristics of diabetesassociated autoantibodies among children with HLAconferred disease susceptibility in the general population. *Diabetes* 58, 2835-2842.
- Simon, R., Radmacher, M.D. and Dobbin, K. (2002). Design of studies using DNA microarrays. *Genet.Epidemiol.* 23, 21-36.
- Simon, R.M. and Dobbin, K. (2003). Experimental design of DNA microarray experiments. *BioTechniques* Suppl, 16-21.
- Singh, M.K., Scott, T.F., LaFramboise, W.A., Hu, F.Z., Post, J.C. and Ehrlich, G.D. (2007). Gene expression changes in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from multiple sclerosis patients undergoing beta-interferon therapy. *J.Neurol.Sci.* 258, 52-59.
- Singh-Gasson, S., Green, R.D., Yue, Y., Nelson, C., Blattner, F., Sussman, M.R. and Cerrina, F. (1999). Maskless fabrication of light-directed oligonucleotide microarrays using a digital micromirror array. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 17, 974-978.
- Sloka, S. (2002). Observations on recent studies showing increased co-occurrence of autoimmune diseases. J.Autoimmun. 18, 251-257.
- Smink, L.J., Helton, E.M., Healy, B.C., Cavnor, C.C., Lam, A.C., Flamez, D., Burren, O.S., Wang, Y., Dolman, G.E., Burdick, D.B., Everett, V.H., Glusman, G., Laneri, D., Rowen, L., Schuilenburg, H., Walker, N.M., Mychaleckyj, J., Wicker, L.S., Eizirik, D.L., Todd, J.A. and Goodman, N. (2005). T1DBase, a community web-based resource for type 1 diabetes research. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 33, D544-9.
- Smyth, D.J., Cooper, J.D., Bailey, R., Field, S., Burren, O., Smink, L.J., Guja, C., Ionescu-Tirgoviste, C., Widmer, B., Dunger, D.B., Savage, D.A., Walker, N.M., Clayton, D.G. and Todd, J.A. (2006). A genome-wide association study of nonsynonymous SNPs identifies a type 1 diabetes locus in the interferon-induced helicase (IFIH1) region. *Nat.Genet.* 38, 617-619.
- Soroosh, P. and Doherty, T.A. (2009). Th9 and allergic disease. *Immunology* 127, 450-458.
- Sospedra, M. and Martin, R. (2005). Immunology of multiple sclerosis. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 23, 683-747.
- Southern, E.M., Maskos, U. and Elder, J.K. (1992). Analyzing and comparing nucleic acid sequences by hybridization to arrays of oligonucleotides: evaluation using experimental models. *Genomics* 13, 1008-1017.
- Stears, R.L., Getts, R.C. and Gullans, S.R. (2000). A novel, sensitive detection system for high-density microarrays using dendrimer technology. *Physiol. Genomics* 3, 93-99.
- Steemers, F.J., Ferguson, J.A. and Walt, D.R. (2000). Screening unlabeled DNA targets with randomly ordered fiber-optic gene arrays. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 18, 91-94.
- Steinberg, G., Stromsborg, K., Thomas, L., Barker, D. and Zhao, C. (2004). Strategies for covalent attachment of DNA to beads. *Biopolymers* 73, 597-605.
- Sterrenburg, E., Turk, R., Boer, J.M., van Ommen, G.B. and den Dunnen, J.T. (2002). A common reference for cDNA microarray hybridizations. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, e116.
- Stimpson, D.I., Cooley, P.W., Knepper, S.M. and Wallace, D.B. (1998). Parallel production of oligonucleotide arrays using membranes and reagent jet printing. *BioTechniques* 25, 886-890.

- Stockinger, B. and Veldhoen, M. (2007). Differentiation and function of Th17 T cells. *Curr.Opin.Immunol.* 19, 281-286.
- Stockinger, B., Veldhoen, M. and Martin, B. (2007). Th17 T cells: linking innate and adaptive immunity. Semin.Immunol. 19, 353-361.
- Storey, J.D. (2003). The Positive False Discovery Rate: A Bayesian Interpretation and the q-Value. *The Annals of Statistics* 31, 2013-2035.
- Stranges, P.B., Watson, J., Cooper, C.J., Choisy-Rossi, C.M., Stonebraker, A.C., Beighton, R.A., Hartig, H., Sundberg, J.P., Servick, S., Kaufmann, G., Fink, P.J. and Chervonsky, A.V. (2007). Elimination of antigen-presenting cells and autoreactive T cells by Fas contributes to prevention of autoimmunity. *Immunity* 26, 629-641.
- Strauss, E. (2006). Arrays of hope. Cell 127, 657-659.
- Subramanian, A., Tamayo, P., Mootha, V.K., Mukherjee, S., Ebert, B.L., Gillette, M.A., Paulovich, A., Pomeroy, S.L., Golub, T.R., Lander, E.S. and Mesirov, J.P. (2005). Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 102, 15545-15550.
- Suzuki, M., Konya, C., Goronzy, J.J. and Weyand, C.M. (2008). Inhibitory CD8+ T cells in autoimmune disease. *Hum.Immunol.* 69, 781-789.
- Szaniszlo, P., Wang, N., Sinha, M., Reece, L.M., Van Hook, J.W., Luxon, B.A. and Leary, J.F. (2004). Getting the right cells to the array: Gene expression microarray analysis of cell mixtures and sorted cells. *Cytometry A*. 59, 191-202.
- Taylor, E., Cogdell, D., Coombes, K., Hu, L., Ramdas, L., Tabor, A., Hamilton, S. and Zhang, W. (2001). Sequence verification as quality-control step for production of cDNA microarrays. *BioTechniques* 31, 62-65.
- TEDDY Study Group (2008). The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) Study. Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci. 1150, 1-13.
- Thach, D.C., Lin, B., Walter, E., Kruzelock, R., Rowley, R.K., Tibbetts, C. and Stenger, D.A. (2003). Assessment of two methods for handling blood in collection tubes with RNA stabilizing agent for surveillance of gene expression profiles with high density microarrays. *J.Immunol.Methods* 283, 269-279.
- Thompson, J.F. and Milos, P.M. (2011). The properties and applications of single-molecule DNA sequencing. *Genome Biol.* 12, 217.
- Thorland, E.C., Gonzales, P.R., Gliem, T.J., Wiktor, A.E. and Ketterling, R.P. (2007). Comprehensive validation of array comparative genomic hybridization platforms: how much is enough? *Genet.Med.* 9, 632-641.
- Thornton, A.M. and Shevach, E.M. (2000). Suppressor Effector Function of CD4+CD25+ Immunoregulatory T Cells Is Antigen Nonspecific. *J.Immunol.* 164, 183-190.
- Tibshirani, R., Hastie, T., Narasimhan, B. and Chu, G. (2002). Diagnosis of multiple cancer types by shrunken centroids of gene expression. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 99, 6567-6572.
- Tillinghast, G.W. (2010). Microarrays in the clinic. Nat.Biotechnol. 28, 810-812.
- Todd, J.A. (2010). Etiology of type 1 diabetes. *Immunity* 32, 457-467.
- Tomfohr, J., Lu, J. and Kepler, T.B. (2005). Pathway level analysis of gene expression using singular value decomposition. *BMC Bioinformatics* 6, 225.
- Tong, W., Lucas, A.B., Shippy, R., Fan, X., Fang, H., Hong, H., Orr, M.S., Chu, T.M., Guo, X., Collins, P.J., Sun, Y.A., Wang, S.J., Bao, W., Wolfinger, R.D., Shchegrova, S.,

Guo, L., Warrington, J.A. and Shi, L. (2006). Evaluation of external RNA controls for the assessment of microarray performance. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 24, 1132-1139.

Torgerson, T.R. (2006). Regulatory T cells in human autoimmune diseases. Springer Semin. Immunopathol. 28, 63-76.

Torkamani, A., Topol, E.J. and Schork, N.J. (2008). Pathway analysis of seven common diseases assessed by genome-wide association. *Genomics* 92, 265-272.

Traugott, U., Reinherz, E.L. and Raine, C.S. (1983). Multiple sclerosis: distribution of T cell subsets within active chronic lesions. *Science* 219, 308-310.

Tusher, V.G., Tibshirani, R. and Chu, G. (2001). Significance analysis of microarrays applied to the ionizing radiation response. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 98, 5116-5121.

Ueda, H., Howson, J.M., Esposito, L., Heward, J., Snook, H., Chamberlain, G., Rainbow, D.B., Hunter, K.M., Smith, A.N., Di Genova, G., Herr, M.H., Dahlman, I., Payne, F., Smyth, D., Lowe, C., Twells, R.C., Howlett, S., Healy, B., Nutland, S., Rance, H.E., Everett, V., Smink, L.J., Lam, A.C., Cordell, H.J., Walker, N.M., Bordin, C., Hulme, J., Motzo, C., Cucca, F., Hess, J.F., Metzker, M.L., Rogers, J., Gregory, S., Allahabadia, A., Nithiyananthan, R., Tuomilehto-Wolf, E., Tuomilehto, J., Bingley, P., Gillespie, K.M., Undlien, D.E., Ronningen, K.S., Guja, C., Ionescu-Tirgoviste, C., Savage, D.A., Maxwell, A.P., Carson, D.J., Patterson, C.C., Franklyn, J.A., Clayton, D.G., Peterson, L.B., Wicker, L.S., Todd, J.A. and Gough, S.C. (2003). Association of the T-cell regulatory gene CTLA4 with susceptibility to autoimmune disease. Nature 423, 506-511.

Vafiadis, P., Bennett, S.T., Todd, J.A., Nadeau, J., Grabs, R., Goodyer, C.G., Wickramasinghe, S., Colle, E. and Polychronakos, C. (1997). Insulin expression in human thymus is modulated by INS VNTR alleles at the IDDM2 locus. Nat. Genet. 15, 289-292.

Vaknin-Dembinsky, A., Balashov, K. and Weiner, H.L. (2006). IL-23 is increased in dendritic cells in multiple sclerosis and down-regulation of IL-23 by antisense oligos increases dendritic cell IL-10 production. *J.Immunol.* 176, 7768-7774.

van den Biggelaar, A. ., Rodrigues, L., van Ree, R., van der Zee, J., Hoeksma-Kruize, Y. ., Souverijn, J. ., Missinou, M., Borrmann, S., Kremsner, P. and Yazdanbakhsh, M. (2004). Long-Term Treatment of Intestinal Helminths Increases Mite Skin-Test Reactivity in Gabonese Schoolchildren. *J.Infect.Dis.* 189, 892-900.

Vanderlugt, C.L. and Miller, S.D. (2002). Epitope spreading in immune-mediated diseases: implications for immunotherapy. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 2, 85-95.

Vang, T., Congia, M., Macis, M.D., Musumeci, L., Orru, V., Zavattari, P., Nika, K., Tautz, L., Tasken, K., Cucca, F., Mustelin, T. and Bottini, N. (2005). Autoimmuneassociated lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase is a gain-offunction variant. *Nat.Genet.* 37, 1317-1319.

Vang, T., Miletic, A.V., Arimura, Y., Tautz, L., Rickert, R.C. and Mustelin, T. (2008). Protein tyrosine phosphatases in autoimmunity. *Annu.Rev.Immunol.* 26, 29-55.

Vartanian, K., Slottke, R., Johnstone, T., Casale, A., Planck, S.R., Choi, D., Smith, J.R., Rosenbaum, J.T. and Harrington, C.A. (2009). Gene expression profiling of whole blood: comparison of target preparation methods for accurate and reproducible microarray analysis. *BMC Genomics* 10, 2. Velculescu, V.E., Zhang, L., Vogelstein, B. and Kinzler, K.W. (1995). Serial analysis of gene expression. *Science* 270, 484-487.

Veldhoen, M., Uyttenhove, C., van Snick, J., Helmby, H., Westendorf, A., Buer, J., Martin, B., Wilhelm, C. and Stockinger, B. (2008). Transforming growth factor-beta 'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. *Nat.Immunol.* 9, 1341-1346.

Viorritto, I.C., Nikolov, N.P. and Siegel, R.M. (2007). Autoimmunity versus tolerance: can dying cells tip the balance? *Clin.Immunol.* 122, 125-134.

Virtanen, S.M. and Knip, M. (2003). Nutritional risk predictors of beta cell autoimmunity and type 1 diabetes at a young age. *Am.J.Clin.Nutr.* 78, 1053-1067.

Viskari, H., Ludvigsson, J., Uibo, R., Salur, L., Marciulionyte, D., Hermann, R., Soltesz, G., Fuchtenbusch, M., Ziegler, A.G., Kondrashova, A., Romanov, A., Knip, M. and Hyöty, H. (2004). Relationship between the incidence of type 1 diabetes and enterovirus infections in different European populations: results from the EPIVIR project. J.Med.Virol. 72, 610-617.

von Herrath, M.G. (ed) 2001, *Molecular Pathology of Type* 1 *Diabetes mellitus*, 4th edn, Karger AG, Basel.

Vora, G.J., Meador, C.E., Anderson, G.P. and Taitt, C.R. (2008). Comparison of detection and signal amplification methods for DNA microarrays. *Mol.Cell.Probes* 22, 294-300.

Waldmann, H., Adams, E., Fairchild, P. and Cobbold, S. (2006). Infectious tolerance and the long-term acceptance of transplanted tissue. *Immunol.Rev.* 212, 301-313.

Waldner, H. (2009). The role of innate immune responses in autoimmune disease development. *Autoimmun.Rev.* 8, 400-404.

Walker, L.S. and Abbas, A.K. (2002). The enemy within: keeping self-reactive T cells at bay in the periphery. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 2, 11-19.

Walt, D.R. (2000). Techview: molecular biology. Beadbased fiber-optic arrays. *Science* 287, 451-452.

Walter, U. and Santamaria, P. (2005). CD8+ T cells in autoimmunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 17, 624-631.

Wang, E., Miller, L.D., Ohnmacht, G.A., Liu, E.T. and Marincola, F.M. (2000). High-fidelity mRNA amplification for gene profiling. *Nat.Biotechnol.* 18, 457-459.

Wang, J., Robinson, J.F., Khan, H.M., Carter, D.E., McKinney, J., Miskie, B.A. and Hegele, R.A. (2004). Optimizing RNA extraction yield from whole blood for microarray gene expression analysis. *Clin.Biochem.* 37, 741-744.

Wang, Z., Gerstein, M. and Snyder, M. (2009). RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. *Nat.Rev.Genet*. 10, 57-63.

Watanabe-Fukunaga, R., Brannan, C.I., Copeland, N.G., Jenkins, N.A. and Nagata, S. (1992). Lymphoproliferation disorder in mice explained by defects in Fas antigen that mediates apoptosis. *Nature* 356, 314-317.

Wegmann, T.G., Lin, H., Guilbert, L. and Mosmann, T.R. (1993). Bidirectional cytokine interactions in the maternal-fetal relationship: is successful pregnancy a TH2 phenomenon? *Immunol.Today* 14, 353-356. Wekerle, H. (2008). Lessons from multiple sclerosis: models, concepts, observations. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 67 Suppl 3, iii56-60.

Wellcome Trust Case Control Consortium, Craddock, N., Hurles, M.E., Cardin, N., Pearson, R.D., Plagnol, V., Robson, S., Vukcevic, D., Barnes, C., Conrad, D.F., Giannoulatou, E., Holmes, C., Marchini, J.L., Stirrups, K., Tobin, M.D., Wain, L.V., Yau, C., Aerts, J., Ahmad, T., Andrews, T.D., Arbury, H., Attwood, A., Auton, A., Ball, S.G., Balmforth, A.J., Barrett, J.C., Barroso, I., Barton, A., Bennett, A.J., Bhaskar, S., Blaszczyk, K., Bowes, J., Brand, O.J., Braund, P.S., Bredin, F., Breen, G., Brown, M.J., Bruce, I.N., Bull, J., Burren, O.S., Burton, J., Byrnes, J., Caesar, S., Clee, C.M., Coffey, A.J., Connell, J.M., Cooper, J.D., Dominiczak, A.F., Downes, K., Drummond, H.E., Dudakia, D., Dunham, A., Ebbs, B., Eccles, D., Edkins, S., Edwards, C., Elliot, A., Emery, P., Evans, D.M., Evans, G., Evre, S., Farmer, A., Ferrier, I.N., Feuk, L., Fitzgerald, T., Flynn, E., Forbes, A., Forty, L., Franklyn, J.A., Freathy, R.M., Gibbs, P., Gilbert, P., Gokumen, O., Gordon-Smith, K., Gray, E., Green, E., Groves, C.J., Grozeva, D., Gwilliam, R., Hall, A., Hammond, N., Hardy, M., Harrison, P., Hassanali, N., Hebaishi, H., Hines, S., Hinks, A., Hitman, G.A., Hocking, L., Howard, E., Howard, P., Howson, J.M., Hughes, D., Hunt, S., Isaacs, J.D., Jain, M., Jewell, D.P., Johnson, T., Jolley, J.D., Jones, I.R., Jones, L.A., Kirov, G., Langford, C.F., Lango-Allen, H., Lathrop, G.M., Lee, J., Lee, K.L., Lees, C., Lewis, K., Lindgren, C.M., Maisuria-Armer, M., Maller, J., Mansfield, J., Martin, P., Massey, D.C., McArdle, W.L., McGuffin, P., McLay, K.E., Mentzer, A., Mimmack, M.L., Morgan, A.E., Morris, A.P., Mowat, C., Myers, S., Newman, W., Nimmo, E.R., O'Donovan, M.C., Onipinla, A., Onyiah, I., Ovington, N.R., Owen, M.J., Palin, K., Parnell, K., Pernet, D., Perry, J.R., Phillips, A., Pinto, D., Prescott, N.J., Prokopenko, I., Quail, M.A., Rafelt, S., Rayner, N.W., Redon, R., Reid, D.M., Renwick, Ring, S.M., Robertson, N., Russell, E., St Clair, D., Sambrook, J.G., Sanderson, J.D., Schuilenburg, H., Scott, C.E., Scott, R., Seal, S., Shaw-Hawkins, S., Shields, B.M., Simmonds, M.J., Smyth, D.J., Somaskantharajah, E., Spanova, K., Steer, S., Stephens, J., Stevens, H.E., Stone, M.A., Su, Z., Symmons, D.P., Thompson, J.R., Thomson, W., Travers, M.E., Turnbull, C., Valsesia, A., Walker, M., Walker, N.M., Wallace, C., Warren-Perry, M., Watkins, N.A., Webster, J., Weedon, M.N., Wilson, A.G., Woodburn, M., Wordsworth, B.P., Young, A.H., Zeggini, E., Carter, N.P., Frayling, T.M., Lee, C., McVean, G., Munroe, P.B., Palotie, A., Sawcer, S.J., Scherer, S.W., Strachan, D.P., Tyler-Smith, C., Brown, M.A., Burton, P.R., Caulfield, M.J., Compston, A., Farrall, M., Gough, S.C., Hall, A.S. Hattersley, A.T., Hill, A.V., Mathew, C.G., Pembrey, M., Satsangi, J., Stratton, M.R., Worthington, J., Deloukas, P., Duncanson, A., Kwiatkowski, D.P., McCarthy, M.I., Ouwehand, W., Parkes, M., Rahman, N., Todd, J.A. Samani, N.J. and Donnelly, P. (2010). Genome-wide association study of CNVs in 16,000 cases of eight common diseases and 3,000 shared controls. Nature 464.713-720.

Wenzlau, J.M., Juhl, K., Yu, L., Moua, O., Sarkar, S.A., Gottlieb, P., Rewers, M., Eisenbarth, G.S., Jensen, J., Davidson, H.W. and Hutton, J.C. (2007). The cation efflux transporter ZnT8 (SIc30A8) is a major autoantigen in human type 1 diabetes. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 104, 17040-17045.

Whitney, A.R., Diehn, M., Popper, S.J., Alizadeh, A.A., Boldrick, J.C., Relman, D.A. and Brown, P.O. (2003). Individuality and variation in gene expression patterns in human blood. *Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A.* 100, 1896-1901.

- Wiendl, H., Feger, U., Mittelbronn, M., Jack, C., Schreiner, B., Stadelmann, C., Antel, J., Brueck, W., Meyermann, R., Bar-Or, A., Kieseier, B.C. and Weller, M. (2005).
 Expression of the immune-tolerogenic major histocompatibility molecule HLA-G in multiple sclerosis: implications for CNS immunity. *Brain* 128, 2689-2704.
- Willcox, A., Richardson, S.J., Bone, A.J., Foulis, A.K. and Morgan, N.G. (2009). Analysis of islet inflammation in human type 1 diabetes. *Clin.Exp.Immunol.* 155, 173-181.
- Wilson, C.L., Pepper, S.D., Hey, Y. and Miller, C.J. (2004). Amplification protocols introduce systematic but reproducible errors into gene expression studies. *BioTechniques* 36, 498-506.
- Wing, K. and Sakaguchi, S. (2010). Regulatory T cells exert checks and balances on self tolerance and autoimmunity. *Nat.Immunol.* 11, 7-13.
- Workman, C., Jensen, L.J., Jarmer, H., Berka, R., Gautier, L., Nielser, H.B., Saxild, H.H., Nielsen, C., Brunak, S. and Knudsen, S. (2002). A new non-linear normalization method for reducing variability in DNA microarray experiments. *Genome Biol.* 3, research0048.
- Wright, C., Bergstrom, D., Dai, H., Marton, M., Morris, M., Tokiwa, G., Wang, Y. and Fare, T. (2008). Characterization of globin RNA interference in gene expression profiling of whole-blood samples. *Clin.Chem.* 54, 396-405.
- Xavier, R.J. and Rioux, J.D. (2008). Genome-wide association studies: a new window into immunemediated diseases. *Nat.Rev.Immunol.* 8, 631-643.
- Yamanouchi, J., Rainbow, D., Serra, P., Howlett, S., Hunter, K., Garner, V.E., Gonzalez-Munoz, A., Clark, J., Veijola, R., Cubbon, R., Chen, S.L., Rosa, R., Cumiskey, A.M., Serreze, D.V., Gregory, S., Rogers, J., Lyons, P.A., Healy, B., Smink, L.J., Todd, J.A., Peterson, L.B., Wicker, L.S. and Santamaria, P. (2007). Interleukin-2 gene variation impairs regulatory T cell function and causes autoimmunity. *Nat.Genet.* 39, 329-337.
- Yang, M.C., Yang, J.J., McIndoe, R.A. and She, J.X. (2003). Microarray experimental design: power and sample size considerations. *Physiol.Genomics* 16, 24-28.
- Yang, Y.H., Dudoit, S., Luu, P., Lin, D.M., Peng, V., Ngai, J. and Speed, T.P. (2002). Normalization for cDNA microarray data: a robust composite method addressing single and multiple slide systematic variation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, e15.
- Yeung, K.Y., Haynor, D.R. and Ruzzo, W.L. (2001). Validating clustering for gene expression data. *Bioinformatics* 17, 309-318.
- Ylipaasto, P., Klingel, K., Lindberg, A.M., Otonkoski, T., Kandolf, R., Hovi, T. and Roivainen, M. (2004). Enterovirus infection in human pancreatic islet cells, islet tropism in vivo and receptor involvement in cultured islet beta cells. *Diabetologia* 47, 225-239.
- Young, D.A., Lowe, L.D., Booth, S.S., Whitters, M.J., Nicholson, L., Kuchroo, V.K. and Collins, M. (2000). IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, and TGF-{beta} from an Altered Peptide Ligand-Specific Th2 Cell Clone Down-Regulate Adoptive Transfer of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. J.Immunol. 164, 3563-3572.
- Yu, D., Rao, S., Tsai, L.M., Lee, S.K., He, Y., Sutcliffe, E.L., Srivastava, M., Linterman, M., Zheng, L., Simpson, N., Ellyard, J.I., Parish, I.A., Ma, C.S., Li, Q.J., Parish, C.R., Mackay, C.R. and Vinuesa, C.G. (2009). The transcriptional repressor BcI-6 directs T follicular helper cell lineage commitment. *Immunity* 31, 457-468.
- Yuen, T., Wurmbach, E., Pfeffer, R.L., Ebersole, B.J. and Sealfon, S.C. (2002). Accuracy and calibration of

commercial oligonucleotide and custom cDNA microarrays. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 30, e48.

Zandman-Goddard, G., Peeva, E. and Shoenfeld, Y. (2007). Gender and autoimmunity. *Autoimmun.Rev.* 6, 366-372.

- Zhang, X., Tang, Y., Sujkowska, D., Wang, J., Ramgolam, V., Sospedra, M., Adams, J., Martin, R., Pinilla, C. and Markovic-Plese, S. (2008). Degenerate TCR recognition and dual DR2 restriction of autoreactive T cells: implications for the initiation of the autoimmune response in multiple sclerosis. *Eur.J.Immunol.* 38, 1297-1309.
- Zhernakova, A., van Diemen, C.C. and Wijmenga, C. (2009). Detecting shared pathogenesis from the shared genetics of immune-related diseases. *Nat.Rev.Genet*. 10, 43-55.
- Zhou, L., Chong, M.M. and Littman, D.R. (2009). Plasticity of CD4+ T cell lineage differentiation. *Immunity* 30, 646-655.
- Zhou, L., Ivanov, I.I., Spolski, R., Min, R., Shenderov, K., Egawa, T., Levy, D.E., Leonard, W.J. and Littman, D.R. (2007). IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat.Immunol.* 8, 967-974.
- Zhu, J. and Paul, W.E. (2008). CD4 T cells: fates, functions, and faults. *Blood* 112, 1557-1569.
- Ziegler, A.G. and Nepom, G.T. (2010). Prediction and pathogenesis in type 1 diabetes. *Immunity* 32, 468-478.
- Zoledziewska, M., Perra, C., Orru, V., Moi, L., Frongia, P., Congia, M., Bottini, N. and Cucca, F. (2008). Further evidence of a primary, causal association of the PTPN22 620W variant with type 1 diabetes. *Diabetes* 57, 229-234.
- Zozulya, A.L. and Wiendl, H. (2008). The role of CD8 suppressors versus destructors in autoimmune central nervous system inflammation. *Human Immunology* 69, 797-804.